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Establishment 

1. The Charities Commission (Komihana Kaupapa Atawhai) was established as an 
autonomous Crown entity on 1 July 2005 following the enactment of the Charities 
Act on 13 April 2005. 

 
Members 

2. The Commission is governed by a Board consisting of: Sid Ashton (Chair), Judith 
Timpany (Deputy Chair), Kerry Ayers, Ian Calder, Frank Claridge, Amohaere 
Houkamau and Trish McKelvey. The Chief Executive of the Commission is Trevor 
Garrett.  Biographies of members are included in Appendix 2. 

 
Functions 

3. The functions of the Charities Commission, as set out in section 10 of the 
Charities Act, are to:  
• promote public trust and confidence in the charitable sector 
• encourage and promote the effective use of charitable resources 
• educate and assist charities in relation to matters of good governance and 

management 
• make appropriate information available to assist persons to make registration 

applications under this Act 
• receive, consider and process applications for registration as charitable 

entities 
• ensure that the register of charitable entities is compiled and maintained 
• receive, consider, and process annual returns submitted by charitable entities 
• supply information and documents in appropriate circumstances for the 

purposes of the Inland Revenue Acts 
• monitor charitable entities and their activities to ensure that entities that are 

registered as charitable entities continue to be qualified for registration as 
charitable entities 

• inquire into charitable entities and into persons who have engaged in, or are 
engaging in, conduct that constitutes, or may constitute, a breach of this Act or 
serious wrongdoing in connection with a charitable entity 

• monitor and promote compliance with this Act, including by taking 
prosecutions for offences against this Act in appropriate circumstances 

• consider, and to report and make recommendations on, any matter relating to 
charities 

• stimulate and promote research into any matter relating to charities. 
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Autonomous Crown Entity 

4. The Charities Commission is an Autonomous Crown Entity under the provisions 
of the Crown Entities Act.  The Act specifies the relationship between the entity 
and its responsible Minister. 

5. The Commission has a number of statutorily independent functions, including 
decisions on whether or not to register a charitable entity.  During the course of 
the consideration of an application there will be discussions and correspondence 
between the applicant and the Commission which might include the applicant 
receiving a ‘notice that may lead to a decline’.  Sometimes an applicant will, at this 
stage approach either the media, an MP, or a Minister to seek an intervention in 
the process.  Because of the quasi-judicial nature of the process the Commission 
will not discuss an application with other than the applicant before a final decision 
on the application is made. 

 
Background 

6. The Charities Bill was introduced by the Minister of Commerce, the Hon Margaret 
Wilson.  The original intent of the Bill was to set up a Charities Commission 
whose primary function was to administer a registration and monitoring system for 
charitable organisations and approved donees.  The Bill was also the first step 
towards instigating measures to satisfy New Zealand’s international obligations 
under the Financial Action Task Force’s Special Recommendation VIII relating to 
the financing of terrorist organisations through not-for-profit entities.  It was also 
intended to ensure that the sector became more accountable and transparent to 
the donating public, funders, regulators, and the government. 

 
7. Following the Report of the Social Services Committee, a number of fundamental 

amendments to the Bill were made.  The Committee was of the view that the 
Commission should have an important role in informing, educating and supporting 
charitable organisations and should help charities to build their capacity and 
develop capabilities.  Its recommendations were incorporated in to the Charities 
Act. 

 
8. The Commission was set up to be independent of Government to ensure that 

decisions on the tax status of a charity could be seen to be free of political 
influence. 

 
9. The initial work of the Commission involved establishing its administrative 

capability.  A Chief Executive was appointed in September 2005 and the 
recruitment of senior managers was started.  Work also started on the 
development of the registration system.  The Ministry of Economic Development 
had entered into a contract for the development of the IT system that would 
support registration before the Commission was established, and the Commission 
took over the project.  This is discussed in more detail later.  The Commission, in 
conjunction with the Department of Internal Affairs, commenced the development 
of the forms that would be used for registration.  This work involved a good deal 
of consultation with the sector in a number of centres throughout New Zealand. 

 
10 Registration of charities commenced on 1 February 2007.  The Commission has 

registered 16,528 charities as at 24 November 2008. 
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Registration 

11. The Commission’s main function since its establishment has centred on its role 
with registration.   

Definition of Charity 
 
12. Charity law is complex.  The Charities Act 2005 provides some general guidance 

as to the parameters within which “charitable purposes” might be defined but the 
Commission must rely to a large extent on case law from court decisions made 
since the first charities law was passed more than 400 years ago.  The 
Commission has had to put a significant amount of work into developing guidance 
both for applicants and for its own registration analysts to assist with the decision-
making process.  Another complicating matter has been the fact that charities 
come in different organisational forms, including trusts, charitable trusts, 
incorporated societies, unincorporated societies, and companies.  Each has its 
own legal requirements and these also need to be considered when registration 
decisions are made. 

 
13. In the case of a society or an institution the Charities Act 2005 requires that it is 

established and maintained exclusively for charitable purposes; and is not carried 
out for the private pecuniary profit of any individual. 

 
14. The Act states that a charitable purpose includes every charitable purpose, 

whether it relates to the relief of poverty, the advancement of education or 
religion, or any other matter beneficial to the Community.  (These are often 
referred to as the four heads of charity).  In addition to the above their must be a 
public benefit. 

 
15. The Charities Act is in some ways unique in that it allows for a charity to be 

registered notwithstanding that the beneficiaries of a trust are linked by blood.  
This means that a marae, for example, could be (and is) registered as a charity.  
Some activities are not considered by the courts to be charitable. 

 
16. Perhaps the most contentious as far as charities are concerned, is political 

advocacy.  If one of the main purposes of an organisation is political advocacy 
then it is not considered to have “exclusively charitable” purposes and so can not 
be registered. 

 
17. The legislation acknowledges that some charities do have advocacy as part of 

their work, and when the Commission considers this to be ancillary to the main 
charitable purposes then it may be registered. 

 
18. A guidance on charitable purpose is attached to this briefing. 
 
Community Awareness 

19. It was a significant task to both inform charities about the requirements to register 
and educate them about how to register.  The Commission approached this task 
by working through formal and informal networks. 
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20. We used a range of government agencies, such as IRD, Companies Office, Te 
Puni Kokori, Internal Affairs, and Pacific Island Affairs to allow us to use their 
databases and also to have their staff publicise registration through their 
networks.  Board members, the Chief Executive, and other staff met with many 
groups in the charitable sector and we spoke at many meetings where the 
information could be further spread by attendees. 

21. Charities were provided with regular updates via the Commission’s website and a 
monthly newsletter we sent to about 4,000 subscribers, who, we were told, 
forwarded it to their own networks. 

 
22. Guidance and other support material was translated into six languages – Maori, 

Samoan, Tongan, Korean, Arabic and Chinese – and made available to ethnic 
communities.  We also made Language Line available to those who wanted to 
use it through our toll free Helpline. 

 
23. A variety of external channels were engaged to distribute key messages about 

registration.  These included: articles in local government ratepayers newsletters, 
articles in professional magazines, and a direct mail to all charitable trusts and 
incorporated societies registered with the Companies Office. 

 
24. We also conducted over 80 workshops, in conjunction with agencies such as 

community law centres, and district councils of social services. 
 
Registration 
 
25. Effort was also put into developing the electronic systems necessary for the 

making and processing of applications, together with the recruitment and training 
of registration staff. 

 
26. We planned to register 25,000 charities during the initial registration period.  That 

period was from the commencement of registration on 1 February 2007 until 30 
June 2008, at which time tax law changes obliged charities to be registered in 
order to maintain any tax benefits.  

 
27. All of our budgeting had been done using the 25,000 figure but we acknowledge 

that it was, at best, a guess. After registration commenced, Statistics New 
Zealand reported that there were 97,000 non-profit organisations in New Zealand, 
and that figure did not account for the large number of trusts that are in existence. 

 
28. Prior to the commencement of registration, we met with other agencies that were 

involved in registration processes similar to what we thought ours would be.  This 
helped us to better understand the systems that we would need to put in place.  
What we found was that processing an application was more complex, and more 
time consuming, than we first thought.  We often need to go back to applicants 
because they have not provided all of the required information.  We also 
frequently need to ask them to explain what their organisation does, because it is 
not clear from their governing documents.  Analysts then need to read and 
understand sometimes long and complex documents to be satisfied that the 
organisation has fully charitable purposes.  We often find that governing 
documents have not been reviewed for many years and that the organisation’s 
rules bear little or no relation to what they are actually doing now.  We also find 
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that many organisations have a mix of charitable and non-charitable purposes, 
which means that unless they make changes to their constitution, we are unable 
to register them.  

 
29. Feedback received from those who have registered has been generally positive.  

Most have found the process of registering easier than they had anticipated. (We 
learned that one organisation took only 12 minutes to go through the online 
application process).  We have been told that the Commission has been helpful to 
those who have questions to ask about registration.  We have also been told that 
people who have had problems with their submitted applications have been given 
sufficient assistance from our staff for the problems to be addressed.  That is 
positive.  

 
30. The Charities Register opened for registration on 1 February 2007. The first 

charity registered was Te Aute Koiri Foundation Incorporated, on 12 February. 
The initial registration team was small and the inflow of applications well below 
predictions. This enabled the Commission to fully test its processes and 
procedures in a non-pressured environment and for the new staff to build up 
experience. 

 
31. The slow pace of applications continued for much of 2007. As at 31 December 

2007, the Commission had received 6,806 fully completed applications from 
charities – registered 1,805 charities; had 4,688 applications for registration under 
review; were waiting for more information from 306 applicants; had declined 5 
applications; and de-registered 2 charities (at their request).  

 
32. As the projections were that 25,000 charities would apply for registration, there 

was an increased need to encourage charities to register prior to the tax change 
date of 30 June 2008. This included working with both Inland Revenue and the 
Companies Office to emphasise to relevant entities the need to register  

 
33. Work in these early months also highlighted the limitations of the original IT 

Register and the need to upgrade if it was to serve the Commission for all future 
functions. In 2007, a business case was provided for additional capital funding   to 
replace the initial Registry System with a packaged based solution utilising 
Microsoft Dynamics Customer Relationships Management (CRM) and Microsoft 
SharePoint 2007. This project was begun in the second half of 2007 and the New 
System went operational in November 2007. 

 
34. The work of the registration team has undergone several external quality 

assurance processes in the 21 months it has been operational, to ensure the 
most efficient processes and reliable decision-making. These include : 
• an independent efficiency review of the registration business by Gemtech 

Solutions on 29 November 2007; 
• an overview of the end-to-end processes by the Companies Office on 12 

February 2008 and a follow-up report in April 2008; 
• a review of registration decisions and legal opinions by David McLay in 

November 2007. The conclusions of the report presented on 10 December 
2007 were that: 
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• the conclusions reached and decisions made by the Registration Team are 
accurate, fair and reasonable; 

• the processes adopted and applied by the Registration Team are legal, 
rational and reasonable; 

• the legal advice contained in the legal opinions prepared by the Legal 
Team is very good. 

• A similar review of 25 decisions was conducted in November 2008 and 
concluded that  " processes adopted and applied by the Registration Team are 
legal, rational and reasonable" and in all cases reached the correct decision.  

 
35. In addition to the work on registration the Commission also processes Notices of 

Change from registered charities (2,539 received to date). Most changes relate to 
changing officers but where rules are changed it requires a full review of the rules 
and charitable purposes. 

 
36. Since October 2007, annual returns from charities have been added to the mix 

(1,475 received to date). The receipt of Annual Returns means that members of 
the public are now able to see the financial activity of those charities on the public 
website.  

 
37. The pattern of applications received is: 

• approximately 70% of applications are straightforward and can be registered 
by an intermediate registration analyst; 

• a further 10% require additional material to clarify their activities; 
• 16 % have problems relating to a failure to prevent private pecuniary profit or 

to wind up to charitable purposes; and 
• 4% do not appear to be charitable.  

 
38. To date the Commission has completed the initial review of 21,943 applications 

(all those received before the tax cut-off date) and registered 16,000 charities. 
There is a backlog of 3,616 charities requiring consideration by a more 
experienced analyst because the initial review has raised questions that require 
peer review.  

 
39. The Commission has declined 17 applications (Appendix 10) and had 426 

application withdrawn. Only one of the decline decisions has been appealed. As 
the court hearing relating to this application was held in November 2008, the 
outcome is not yet available.  

 
40. In terms of current priorities, the team is focused on clearing the 3,616 

applications received prior to the tax cut off date by 28 Feb 2009. The further 
2,565 applications received after the tax change date will also receive 
consideration across the same time period. Achieving this goal is dependent on 
retaining current registration staff to the end of their fixed terms contracts due to 
end at 28 Feb 2009. While the current Commission restructure will give eighteen 
of them a possibility of a permanent role the other twenty-one will need to move to 
work elsewhere 
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41. The Commission continues to see applications from a mix of charities, including 
incorporated trusts, unincorporated trusts, incorporated societies, unincorporated 
societies and companies. Attached to the report are four appendices detailing the 
nature of the registered charities as at 31 October 2008. 

 
Charities Register 
 
42. Following the registration of a charity all information supplied by the charity is 

displayed on the Charities Register and is available to the general public.  The 
information includes: the name of the charity, its contact address, officers, rules, 
and financial statements (once annual returns have been received). 

 
43. When a charity wants information withheld then the Commission may agree to do 

so.  To date, information has been withheld where there are safety risks, or where 
a philanthropist wishes to retain anonymity.  The Charities Commission has taken 
the view that the purpose of the legislation is to make charities more transparent 
and for this reason it is reluctant to withhold information simply for the 
convenience of the charity. 

 
44. The Charities Act requires that the Register may be searched for a range of 

purposes.  We expect that as the Register becomes more well known that people 
will use it for a range of quite diverse purposes.  These may include a search for 
organisations that provide funding for particular purposes; using it as a defacto 
website for smaller charities; for making information relevant to the charity 
available to both an organisations own members and to the public; funding 
agencies using the Register for governing documents and to verify the legitimacy 
of applicant organisation.  It is also expected that information made available for 
both the application process and the filed annual returns will be used for research 
and policy development purposes. 

 
IT System 

45. Prior to the establishment of the Commission the Ministry of Economic 
Development contracted with Datacom to develop an IT system that would 
support registration.  The contract was for a fixed price system with an agreed 
delivery date.  After the Commission was established and began to understand its 
registration requirements, it became clear that changes needed to be made to the 
system requirements.  This meant that there were cost escalations and time 
delays.  A system was developed to allow for applications to be received and 
processed for the commencement of registration.  However, at that stage the 
system did not meet the statutory requirements that the Commission had, and it 
did not allow for other statutory activities that were to follow the initial registration 
period. 

 
46. During 2006, the Commission became aware that the information technology 

systems initially developed for registration lacked ongoing flexibility and capability. 
 
47. This meant that as the Commission developed its requirements for registration 

and considered its legislative obligations, it became clear that the system that it 
was contracted to neither met the legislative requirements nor gave the 
Commission the opportunity to economically change the way the system worked.  
This last point meant that where it was clear that the registration system needed 
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to change to make it easier for organisations to register, or to make it easier to 
access information from the Register, it was potentially going to be too expensive 
to make the necessary changes.  The Commission, with the support and 
guidance of appropriate agencies, contracted for an independent review of the 
options available to it.  The recommended option was to change from the 
bespoke (purpose built) system that it was using and still developing, to a 
packaged system that could be easily tailored to meet the Commission's ongoing 
requirements.  The Commission agreed with the recommendation and 
commenced work on the new system at the start of 2007.  The new system went 
live on 4 November 2007.  

 
48. The Commission requested further funding for the new system and provided a 

business case that supported additional funding.  This request was declined 
because the Commission had already funded part of the work from its existing 
reserves.  It meant that the Commission has not been able to complete the 
project, part of which includes the transfer of information to Statistics New 
Zealand.  In order to complete the project we will need to seek further funding at a 
later date. 

 
Funding of Commission 

49. The original baseline budget was developed by MED in October 2004 before the 
Commission was established, when business processes had not been designed 
and processing times and full staffing requirements were not known, and was 
therefore based on a number of assumptions which have ultimately proved to be 
incorrect or understated.  As a consequence the original funding has been 
insufficient for the establishment phase or for its ongoing operations and the 
Commission has had to request additional funding on three separate occasions 
since it started.  

 
50. Once the implications of the Act were understood it was necessary to review the 

original budget in 2006.  It became quite clear that the original funds available to 
the Commission were inadequate for it to carry out its statutory activities.  The 
Commission sought further funding in October 2006 for the IT system and for 
registration - some additional funds were provided, though not to the level that the 
Commission felt necessary.  The Commission was also advised at this time that a 
comprehensive baseline review of the Commission’s funding would be completed 
by 31 October 2008 to establish the ongoing level of funding required. 

 
51.  In October 2007, the Minister of Finance and the Minister for the Community and 

Voluntary Sector approved an additional $1m contingency funding (allocated by 
Cabinet as part of the funding package approved in October 2006) to enable the 
Commission to process the majority of the budgeted 25,000 applications for 
registration by the end of December 2008. 

 
52. The Chair and Chief Executive then raised the issue of funding for 2008/09 at 

their meeting with the Minister in January 2008.  The Commission forecast that at 
current levels of expenditure and without additional funding, it would become 
insolvent by February 2009.  In addition, due to applications for registration being 
lodged with the Commission more slowly than had been anticipated and with a 
rush of applications in the months prior to June 2008, the operations had not yet 
settled into a “business-as-usual” state and it was questionable whether a 



 
  11 

baseline review scheduled for October 2008 would be effective at this early stage 
in the Commission’s development.  As a result, the Commission submitted a 
business case in August 2008 to address the immediate funding issues and 
sought to defer the baseline review until October 2010 to determine the ongoing 
funding requirements.  

53. The original funding did not fully allow for the full range of statutory functions of 
the Commission, in particular the monitoring, investigation, education and 
research functions. 

 
54. The Commission received formal advice of approval of the additional funding on 

24 September 2008.  The details of the approved package are –  
 

 2008/09
$m

2009/10
$m

2010/11 
$m 

2011/12 
& out 
years

$m
Current Crown-funded baseline 3.148 2.244 2.244 2.244
New baseline funding 2.784 2.600 2.600 2.600
Total 5.932 4.844 4.844 4.844
Contingency 2.000 0

 
55. The contingency sum is available across the three year period but will only be 

accessible if, in any one financial year, either of the two criteria is met: 
• The volume of new applications for registration exceed 4,000 per year; or 
• Annual return fee revenue is $200,000 or more below the revenue forecast in 

the business case. 
 
56. As a part of the package the Commission has received funding to allow it to scope 

its future activities in both monitoring and education to allow it to be able to seek 
further funding in its Baseline Review in October 2010.  The Commission 
expressed concern to the previous Minister that waiting until 2010 might mean 
that funding for these activities might not be available until Budget 2011 and that it 
might look to seek funding for these activities at an earlier time. (Appendix 11) 

 
Annual Meeting 

57. The Commission is required to hold at least one Annual Meeting not later than 30 
November each year.  The Minister, or their representative, must attend at least 
one of the Annual Meetings.  This years Annual Meeting is to be held in 
Wellington on 27 November. 

 
58. Last year the Commission held five annual meetings in Wellington, Auckland, 

Tauranga, Christchurch and Dunedin.  We did this, partly to take the opportunity 
to promote registration and partly because we think it important to listen to 
charities around the country. 

 
59. However, our feeling was that this was an inefficient means of meeting with 

charities in a region and so we are exploring different way to doing this.  During 
the year we piloted a different way of meeting with charities in an area and spent 
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a day in Hamilton  where we met with charities in a range of different forums.  We 
intend to do this in a number of different regions next year. 

 
 
Key Relationships 

Government sector 
 
60. The Department of Internal Affairs is the government department that assists the 

responsible Minister (the Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector) with 
the oversight and management of the Crown’s interest in, and relationship with, 
the Commission.  DIA also provides assistance to the Minister with exercising any 
statutory responsibilities she has in relation to the Commission. 

 
61. The Office for the Community & Voluntary Sector is responsible for facilitating co-

operation and good relationships between Government agencies and the 
community and voluntary sector.  

 
62. Inland Revenue Department (IRD) remains responsible for administering the 

revenue acts and retains the right to audit charitable entities to ensure they 
continue to be eligible for tax exempt status.  Because registration under the 
Charities Act can have tax implications, the Commission and the IRD require a 
very close working relationship. 

 
63. The registration test of the Charities Commission under the Charities Act 2005 is 

closely aligned with the relevant test under the Income Tax Act 2004 administered 
by IRD.  This means that charities that meet the Commission’s requirements for 
registration may also meet IRD’s test for retaining or acquiring tax-exempt status.  
(Tax-exempt status means registered charities do not have to pay income tax and 
donors of gifts to registered charities do not have to pay gift duty.) 

 
64. Under the Charities Act, the Commission supplies IRD with information in order 

for IRD to carry out its functions under any of the Inland Revenue Acts.  The 
Commission and IRD have agreed a Memoranda of Understanding to cover how 
they will exchange information and work with each other.  The Commissioner of 
IRD and the Board of the Commission will monitor the implementation of these 
memoranda. 

 
65. Statistics New Zealand and the Charities Commission have an overlapping 

interest in expanding the current analysis of the charitable sector, and have 
already discussed mutual information interests.  An important work stream of 
mutual interest with Statistics New Zealand is their focus on a satellite account for 
the non-profit sector.  Over time this analysis will be strengthened by the 
information the Commission will be able to provide, particularly after the initial 
registration process concludes and the annual return process becomes 
established. 

 
66. The Ministry of Economic Development (MED) – the relationship between the 

Commission and MED is also significant, with a Memorandum of Understanding 
to underpin the relationship between the Commission and the various Registrars 
and the Official Assignee, based in the Companies Office.  This Memorandum of 
Understanding includes both general relationship provisions and the sharing of 
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information provisions (although the Commission does not have the funding to 
enable this transfer of information).  There is also ongoing engagement occurring 
through MED’s current review of the application of the Financial Reporting Act 
1993 to charities and the not-for-profit sector. 

 
Charitable sector 
 
67. The Commission is responsible for developing and maintaining close 

relationships with the charitable sector and in particular providing education and 
information on governance and management issues.  The current focus is on 
working with charities on the registration process but as evidenced by our session 
on governance at our annual meeting this year, we intend to commence our focus 
on education over the coming year.  

 
Future Direction 

68. The Commission has prepared a Strategic Framework (Appendix 4) which, 
together with the Statement of Intent, will guide its future direction.  The following 
activities will take place over the coming year. 

 
Registration 
 
69. It is projected that the Commission will receive 2,000 new applications each year.  

This number will include newly established organisations and trusts together with 
existing organisations.  We also suspect that already established organisations 
will apply for registration and will do so for one of two reasons.  First, we 
understand that IRD will conduct an exercise whereby it will review those 
organisations claiming tax exemptions as charities against the list of registered 
charities.  Second, charities will apply because of other perceived advantages to 
being registered.  This may involve access to funds only available for registered 
charities. 

 
Annual Returns 
 
70. Many registered organisations were exempted from providing annual returns for 

the part year that they were registered.  They will file their returns during 2009 
and 2010 with first large filing being in the middle of 2009.  This will mean that the 
Charities Register will have all required information on it at that stage. 

 
Monitoring and Investigations 
 
71. During the next twelve months the Commission has been asked to scope its role 

in the investigation and monitoring of charities.  This will also involve our 
developing relationships with other law enforcement, regulatory, and intelligence 
agencies. 

 
72. With annual returns starting to be filed the Commission will start a basic 

monitoring role.  Some organisations were registered because their charitable 
purposes required registration but there was sufficient concern about their 
activities that they are been listed as organisations to monitor and possibly 
investigate.  We discuss the risks of this in paragraph 82. 
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Complaints 
 
73. Linked to our monitoring and investigation role, and because of the greater 

transparency of charities, the Commission has a role in dealing with complaints 
about charities.  The Commission has already received a number of complaints 
about issues such as conflicts of interest, alleged theft, immigration and IRD 
irregularities, mismanagement, and misuse of funds. 

 
74. In order to promote public trust and confidence in the sector the Commission is of 

the view that it will be difficult to ignore these complaints until after the scoping 
exercise has been completed. We intend to make limited resources available for 
handling complaints.  We believe that we cannot defer our obligations in this area 
of work as it is important in maintaining public trust and confidence in charities.  

 
Education 
 
75. Two main functions of the Commission are to encourage and promote the 

effective use of charitable resources; and to educate and assist charities in 
relations to matters of good governance and good management.  These are 
functions that the sector asked for during the Select Committee stage of the 
legislation and the provision for which were added to the Bill.  The Commission is 
about to recruit a senior staff member whose task will be to scope the 
Commission’s role in areas of education. This will be a challenging task given the 
breadth of charitable organisations in New Zealand.  There are already a number 
of different government agencies that have a role in developing the capacity of 
parts of the charitable sector.  We have also observed that there are a number of 
umbrella organisations and private providers  who take a role in this area.  The 
challenge for the Commission will be to develop its education role in way which 
assists charities but which does not duplicate the work currently done by other 
agencies. 

 
Risks / Issues 
 
[Paragraphs 76 – 83 have been withheld under section 9(2)(g)(i) of the Official 
Information Act to maintain the effective conduct of public affairs through the 
free and frank expression of opinions by or between or to Ministers of the 
Crown.] 
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Appendix 1 



Appendix 2 

Board Members 

Sid Ashton – Chair 
Sid Ashton, an Officer of the New Zealand Order of Merit for services to Māori 
and the Community, has been a Christchurch accountant for over 30 years. 
Mr Ashton chaired the Tax and Charities Working Party in 2001/2002.  He 
also held executive roles as Secretary and Chief Executive of Te Runanga O 
Ngai Tahu. 
 
Sid is currently serving as Chairman of the Christchurch Arts Festival Board 
and as a trustee for the Diabetes Training and Research Trust - both of which 
are charitable trusts. He is also a Director of Ryman Healthcare, a publicly 
listed company, a member of the Nominating Committee of the Guardians of 
NZ Superannuation and a Board member of Creative New Zealand. 
 
Sid was appointed on 13 June 2005 for a term expiring on 12 June 2008. 
He was recently re-appointed for a further term expiring on 16 July 2011. 
 
Judith Timpany – Deputy Chair 
Judith Timpany is the Chief Executive of the Whanganui Community 
Foundation Inc. and a Justice of the Peace. She has qualifications in both 
commerce and community development.  
 
Judith has 20 years experience in the charitable sector in a broad range of 
community focused activities, including three years as a Wanganui City 
Councillor, Chair of Philanthropy New Zealand (currently a board member), 
and membership of WINGS CF (an international grant maker's body). She has 
also held several corporate directorships.  
 
Judith was appointed on 13 June 2005 for a term expiring on 12 June 2007.  
She was re-appointed for a further term expiring on 14 August 2010. 
 
Kerry Ayers – Board Member 
Kerry Ayers is a practising lawyer who has written extensively on trusts and 
property-related issues, including four legal textbooks. His work has also 
included extensive seminar presentations including national seminar series for 
the New Zealand Law Society and the New Zealand Institute of Chartered 
Accountants.  He has been involved in extensive work on issues relating to 
charities law and the setting up and administration of charitable entities. 
 
Kerry was also a member of the New Zealand Law Commission consultative 
committee on reform of the law of trusts.  He is a former Vice President of the 
New Zealand Law Society and a former board member of the New Zealand 
Law Foundation. 
 
Kerry was appointed on 13 June 2005 for a term expiring on 12 June 2008.  
He was recently re-appointed for a further term expiring on 16 July 2011. 
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Ian Calder – Board Member 
Ian Calder, an Officer of the New Zealand Order of Merit for services to 
children and the family, has considerable experience in and knowledge of the 
not-for-profit sector. Ian was the Chief Executive of Barnardos New Zealand 
from 1976-2003, the President of the New Zealand Federation of Voluntary 
Welfare Organisations, Treasurer of the International Forum for Child Welfare, 
and a member of various government advisory boards including the 1988-89 
Working Party on the Taxation of Charities and Sporting Bodies. From 2003 
he has been a member of the Social Workers’ Registration Board.  

Ian was appointed on 13 June 2005 for a term expiring on 12 June 2007.  He 
was re-appointed for a further term expiring on 14 August 2010. 

Frank Claridge – Board Member 
Frank Claridge, a Justice of the Peace, is an accountant by training and 
experience, and has been involved with many not-for-profit and charitable 
organisations in financial management and governance roles throughout his 
career. Before retiring in 2003, Frank had been the Treasurer of the Royal 
New Zealand Foundation of the Blind for 20 years.  

Frank has also had continuous involvement with the governance of the 
Methodist Church since 1962.  He is a Fellow of the NZ Trustees Association, 
and a member of the Fundraising Institute of New Zealand. Frank is currently 
a board member of the Bledisloe Estate Trust. 

Frank was appointed on 13 June 2005 for a term expiring on 12 June 2007.  
He was re-appointed for a further term expiring on 14 August 2010. 

Amohaere Houkamau – Board Member 
Amohaere Houkamau is the Chief Executive of Te Rūnanga o Ngāti Porou, 
based in Ruatoria, and has played a leading role in developing a quadruple 
bottom-line iwi development strategy for Ngāti Porou.  

Amohaere is a member of the Board of Māori Television Service.  She is a 
trustee of the Tauawhi Trust and the Tairawhiti Development Partnership 
Management Trust, co-chairs the Tairawhiti Social Development Forum and 
the E Tipu e Rea – the Ministry of Education and Ngāti Porou Education 
Partnership, and is a member of the Tairawhiti Development Partnership Co-
ordinating Committee. 

Amohaere was appointed on 13 June 2005 for a term expiring on 12 June 
2008.  She was recently re-appointed for a further term expiring on 16 July 
2011. 
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Trish McKelvey – Board Member 
 

Patricia McKelvey, a Companion of the New Zealand Order of Merit for 
services to Education and an MBE for services to Women’s cricket, has a 
wealth of operational and governance experience in the education and sport 
sectors. 

She is currently Chair of the Correspondence School Board of Trustees and 
Electra Limited; a member of the Victoria University Council and the Social 
Security Appeal Authority; and a Board Member of Barnardos New Zealand 
and Bowls New Zealand. Previous appointments include Principal of 
Wellington High School, Captain of the New Zealand Women’s Cricket Team, 
Chair of the Board of Career Services and a variety of other tertiary education, 
social services, and sporting leadership roles. 

Patricia was appointed on 7 July 2008 for a term expiring on 7 July 2011. 

 

Trevor Garrett – Chief Executive 

Trevor Garrett is the Chief Executive of the Commission.  His academic 
background is Diploma of Physical Education; Secondary Teachers 
Certificate; Master of Science (Honours); Master of Public Policy.  He 
received the 1990 Commoration Medal for Services to New Zealand. 

He commenced his work in government as a recreation planning advisor 
assisting with the development of community recreation.  During this time be 
also taught recreation planning and administration, and social policy, at 
Lincoln College and Victoria University.  He was Chief Executive Officer of the 
Ministry of Recreation and Sport before becoming Group Manager, 
Regulatory and Lottery Services (NZ Lottery Board, gaming, racing, 
censorship, passports, citizenship) with the Department of Internal Affairs.  
Prior to joining the Commission he was Chief Executive of the Casino Control 
Authority. 

He has been President of the NZ Association of Health, Physical Education 
and Recreation; Chairman of the International Association of Gaming 
Regulators as well as Chairman of a school board of trustees and of Auckland 
Hockey.  He is also involved in coaching and administering school sport. 
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Chair’s Overview 
 
Charities have always been an important part of New Zealand’s social fabric.  The Charities 
Act 2005 established the Charities Commission to ensure that the charitable sector 
continues to receive public support and to advise government on issues affecting the sector.  

The Commission began operating on 1 July 2005.  We have now completed our third year of 
operations, in which we achieved the following:  

• We continued to receive and process applications for registration.  By the end of 
June 2008, over 8,000 charities had been registered  

• The new IT system, which allows charities to enter information for applications for 
registration and annual returns online, went live on 4 November 2007 

• We commenced our monitoring and compliance function with the receipt of the first 
Annual Returns from charities in September 2007 

• The recruitment of the registration team was completed in March 2008.  The team 
has a total of 40 staff to process applications for registration  

• We addressed significant legal issues relating to the assessment of applications for 
registration and reviewed registration analysis guidelines and the Commission’s 
published material 

• We continued with our communications and education functions including its 
messaging to encourage organisations to apply early for registration, and educating 
those involved in the sector on how to apply for registration 

• We undertook several reviews of our registration processes and decision-making 
procedures to ensure that they were operating effectively and efficiently 

• We continued to develop our relationship with the charitable sector and other key 
stakeholders; and   

• We held five Annual Meetings in Wellington, Christchurch, Dunedin, Auckland and 
Tauranga in November and December 2007.  

This past year has been another busy one and I am confident that we have established a 
good foundation to carry out the Commission’s functions effectively in the years ahead. 

Although there are still many unknowns and uncertainties surrounding our operations, this 
Statement of Intent provides an outline of our priorities and the direction we want to head 
over the next three years.  We do not know, for example, the actual number of charities who 
intend to register however, we do have the capability to process 25,000 applications by 31 
December 2008. 

The Commission has identified its overall outcome as “a strong, effective charitable sector in 
which the public has trust and confidence.”  The Commission on its own cannot achieve this 
overall outcome, as other external influences will affect it.  However, we believe that if the 
Commission successfully delivers its outputs and activities and achieves its intermediate 
outcomes then it will have a positive impact on the overall outcome. 
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There is a risk to the delivery of the Commission's outputs in 2008/09, given the current level 
of applications for registration forecast and the projected resources required to process 
those applications. The Commission is managing this risk by making changes to its 
processes to ensure the registration process is as efficient as possible. The Commission is 
also reviewing the assumptions underlying the current level of funding provided. 

While we have a number of functions under the Charities Act, our key focus for the next year 
is to complete the processing of applications for registration received on or before 30 June 
2008 by the end of December 2008.  In the following two years, our focus will move to 
processing annual returns, monitoring activities, and providing information and support on 
governance and good management. 

Over the next three years, the Commission faces a challenging financial outlook if it is to 
achieve its statutory functions set out in the Charities Act 2005.  

The Board and staff of the Charities Commission are committed to: 
• developing an organisation that charities and the public can have confidence in,  
• undertaking our functions in a responsive and open manner, and  
• becoming an authority and leading debate around the promotion of a strong, effective 

charitable sector in which the public has trust and confidence for the advancement of 
the charitable sector as a whole.  

We understand that to fulfil our mandate under our Act we must build strong relationships 
with the charitable sector and work closely with a number of other government agencies.  

The Commission is excited about the challenges ahead while being aware of the degree of 
change involved for the sector.  

Given the high degree of commitment, capability and professionalism of the Commission 
and its staff, I am confident of our ability to make a significant contribution to the sound 
future of the charitable sector. 

 

Sid Ashton 
Chair 
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Role of the Charities Commission 
Who are we? 
The Charities Commission was established by the Charities Act 2005, which was passed in 
April 2005. The Commission came into existence as an Autonomous Crown Entity (ACE) on 
1 July 2005. (Autonomous Crown Entities are established by, or under, an Act and must 
have regard to government policy when directed by the responsible Minister).  The 
Commission started receiving applications for registration as charitable entities on 1 
February 2007. 

The functions of the Charities Commission, as set out in section 10 of the Charities Act, are 
to:  

• promote public trust and confidence in the charitable sector; 

• encourage and promote the effective use of charitable resources; 

• educate and assist charities in relation to matters of good governance and 
management; 

• make appropriate information available to assist persons to make registration 
applications under this Act; 

• receive, consider and process applications for registration as charitable entities; 

• ensure that the register of charitable entities is compiled and maintained; 

• receive, consider, and process annual returns submitted by charitable entities; 

• supply information and documents in appropriate circumstances for the purposes of 
the Inland Revenue Acts; 

• monitor charitable entities and their activities to ensure that entities that are 
registered as charitable entities continue to be qualified for registration as charitable 
entities; 

• inquire into charitable entities and into persons who have engaged in, or are 
engaging in, conduct that constitutes, or may constitute, a breach of this Act or 
serious wrongdoing in connection with a charitable entity; 

• monitor and promote compliance with this Act, including by taking prosecutions for 
offences against this Act in appropriate circumstances; 

• consider, and to report and make recommendations on, any matter relating to 
charities; and 

• stimulate and promote research into any matter relating to charities. 

Each of these functions is aligned to one of the five outputs of the Commission.  For 
information on these outputs, please refer to the sections for Outputs 1.1 to 1.5 under the 
heading “Statement of Forecast Service Performance”. 
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Organisational Structure 
The Commission is governed by a Board consisting of a Chair, Deputy Chair and five other 
Board members.  At 30 June 2008, there is one vacancy on the Board.  The Appendix 
provides biographies of each of the members of the Board. 

The Board has established four Standing Committees to help it more efficiently undertake its 
work.  The Human Resources; Information and Education; Registration; and Risk, Audit and 
Compliance committees meet regularly throughout the year. 

The Commission’s organisation chart as at 30 June 2008 is set out below: 
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Our principles 
The Charities Commission’s work will be guided by these principles: 

1. Fairness and impartiality - All individuals and organisations with which the 
Commission has dealings will be treated impartially and reasonably, following the 
principles of natural justice; 

2. Consistency – The Commission will ensure that people in similar circumstances or 
with similar issues will be treated similarly in the way the law is applied, the 
processes that are followed, the way policy is applied and the decisions that are 
made; 

3. Transparency – The Commission will explain requirements in plain terms, set out the 
criteria by which decisions are made, explain what is expected from charities and 
provide reasons to explain and justify all decisions. The Commission will be able to 
demonstrate that practice and process is ‘fair and reasonable’ and to display 
appropriate openness in the circumstances;  

4. Legitimacy – The Commission will only use powers that it is authorised to use and 
will ensure that these powers are used properly; 

5. Independence – The Commission will act in the interest of the public in carrying out 
its role and will ensure, consistent with the obligations of an Autonomous Crown 
Entity, that others, unless authorised to do so, will not interfere with, direct or control 
the Commission; 

6. Accountability – The Commission will inform Parliament of its intentions and outline 
how its performance can be assessed each year in the Statement of Intent. The 
Commission will also publish an annual report, which includes an audit report.  The 
Commission is accountable for its decisions through the High Court, which can 
overturn them. The Commission will provide information and explanations of its 
important decisions on its website and will engage with its stakeholders prior to 
introducing major new policies or practices;  

7. Responsibility and respect – The Commission will act with an understanding of the 
consequences of its actions and show respect to others in all its dealings. 
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Our operating environment 
The Government recognises the important role of charities, and is consequently promoting 
policies that acknowledge and support their unique contribution to society.  The importance 
of the charitable sector to government agencies in New Zealand was demonstrated by the 
signing of the Statement of Government’s Intentions for an Improved Community-
Government Relationship (December 2001).   

 

Stakeholders 
The Charities Commission knows that its stakeholders – shown in the chart below – have 
expectations of, and some concerns about, the Commission based on their particular 
understanding of the sector and of what the Commission might deliver or ask of them.  
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General Public

Businesses that support 
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Minister

 

Policy 

Resource people 
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Funders

Researchers 
and 
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Since the Charities Commission was established in July 2005, our Board members, Chief 
Executive and staff have met with many groups and individuals to build an understanding of 
the current environment, consider stakeholders’ needs and expectations and explore how 
they might change over the next three to five years. The Commission held its latest annual 
meetings, in Wellington, Christchurch, Dunedin, Auckland and Tauranga in November and 
December 2007, and these provided an ideal opportunity for us to further engage with the 
sector and discuss the expectations and operations of the Commission.
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Charitable sector 
Charities make a significant contribution to New Zealand society.  They improve 
society by providing diverse activities and services that range from health and social 
services to arts and culture, from education and sport and recreation to religion and 
places of worship.  They range from national umbrella groups to small trusts and 
organisations working at grass roots level.  Charitable organisations are typically run 
either entirely by volunteers, by a combination of volunteers and paid officers, or in 
some cases by paid officers only. 

For an organisation to be charitable, its rules must clearly state that its purposes are 
for one or more of the following – the relief of poverty, the advancement of education, 
the advancement of religion, or any other matter beneficial to the community.  The 
organisation’s objects must also be of benefit to the public.  

Charitable organisations can be in many different forms; for example, charitable 
trusts, unincorporated trusts, charitable companies, incorporated societies, 
unincorporated bodies and marae.  

The charitable sector is defined as including both registered and non-registered 
charities.  A charity that is registered with the Commission is referred to as a 
“charitable entity” in accordance with section 4(1) of the Charities Act 2005. 

As well as having little information on the numbers of charities in New Zealand, 
knowledge about their financial impacts is also sparse.  A recent report from 
Philanthropy New Zealand (Giving New Zealand, 2007) estimated that philanthropic 
giving in 2005/06 was $1.25 billion.   

Changing expectations are putting charities under pressure to improve their 
efficiency and accountability, deliver services to a high standard and demonstrate 
that they are providing value for money.  Charities receiving funds from a variety of 
agencies must also comply with different reporting requirements from those 
agencies. 

The charitable sector is responding to these demands and is looking for assistance 
and guidance on how best to improve its capabilities.  In this environment, the 
charitable sector is looking to the Commission to provide advice and support 
concerning regulatory obligations and duties, and to assist charities to get access to 
good information and guidance on issues relating to governance and management. 

 

The Government 
There is growing recognition of the important economic and social contribution that 
the charitable sector makes to New Zealand society.  Government has a key role in 
building collaborative relationships with the charitable sector to achieve positive 
social, economic, cultural and environmental outcomes within local communities.  It 
also wants to be sure that funds flowing into the charitable sector are used 
appropriately; that is, for the intended charitable purpose of the organisation. 

The Government has expressed a desire that government agencies coordinate their 
activities, wherever possible, to avoid duplication and minimise compliance costs to 
the sector.  This coordination extends to ensuring that the charitable sector has 
access to appropriate advice and support concerning regulatory obligations. 
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Government agencies 
Many government agencies have charities as stakeholders – as part of their work, as 
recipients of their services, or as providers of services – which contribute to achieving 
the agencies outputs.  While these government agencies have a role to play, the 
Charities Commission has been set up to deal with the charitable sector as a whole.  
The Commission will be working co-operatively with these other agencies in the 
sector to ensure that services available to the public are well integrated and co-
ordinated. 

Government agencies are expected to deliver their services through relationships 
with communities, where appropriate.  Government agencies therefore have a stake 
in a charitable sector that is well managed and effective.  They also need good data 
on the sector to develop policy advice.  In this operating environment, they will be 
looking to the Commission to be a source of information and guidance on issues 
relating to the charitable sector. 

The Commission has an ‘inner circle’ of government agencies it works with.  The 
nature of the relationships that the Commission has with these organisations is 
outlined below. 

The Department of Internal Affairs (DIA) 
The Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector is responsible for the 
Commission.  The DIA has been appointed to advise the Minister on issues arising 
from her responsibilities for the Commission.  As outlined in the Memorandum of 
Understanding, DIA monitors the Commission on behalf of the Minister to ensure the 
Crown’s interests are protected; and provide contestable second opinion advice.  DIA 
is responsible for the administration of the Charities Act and managing appointments 
of the Board.  DIA is also responsible for providing policy support to the Commission 
as required by the Minister to support effective implementation of government policy 
and regulations.  

The Commission engages with DIA about the development of the Commission’s 
Statement of Intent, annual Output Agreement with the Minister (which includes 
budget) and the Annual Report. 

The Office for the Community and Voluntary Sector (OCVS) within the Ministry 
of Social Development  
The Department of Internal Affairs works closely with the Ministry of Social 
Development (MSD) in relation to the Commission’s strategic direction and 
performance.  The Commission will be working closely with both organisations as 
they carry out their functions. 

The OCVS was established to facilitate cooperation and good relationships between 
the government and the community and voluntary sector.  OCVS provides advice to 
the Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector.  

The Commission and OCVS share an interest in developing the community and 
voluntary sector.  However, the Commission’s specific interest is the charitable 
sector, and promoting public trust and confidence in that sector. 
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Inland Revenue Department (IRD) 
Because registration under the Charities Act can have tax implications, the 
Commission and the IRD require a very close working relationship. 

The registration test of the Charities Commission under the Charities Act 2005 is 
closely aligned with the relevant test under the Income Tax Act 2007 administered by 
IRD.  This means that charities that meet the Commission’s requirements for 
registration may also meet IRD’s test for retaining or acquiring tax-exempt status.  
(Tax-exempt status means registered charities do not have to pay income tax and 
donors of gifts to registered charities do not have to pay gift duty.) 

Under the Charities Act, the Commission supplies IRD with information in order for 
IRD to carry out its functions under any of the Inland Revenue Acts.  The 
Commission and IRD have developed Memoranda of Understanding to cover how 
they will exchange information and work with each other.  The Commissioner of IRD 
and the Board of the Commission will monitor the implementation of these 
memoranda. 

The Commission and IRD work closely together to ensure that appropriate processes 
and procedures are in place for both organisations to undertake their statutory 
functions. 

Statistics New Zealand 
Statistics New Zealand and the Charities Commission have an overlapping interest in 
expanding the current analysis of the charitable sector, and have already discussed 
mutual information interests.  Over time this analysis will be strengthened by the 
information the Commission will be able to provide, particularly after the initial 
registration process concludes and the annual return process becomes established. 

In light of this shared interest the Charities Commission and Statistics New Zealand 
have agreed to develop a “relationship agreement” that will confirm the way the two 
agencies work together by information sharing, research priorities and relationships 
with stakeholders. 

The Ministry of Economic Development (MED) 
The relationship between the Commission and MED is also significant, with a 
Memorandum of Understanding being signed in August 2007 to underpin the 
relationship between the Commission and the various Registrars and the Official 
Assignee, based in the Companies Office.  This Memorandum of Understanding 
includes both general relationship provisions and the sharing of information 
provisions.  There is also ongoing engagement occurring through MED’s current 
review of the application of the Financial Reporting Act 1993 to the charitable sector. 

Other Government Agencies 
When the Commission’s monitoring activities are underway, other government 
agencies, such as the Attorney-General and the Office of the Auditor-General, will be 
interested in the results of these activities, and may become actively involved. 
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The public 
Currently the public has limited information about the charitable sector.  Much of the 
public’s interaction with the sector is through personal involvement with a particular 
charity, donations to fundraising campaigns and information in the media.  The 
Commission is aware of the public interest considerations underpinning the 
enactment of the Charities Act 2005.  We see the general public as one of our key 
stakeholders and will work to ensure that the interests of the public are taken into 
account in carrying out all of our functions, including decision-making. 

With the establishment of the Charities Register, people will be able to access more 
information on registered charities, including financial information, once annual 
returns are filed.  Governing documents, charitable activities and other application 
information will be readily available to the public, making it easier to learn about the 
nature of the charitable sector, and the contribution it makes to society thus helping 
to promote public confidence in it.  

Key themes 
The assessment of our operating environment raises a number of issues that will 
affect our work.  

In summary: 

• There is little information on the charitable sector and its size and scope is 
uncertain; 

• All stakeholders in the charitable sector, including the general public, would 
benefit from the availability of good data on the charitable sector; 

• There are opportunities for government agencies to work in partnership with 
the charitable sector to establish and develop services and promote 
community development; 

• The Commission has a role to educate and assist charities, however, other 
organisations also have this role and we need to explore ways by which we 
can best add value; 

• Charities are under increasing pressure to improve efficiency and 
accountability, particularly when accessing and accounting for government 
funding; and 

• There is a need to coordinate activities between government agencies 
working with the sector to ensure compliance costs are minimised, and clarify 
and communicate roles and boundaries to avoid confusion. 

These key themes have influenced our choice of the outcomes the Commission is 
aiming to achieve and the Commission’s strategic priorities over the next three years. 
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Strategic directions 
The intention of the Charities Act 2005, and the establishment of the Charities 
Commission, was to ensure that the charitable sector becomes more accountable 
and transparent to the donating public, funders, regulators and the government.  It 
was also intended that the Commission should have an important role in informing, 
educating and supporting charitable organisations, as the effective exercise of this 
role should help charities to build their capacity and develop capabilities.  

 

Government’s priorities 
In March 2006, Cabinet agreed that three themes constitute the Government’s 
priorities for the next decade.  These themes are supported by a number of sub-
themes, which were updated in 2008: 

Economic Transformation 

Working to progress our economic transformation to a high income, knowledge 
based market economy, which is both innovative and creative and provides a unique 
quality of life to all New Zealanders.  The sub-themes are: 

• Growing globally competitive firms; 

• World class infrastructure 

• Innovative and productive workplaces, underpinned by high standards in 
education, skills and research; 

• An internationally competitive city – Auckland; 

• Environmental Sustainability 

Families – young and old 

All families, young and old, have the support and choices they need to be secure and 
be able to reach their full potential within our knowledge based economy.  The sub-
themes are: 

• developing the NGO sector 

• early years 

• effective interventions 

• eliminating family violence 

• key business and service delivery failure 

• realising youth potential 
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National Identity 

All New Zealanders are able to take pride in who and what we are, through our arts, 
culture, film, sports and music, our appreciation of our natural environment, our 
understanding of our history and our stance on international issues.  The sub-themes 
are: 

• developing our arts and culture 

• connecting with, understanding and celebrating our heritage 

• encouraging participation and achievement in sport 

• New Zealand in the world 

• recreation, conservation and the environment 

• reconciliation 

• building a cohesive society 

• reinforcing community 

 

Charities Commission’s contribution to Government priorities 
The charitable sector contributes to all three Government priority themes in a variety 
of ways.  The Commission believes that if it meets its intermediate outcomes, a 
strong charitable sector may result and this should contribute to all three of the 
Government’s priority themes and their related sub-themes. 

Charities provide people with an opportunity of fulfilling their social consciences, 
getting involved in their community and demonstrating their charitable concerns.  
Charities are meeting the needs in communities that the Government is unable to 
effectively meet. 

The Charities Commission itself contributes directly to a number of the sub-themes.  
For example, the Commission’s role in building capability in the charitable sector 
contributes to “Developing the NGO sector”.  The Charities Act sets out a role for the 
Commission to assist charities through encouraging and promoting the effective use 
of their resources, and through educating and assisting charities in relation to 
governance and management. 

The Commission’s intermediate outcome of Increased public trust and confidence in 
the charitable sector will contribute to the sub-themes of “Building a cohesive society” 
and “Reinforcing community”.  Charities are part of the huge community and 
voluntary sector that is so important to New Zealand’s social capital.  

The Government also issued the Statement of Government Intentions for an 
Improved Community-Government Relationship in December 2001.  In this 
statement, the Government made a commitment to creating a genuine partnership 
with community, voluntary and iwi/Maori organisations.  The Commission will 
contribute to this initiative through its links with the charitable sector and the delivery 
of its outputs. 
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Our planning approach 
In 2007/08, the Board made a commitment to develop its strategic framework.  Since 
August 2007, the Board has consulted with its stakeholders, including the charitable 
sector and other Crown agencies, and developed a strategic plan for the next five to 
ten years.  This plan sets out the future directions and activities of the Commission, 
after the initial registration period is completed.  

The Board views the Commission’s functions, as set out in section 10(1) of the 
Charities Act 2005, as the key drivers behind the strategic direction of the 
Commission.  

In order to make the best use of the resources we have, and to ensure we are 
undertaking those activities that are going to be of most relevance, we started our 
planning processes by using a “bottom up” approach and identified those outputs that 
would enable the Commission to fulfil its statutory obligations.  

The next step was to identify the intermediate outcomes that would result if those 
outputs were delivered.  Lastly, the Board identified the overall outcome that the 
Commission is ultimately seeking to achieve seeking – “a strong, effective charitable 
sector in which the public has trust and confidence.”  We realise that the overall 
outcome is a very high-level goal and its achievement is the result of many 
contributions and it may be affected by external influences beyond the control of the 
Commission.  

The relationships between our intermediate outcomes and the overall outcome are 
illustrated in the diagram below. 

 
Outputs             Intermediate outcomes                          Overall outcome 
 
 

Are we doing the right things? 
 
 
Priorities  
Our priorities are underpinned by who we are and by our principles, and are adopted 
to ensure consistency with the Government’s priorities. They have also been 
developed through reference to other agencies whose work is closely connected to 
ours.  

Our priorities set the direction for the work that will enable us to achieve the overall 
outcome we have identified.  Our priorities are: 

• By being an effective regulator, the Charities Commission contributes to the 
public having trust and confidence in the charitable sector.  

• By providing information to charities and the charitable sector, the Charities 
Commission contributes to a charitable sector that is well governed and 
managed, and uses its resources effectively.  

• By providing information to the Government, the Charities Commission 
assists the Government to meet the needs of charities and the needs of the 
public in supporting charities. 

We have a responsibility to coordinate our work with other agencies working with the 
sector, establish the boundaries of our work and determine how best to work 
together. 
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During the first three years of its existence, the Commission has been focused, first 
on the establishment of the Commission’s infrastructure and more recently on the 
registration of charities.  This includes making information available to assist charities 
to make applications for registration.  The Commission will not be in its “business as 
usual” state until the initial registration of charities is completed. 

Meanwhile, in conjunction with the development of the strategic framework, the 
Commission has started to develop policies and procedures for some of its other 
legislative functions.  This process will continue in 2008/09. 

The Government’s fundamental expectations of the Commission are clearly set out in 
legislation.  In addition, the Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector has 
emphasised in her Letter of Expectations for 2008/09 that she expects the 
Commission: 

• to continue to focus on the successful registration of charitable entities, with 
other aspects of the Commission’s business gaining in significance as the 
year progresses; 

• to be an authority and to lead debate around the objectives of promoting 
public trust and confidence in the charitable sector, and encouraging and 
promoting the effective use of charitable resources, for the advancement of 
the charitable sector as a whole; and 

• to maintain comprehensive and effective management systems for managing 
assets, information, people and risks. 

In 2008/09, the Commission will complete the initial registration of the budgeted 
25,000 charities.  The focus will then shift to receiving and processing annual returns, 
monitoring activities, and providing information and support on governance and good 
management.  Consistent with our strategic priorities for research, we will begin to 
analyse information received during the registration process, and consider how to 
communicate this and what further information would be useful to obtain. 

In 2009/10 and beyond, we will continue to process annual returns and register 
charities, with monitoring activities becoming more a focus of our work.  Developing 
and communicating information relevant to charities will also be an increased focus 
over this period. 

In this SOI, we indicate our intentions to undertake key pieces of work in future years 
– research, education of the charities sector and the public, policy advice to 
government.  These all contribute to the achievement of our statutory functions under 
the Charities Act and to our overall outcome of “A strong, effective charitable sector 
in which the public has trust and confidence”. 

It has been expressed to the Commission by some charities that the Commission 
might be a place that charities can approach about matters that concern them that 
are of importance to significant parts of the sector.  They recognise that the 
Commission has a function to “consider, report and make recommendations on any 
matters relating to charities, either on its own behalf or on referral from the Minister”.  
They believe this is one of the functions that the Commission has which would add 
value to the work that they do.  

The following table summarises the Commission’s proposed work programme over 
the next three years. 
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Work Programme timelines –  
 

Function 
 

June 2008 
 

June 2009 
 

June 2010 
 

June 2011 
 

 
 
Registration 
 and 
Monitoring 
 
 

 
                 Initial registration                                               On-going registration 
 
                                                                                             Annual Returns 
 
                        Develop strategy                                          Proactive review and assessment 
 
 

 
Investigate 
complaints and 
inquiries about 
registered 
charities  
 

 
                                                                                                                      Complaints 
 
 
                         Develop strategy                                                         Inquiries into conduct 

 
 
Provision of 
information about 
charities 
 
 
 

 
                                                              Information about Register and requirements of registered charity 
 
                                                              Supply and make information on Register available 
 
                                                              Develop research strategy and programme          Undertake research and publish results 

 
Provision of 
advice, education 
and information to 
charities  
 

 
                                                      Information on registration of annual returns 
 
                                                                                  Develop strategy and expertise            Governance and management 

 
Provision of 
policy advice 
relating to 
charities  
 

 
 
                                    Develop Commission’s policy framework                                                              Policy advice 
 
 

 



Our outcomes framework 
This is our current Outcomes Framework, based on our strategic priorities, and our 
current pragmatic understandings of the Commission’s functions.  We will develop 
and amend this framework as we gather evidence about whether or not our activities 
are contributing to the desired outcomes.  

 

OVERALL OUTCOME 
 

A strong, effective charitable sector in which the public has trust and confidence 

 
INTERMEDIATE OUTCOMES 

 

Increased public trust and 
confidence in the 
charitable sector 

 

Charities and the 
charitable sector are well 

advised, resulting in 
improved governance and 

management and more 
effective use of charitable 

resources 

 

Government is well-
advised, enabling it to 
respond better to the 

needs of charities and to 
the needs of the public in 
supporting the charities 

 

OUTPUTS AND ACTIVITIES 
 

Registration 
and monitoring 

of charitable 
entities 

 

Investigate 
complaints and 
make inquiries 

about 
registered 
charities 

 

Provision of 
information 

about charities 

 

Provision of 
advice, 

information 
and education 

to charities 

 

Provision of 
policy advice 

relating to 
charities 
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Our Outcome Contribution 
Introduction 
The Commission has identified its overall outcome as “a strong, effective charitable sector in 
which the public has trust and confidence”.  The Commission will be working with the sector 
over the coming year to define what the characteristics of a strong, effective charitable 
sector actually are, and what an effective charity is.  This is an ambitious outcome, and not 
one the Commission can achieve alone. 

The Commission has therefore identified three ‘intermediate outcomes’, sourced from the 
Commission’s statutory functions, that it believes will be necessary to achieve the overall 
outcome.  These are: 

• Increased public trust and confidence in the charitable sector –  

• Charities and the charitable sector are well advised, resulting in improved 
governance and management and more effective use of charitable resources –  

• Government is well advised, enabling it to respond better to the needs of charities 
and to the needs of the public in supporting the charities –  

The Commission’s activities and outputs contribute directly to these intermediate outcomes 
and the Commission has a primary responsibility in achieving them.  However, there are 
external influences on these intermediate outcomes beyond the Commission’s control.  
Government agencies and other stakeholders will have an influence on the achievement of 
these intermediate outcomes; all will contribute to increasing our understanding of the value 
of charities to our society.  Factors such as the state of the economy, changes in 
government policy and our ability to find the financial and human resources that we need will 
also influence the nature of the intermediate outcomes.  

The performance of non-registered charities will also be beyond the reach of the 
Commission.  It is hoped, however, that the public, through the information that will be 
available on the public Register of Charities, will be able to exert enough pressure such that 
non-registered charities will see benefits from being registered with the Commission.  
Funders will also have a major influence, as they may decide to only donate funds to 
registered charities.  

In addition to the outputs and activities set out in our outcomes framework, the Commission 
has a role to stimulate and promote research on matters relating to charities.  We will do this 
initially by focussing on the information that can be derived from the registration and annual 
return processes, and using the data as a basis for providing real information about charities 
and the sector.  This will also enable the Commission to advise on areas where further 
research or information about charities should be undertaken.  We will also seek to work with 
other organisations so that a wider range of research can be conducted using the 
information acquired by the Commission.  The information from the Register will result in a 
better understanding of the sector as a whole.  The sector has high expectations that the 
Commission will provide relevant information.  

 

What are we seeking to achieve? 
We believe that if we are an effective regulator, which also provides targeted education and 
support to the sector and information on the sector, public confidence in the charitable sector 
will improve.  As confidence in the sector improves, and the sector can demonstrate value 
for money, the public may feel able to increase their donations, in time and resources.  
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One of the main reasons for establishing the Charities Commission and the Register of 
Charitable Entities was to increase the knowledge and understanding of the charitable 
sector.  As the level and type of information about the sector increases through the receipt of 
annual returns from charitable entities and targeted research, the Commission and other 
agencies will be able to provide better advice to the Government about the sector.  This will 
enable the Government to better meet the needs of both the sector and the public supporting 
the charities. 

It is the Commission’s view that if it satisfactorily produces, over time, the outputs it has 
identified, then it will be able to provide the public (and the Government) with better 
information on, and an understanding of, the charitable sector.  This information will be 
received from registered charities during the registration process and will increase as the 
Commission starts receiving annual return information and undertaking research. 

 

What will we do to achieve this? 
Our outputs and activities contribute directly to our intermediate outcomes.  Our aim is that 
our work in registering and monitoring, investigating complaints and making inquiries, and 
providing information about charities will contribute to increased public trust and confidence 
in the charitable sector.  Providing advice, information and education to charities will aid the 
sector in its governance, management and use of resources.  Our advice to government will 
enable it to respond to the needs of charities and the public.  We have described in the 
following paragraphs the work we will be doing in the next year, and in the longer term, to 
achieve our intermediate outcomes. 

 

Increased public trust and confidence in the charitable sector 
Registration and monitoring of charitable entities 

The Register of Charitable Entities opened to receive applications for registration from 1 
February 2007.  All charities must be registered from 1 July 2008 to be eligible for a 
charitable tax exemption. 

Registration activities will continue to form the major part of the Commission’s operations 
over the next six months.  We intend to complete the processing of all applications for 
registration received on or before 30 June 2008 by the end of December 2008.  The 
Commission is able to backdate registration as a charitable entity to the date it received a 
“properly completed application for registration”.  

It is unknown how many charities will apply to register under the Charities Act, but 
projections have used a base volume of 25,000 new applications and associated annual 
returns.  The actual number of registrations may well be different than this but we have used 
this number for planning purposes. 

Once the initial registration period is over, we expect a small number of new registrations 
each year. We expect to receive the majority of annual returns once the registration peak is 
over.  The Commission will need to manage the variable nature of the processing of annual 
returns workload as annual returns of registered charities will be due six months after their 
balance date.  

In the first half of 2008/09, we will develop the necessary strategies to enable us to start 
monitoring the activities of registered charities in the latter part of 2008/09.  Our intention is 
to have this framework in place by 31 December 2008. 
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Investigate complaints and make inquiries about registered charities 

As the registration of charitable entities proceeds, it is expected that the number of 
complaints about registered charities will increase. 

The Commission will also undertake its own inquiries into registered charities.  As the 
number of registered charities grows, we will develop an understanding of what issues and 
activities we may want to inquire into, and how often these inquiries will occur. 

We will develop the necessary strategies to enable us to complete these types of 
investigations and inquiries within a suitable timeframe.  We therefore intend to develop a 
framework for inquiring into the conduct of charitable entities by 31 March 2009. 

In the longer term, as our focus moves from the initial registration process, we anticipate that 
the activities under this output will increase in importance from 2009/10 onwards.  The extent 
of our activity in the longer term will be dependent on need and resources that can be 
applied. 

We will be interested to see what we can learn over time from quantitative measures of 
complaints and enquiries.  An increasing number of complaints about charities could mean 
either 

 An increased awareness of, and confidence in, the Commission to deal with 
complaints; or 

 Increased concern about the governance and management of charities 

We will use this quantitative information to inform our research programme (below). 

 

Provision of information about charities 

This is a key role for the Commission in ensuring public trust and confidence in the 
charitable sector and one we are keen to develop.  In 2008/09, however, the Commission 
will be concentrating on the completion of the initial registration process and the processing 
an increasing number of annual returns.  Consequently, the activities under this output will 
be limited to ensuring that the public is aware of the requirements of a registered charity, the 
Register of Charitable Entities and how the Register can be used, and developing a strategy 
for an appropriate research programme. 

The Commission has several “communication and education” functions to perform under the 
Charities Act.  One of these is to “promote public trust and confidence in the charitable 
sector”.  The Commission completed a survey by the end of June 2008 to establish a 
benchmark for the level of public trust and confidence in the charitable sector. 

This survey will be a key piece of our research programme.  This information will help to 
determine the level of promotion required to fulfil our obligations.  The survey has been 
completed and we are now analysing the results.  We expect to publish a report on the 
results early in the 2008/09 financial year. 

We will develop the strategic framework for research by 30 June 2009.  In the following 
years, as the Commission receives more information about charities and the charitable 
sector through the annual return process, it will look to implement this research programme 
and eventually share the results with other interested agencies and the wider public. 
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Once we start to receive annual returns from registered charities, the Commission will be 
able to provide further financial information on the charitable sector.  This is another function 
which will become more important in future years, as we build up data that show trends over 
time.  We do recognise, however, that some information, including that of grant-making 
organisations, might not be captured by the Commission’s processes.  This is because some 
grant-making organisations may not be charities and their grants may not go to registered 
charities. 

 

Charities and the charitable sector are well advised, resulting in improved governance 
and management and more effective use of charitable resources 
Provision of advice, information and education to charities 

The Commission believes that the performance of charities and the charitable sector will 
improve through both effective regulation and the provision of good advice, education and 
information.  We will engage with the sector to understand the needs and requirements of 
the charities and the sector as a whole.  We will also engage with the charitable sector and 
other government agencies to determine what the needs of the sector are and then the best 
way to “educate and assist charities in matters of good governance and management” and 
what type of research on the sector is required.  

Some of the advice and information may already be available thorough existing networks 
and the Commission will ensure that charities can easily access this information.  We will 
also endeavour to develop our own expertise in governance and management and make this 
available through the appropriate channels. 

A further communication and education function is to “encourage and promote the effective 
use of charitable resources”.  The Commission will need to wait until it receives more 
information from annual returns (that is, financial information) before it can decide how it will 
perform this function.  It is expected that, due to the delays in the completion of the initial 
registration process, a complete set of this information will not be received until by the end of 
the 2009/10 financial year. 

Providing information and support for registration and the completion of annual returns will 
continue to be the Commission’s priorities in 2008/09.  As registration activities settle down, 
education, information and support activities will broaden to include governance and 
management, and the effective use of charitable resources.  

We have considered how best to use our limited resources in this area and have focused on 
providing information by telephone and our website.  We have established a free phone 
advisory service which will be able answer up to 2,000 calls per month.  We also provide 
information via our website.  We will continue to look at how we can ensure charities can 
benefit from the Commission’s advice, education and information. 

We will develop our detailed approach for the delivery of advice and support on good 
governance and management in 2008/09, and we will implement this in 2009/10.  In doing 
this, we will consult with other organisations to ensure that there is no duplication of 
programmes already being delivered.  We intend, where possible, to work in collaboration 
with other organisations to fulfil this output.  In the longer term, the Commission does not 
wish to limit access to its services solely to charitable entities.  The Commission recognises, 
however, that its priorities are established by the Act. 
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Building Capacity and Capability in the Sector –  

Two major functions of the Commission, as set out in section 10(1) of the Charities Act 2005, 
are to: 

• “encourage and promote the effective use of charitable resources” [s.10(1)(b)]; 

• “educate and assist charities in relation to matters of good governance and 
management” [s.10(1)(c)]. 

As the initial stage of registration is completed, and annual returns are received, the 
Commission will start to obtain better information about the charitable sector.  This will guide 
the Commission as it focuses on these important functions. 

The Commission is mindful that there are many organisations, both public and private, that 
have a role in the education and assistance of charities.  We do not want to duplicate the 
work already being done and will explore the areas in which we can best add value. 

 

Government is well-advised, enabling it to respond better to the needs of charities 
and to the needs of the public in supporting the charities 
Provision of policy advice relating to charities 

The Commission believes its role in advising government about the charitable sector is key 
to enabling the government to respond to the sector’s and public’s needs.  The Commission 
is aware that other policy-making government agencies already provide advice on some 
areas of the charitable sector; however, the Commission will bring a new and unique 
perspective to policy advice about the sector, and will be able to provide sound, evidence-
based advice.  

The Commission’s policy advice role will develop as its evidence base develops – charitable 
entities began to submit their annual returns in September 2007 and the amount of 
information about the charitable sector is increasing, however it will not have a complete set 
of annual return information until the end of the 2009/10 financial year. 

Given that the initial registration of charities remains the Commission’s focus this year, and 
our limited resources, in 2008/09 we will provide policy advice when requested. 

As this area of work increases in importance, we will develop the necessary strategies to 
enable us to deliver effective policy advice from 2009/10 onwards.  

 

How will we demonstrate success in achieving our outcomes? 
The Commission has been in operation for three years and achieved much in this time.  We 
are, however, still in the initial stages of establishing the regime set out in the Charities Act 
and some of the indicators by which we can measure our success are not yet in existence.   

The overall outcome the Commission is seeking to achieve is “a strong, effective charitable 
sector in which the public has trust and confidence”.  The Commission will be working with 
the sector over the coming year to define what the characteristics of a strong, effective 
charitable sector actually are, or what an effective charity is.  
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In 2008/2009, we will continue with the development of an appropriate performance 
measurement framework and will work on establishing the most effective way to evaluate 
our contribution to the achievement of our overall outcome and intermediate outcomes.  
Pragmatically this evaluation framework will be informed by the progress in the completion of 
our outputs as specified in our annual output agreements, but our current intention is to 
develop a range of both financial and non-financial strategies and indicators to measure our 
effectiveness at the “intermediate outcomes” level. 

These strategies will be developed with an understanding that no single indicator would be 
able to be adopted as a measure for achievement of our intermediate outcomes. 

Assessing the performance of registered charities will provide good evidence of the state of 
the charitable sector in New Zealand.  However, it will not be until the Commission starts to 
receive the bulk of the annual return information and financial statements from registered 
charities and starts monitoring their activities and receiving complaints, that we will be able 
to assess the performance of registered charities.  By the end of 2008, we expect to have 
registered 25,000 charities, and the ongoing analysis of their annual returns will provide a 
wealth of information. 

Assessing the performance of registered charities will help the Commission to develop 
performance measures for the sector.  Performance measures for “governance and 
management” and “the effective use of charitable resources” will enable the Commission to 
assess whether charities are displaying good governance and management, whether 
charitable resources are being used effectively.   

The Commission will monitor this effectiveness through the review of the annual return 
information and financial statements submitted by registered charities.  This review will 
determine whether the charity is in fact spending the money it receives on the purposes the 
Commission has approved or spending it on other charitable activities.  Another indicator of 
the performance of charities may be an increase or decrease in the number of complaints 
received or investigations undertaken by the Commission. 

The Commission completed a survey by end of June 2008 to establish a benchmark for the 
level of public trust and confidence in the charitable sector.  It is intended to replicate this 
survey every two years to determine whether the actual level has increased or decreased.   
This will give us an objective measure of progress towards our overall outcome and we will 
look at how we can determine whether any change is a result of the any of the Commission’s 
activities. 

Providing good advice to government will assist us to achieve our intermediate outcome that 
government is well-advised.  Minister’s satisfaction with our advice will provide a measure of 
our success, as we build our programme of policy advice over the next three years. 
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Management of organisational risk 
The Risk, Audit and Compliance Committee oversees the management of risks for the 
Commission. The Committee has a work programme to ensure that risks (to the 
Commission’s operations or reputation) are identified, assessed and strategies developed 
for their management. 

The Commission recognises that there are inherent risks associated with its ability to 
achieve its goals and deliver on its work programme.  The Commission’s policy on risk 
management includes the following components: 

• risks are monitored and managed by management, the Risk, Audit and Compliance 
Committee, and the Board on a quarterly basis. 

• the Commission operates on a ‘no surprises’ basis.  It achieves this through 
appropriate sharing of information throughout the organisation and with key 
stakeholders. 

 

How uncertainties may affect the Commission delivering its outputs 
Risk Management 
We will closely monitor the critical risks outlined in the following table and manage these 
risks, and any others identified, to the best of our ability within the existing baseline funding.  
Where our planning and budgeting assumptions change markedly, we will need to work with 
the Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector and the Minister’s advisors at the 
Department of Internal Affairs. 

 
Critical Organisational Risks 
 
Description of the Risk Proposed Mitigating Action 
Cost of processing applications for 
registration 
There is a risk that the financial cost of 
processing applications and registering 
entities will be greater than originally 
anticipated and that sufficient funding may 
not be available  

Continue to monitor outputs and costs.  
Strive for constant process efficiency and 
improvement.  Take early action if future 
activities appear to be threatened or 
outcomes prejudiced by a lack of 
resources. 

Supporting information systems 
The Commission does not have the 
supporting systems necessary to undertake 
its other statutory roles (management of the 
Charities Register, monitoring, 
investigations, etc.) under the Charities Act. 

Develop contingency plan and discuss 
alternative strategies with the Department 
of Internal Affairs.  Ensure that the funding 
requirements are addressed in the business 
case. 
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Description of the Risk Proposed Mitigating Action 
Loss of Key Staff 
As a relatively new and small organisation, 
the Commission is at risk of losing key staff 
at crucial times over the next three years. 

We will maintain and implement HR 
policies, initiatives and incentives to help us 
retain the best staff. 
Ensure that workloads are well managed 
and any concerns are addressed 
satisfactorily. 
Maintain a focused recruitment programme 

Future resourcing needs 
The Commission is required to undertake a 
number of new tasks and activities over the 
next three years to fulfil the requirements 
under the Charities Act 2005.  There is a 
degree of uncertainty surrounding the level 
of work required to complete these tasks and 
activities.  As a result, the level of resourcing 
required is also uncertain at this stage and 
will need to be reviewed on a regular basis 
throughout the period. 

Keep the Board well informed. 
Work through any additional budget 
requirements with the Department of 
Internal Affairs, in preparation for the 
business case. 
Ensure the Minister for the Community and 
Voluntary Sector is fully aware of the 
situation.  
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Developing our organisation 

Organisational capability 
People 
Our objective is to carry out our functions in an effective, professional, responsive and 
transparent way.  To achieve our strategic goals and operational priorities we need people 
who are knowledgeable and experienced in their fields.  They also need to be capable of 
handling the ambiguity and uncertainty of an organisation dealing with new functions and 
have an understanding of both the charitable and the state sectors. 

In 2007/08, the Commission continued its drive to recruit enough staff to receive and 
process all the applications for registration, and to provide information and support to 
charities to enable them to register.  The number of employees in the registration team has 
increased, since July 2007, to forty at the end of June 2008. 

Our focus in 2008/09 will be on enhancing our ‘good employer’ responsibilities in the 
following key areas: 

• Recruitment and retention 
We are committed to being a good employer, therefore, the emphasis will be on 
ensuring the Commission has the right practices and incentives in place to ensure 
that employees are able to contribute, feel valued, develop and grow. 

Over the next six months, we will undertake a review of the people we have, their 
skills and training needs, and the gaps we need to fill.  This review will impact on our 
decision-making with regard to moving away from reliance on fixed term employees 
to a committed and capable permanent workforce. 

Despite a tightening labour market we have managed to recruit and retain talented 
staff.  Feedback from staff is important and valued, therefore we will continue to 
monitor staff satisfaction levels by conducting an annual employee engagement 
survey.  

We will review the salaries of key roles to ensure that we remain competitive within 
the public sector market and will continue to investigate other incentives for staff. 

• Training and development 
We will continue to focus on building our in-house capability by providing 
individualised development plans that support the goals of the organisation and are 
linked to career options.  Individual development priorities will be identified through 
our performance management processes.  Particular emphasis will be on further 
strengthening the ability of managers to lead and develop the organisation over the 
next three years. 

Integrity and Ethics 
The Commission has developed the following policies and procedures to ensure that its 
stakeholders will have confidence and trust in the Commission and its staff –  

• Code of conduct; 
• Fraud; 
• Making a disclosure under the Protected Disclosures Act 2000; 
• Use of the internet; 
• Handling public enquiries; 
• Dealing with complaints regarding the Commission and its staff; 
• Receiving gifts; and 
• ‘Good employer’. 
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Information and Technology 
In order for our people to do their work well they need the right tools and management 
systems. 

In 2006/07, the Commission implemented the original registry system to enable it to receive, 
process and assess applications for registration by charitable entities when the Charities 
Register opened on 1 February 2007.   

Following an independent review of the registry system in November 2006, and the 
Commission’s need for an information management system that would serve it beyond the 
initial registration period, the Commission decided to implement an alternative system to 
meet the future needs of the Commission.  This step was supported by the State Services 
Commission and Department of Internal Affairs.  The new registry system went live on 4 
November 2007. The system now allows charities to enter Officer Certification Forms, 
Annual Returns and Notices of Change online.  

In the next few years, as the Commission looks to fulfil its other statutory functions under the 
Charities Act, its IT systems will need to be further developed to deliver the business 
capability to assist the Commission with reporting; complaints management; monitoring, 
investigation and enforcement; record and information management; and the data interfaces 
with both Statistics New Zealand and the Ministry of Economic Development. 

 
Financial 
Over the next three years, the Commission faces a challenging financial outlook if it is to 
achieve its statutory functions set out in the Charities Act 2005.  There is a risk to the 
delivery of the Commission's outputs in 2008/09, given the current level of applications for 
registration forecast and the projected resources required to process those applications. The 
Commission is managing this risk by making changes to its processes to ensure the 
registration process is as efficient as possible. The Commission is also reviewing the 
assumptions underlying the current level of funding provided. 

The forecast financial statements demonstrate that based on current assumptions and 
funding levels, the Charities Commission is forecast to end the 2008/09 financial year with a 
working capital deficit and consequently may be unable to meet its short-term liabilities at 30 
June 2009.  The Charities Commission, in conjunction with the Department of Internal 
Affairs, is closely monitoring the situation and is working on strategies to mitigate this.  The 
Charities Commission will prepare a business case for its responsible Minister to present to 
Cabinet in the first half of the 2008/09 financial year seeking additional funding in 2008/09 if 
this is required.  If further funding is received that significantly changes the forecast financial 
statements or forecast service performance, an amended Statement of Intent will be 
produced in accordance with section 148 of the Crown Entities Act 2004.  

 

Health of the Organisation 
The Commission has been in existence for three years.  We do not yet have the information 
to assess trends over time in length of service or staff turnover, but will develop appropriate 
measures to monitor the health of the organisation in the next few years. 
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Development goals for the State Services 

As we continue and enhance our organisational capability, we are also conscious of being 
part of the wider State Services, demonstrating a spirit of service to the public and a sense 
of social responsibility.  We are mindful of, and comply with, the relevant administrative 
guidelines issued from time to time by the Office of the Controller and Auditor-General and 
the State Services Commissioner.  This includes our adherence to the development goals 
for the State Services. 

Overall Goal 
The overall goal for the State Services is: “A system of world class professional state 
services serving the Government and meeting the needs of New Zealanders.” 

Development Goals 
The overarching goal is supported by six, more specific, development goals for the State 
Services: 

1. Networked State Services 

2. Value-for-Money State Services 

3. Co-ordinated State Agencies 

4. Accessible State Services 

5. Trusted State Services 

6. Employer of Choice 

 
The Commission is committed to being a ‘good employer’ and is implementing ‘equal 
employment opportunities’ strategies.  We will endeavour to be part of any ‘e-government’ 
initiatives where possible.  The Commission will work with other agencies to improve the 
effective and efficiency of services offered to the charitable sector.  We will be responsive to 
inquiries in a polite and timely manner, and we will promote a code of conduct to ensure that 
the Commission is a highly regarded organisation. 
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Consultation and reporting to the Minister 
In accordance with section 141(1)(g) of the Crown Entities Act 2004, there are no specific 
matters on which the Commission intends to consult or notify the Minister.  However, the 
Commission will adopt the following approach: 

 
No Surprises 
The Commission will ensure that the Minister is adequately warned in advance, where 
prediction is possible, about: 

• issues likely to attract external attention, or represent potential risk to the 
Government 

• key risks or matters that may have a bearing on the role of the Responsible Minister. 

 
The Commission will actively keep both the Minister and the Department of Internal Affairs 
informed through regular meetings between the Chair and the Minister; the Chief Executive 
and officials from the Department; and staff from the Commission and the Minister’s office.  
 
The matters on which the Commission will report to the Minister and the frequency of 
reporting are summarised below: 
 
Reporting 

• Annual Report – as per the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989 
requirements 

• Reporting quarterly against the performance dimensions established in both the 
Statement of Intent and the Output Agreement 

• Financial information showing actual revenue and expenditure against budget for the 
quarter and year to date, and an updated forecast of operating revenue and 
expenditure for the financial year in the second and third quarterly report 

• Risk management – reporting quarterly 

• Monthly report on registration activity – addressing things such as application 
numbers being received; registrations completed, numbers declined, and 
registrations outstanding; processing times and backlogs; and advice on any 
emerging issues.  Up to the end of December 2008, the monthly report will contain 
projections of the number of applications that will be processed by 31 December 
2008 against the budgeted figure of 25,000 applications. 
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Statement of Responsibility 
The Board and management of the Charities Commission are responsible for the 
preparation of the Statement of Intent and prospective financial statements, including the 
assumptions on which the financial statements are based. 

The prospective financial statements have been prepared in accordance with section 142 of 
the Crown Entities Act 2004, NZ IFRS, and NZ FRS-42: Prospective Financial Statements.  

The prospective financial statements have been developed for the purposes of this 
Statement of Intent and to provide a basis for future accountability of the Charities 
Commission, and this information may not be appropriate for other purposes.  The projected 
figures are based on the current information available and are the best projections by the 
Commission in order to meet its future obligations within the existing funding available.  

Please note that the actual results for 2007/08 and 2008/09 are likely to vary from the 
information presented and the variations could be material.  
 
In accordance with section 141(3) of the Crown Entities Act 2004, this Statement of Intent of 
the Charities Commission is signed by Sid Ashton, Chair of the Charities Commission and 
Judith Timpany, Deputy Chair of the Charities Commission on behalf of the Board of the 
Charities Commission. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Sid Ashton      Date  30 June 2008 
Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Judith Timpany     Date  30 June 2008 
Deputy Chair 
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Statement of Forecast Service Performance 
Output Class: Charities Administration 
The Charities Commission has one output class – Charities Administration.  This output 
class provides for the delivery of services that contribute to promoting public trust and 
confidence in charities. 

 
2008/09 Output Summary $000

GST exclusive
Charities Administration: 
Output revenue 3,500.8
Output expense (4,256.0)
Net deficit (755.2)
 
 
The following sections outlines the outputs the Commission intends to deliver over the next 
year.  
 

Output 1.1 – Registration and monitoring of charitable entities 

Output description 
Under this output, the Commission will: 

• receive, consider and process applications for registration as charitable entities 
through an appropriate process 

• ensure the Register of Charitable Entities is compiled and maintained 

• receive, consider and process annual returns submitted by charitable entities 

• monitor registered charitable entities to ensure they maintain their qualification for 
registration 

• monitor and promote compliance with the Charities Act  

Performance information 

 Performance Measures for 2008/09 Standard/Target 
Up to 17,00011.1.1 Number of charities registered 

1.1.2 Percentage of completed applications for 
registration decided within 30 working days 

20-25%  

8,000-10,00021.1.3 Number of annual returns processed 
1.1.4 Percentage of annual returns processed within  25 

working days 
90% 

1.1.5 Register online availability (percentage per month) No less than 97%  
1.1.6 A six monthly independent quality audit on a sample 

of up to 1% of the recommendations for registration 
Indicates no significant areas 
for improvement and shows 
only minor inconsistencies in 
decisions. 

                                                 
1 In total, the Commission anticipates that it will register 25,000 charities since the Charities Register 
opened on 1 February 2007, by the end of December 2008 
2 This target is based on the number of charities registered at 30 June 2008 
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Output 1.2 – Investigate complaints and make inquiries about registered 
charities 

Output description 
Under this output, the Commission will: 

• inquire into charitable entities about conduct that may constitute a breach of the 
Charities Act or serious wrongdoing 

• receive and investigate complaints about charities 

• develop relationships with other enforcement agencies so that enforcement activity is 
coordinated 

• develop relationships with other agencies to contribute to fulfilling New Zealand’s 
international obligations with regard to charities. 

Performance information 

 Performance Measure for 2008/09 Standard/Target 
90%  1.2.1 Percentage of complaints about registered charities 

brought to the Commission’s attention which are 
acknowledged and work is commenced to resolve 
the complaint within 25 working days 

1.2.2 A framework for inquiring into the conduct of 
registered charities is developed and approved by 
the Board 

By 31 March 2009 
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Output 1.3 – Provision of information about charities 

Output description 
Under this output, the Commission will: 

• provide information to the public about the requirements of a registered charity, the 
Register of Charitable Entities and how the Register can be used 

• provide information to the public about how complaints about charities can be made 
to the Commission and what actions the Commission is able to take if the complaint 
is upheld 

• provide information to the public about the work of the Commission with respect to 
education in governance and management of charities 

• supply information for the purposes of the Inland Revenue Acts 

• make information on the Register available to other relevant government and non-
government agencies for analysis 

• develop and implement a pragmatic and relevant research programme, in 
conjunction with other agencies 

• engage with other Crown agencies, tertiary education agencies and private research 
entities to undertake research projects 

• publish relevant and defensible research results to increase knowledge of the 
charitable sector 

• publish occasional reports about charitable organisations. 

 

Performance information 

 Performance Measures for 2008/09 Standard/Target 
By 30 June 2009 1.3.1 A strategic framework for research that is 

responsive to the needs of the charitable sector and 
other agencies is developed and approved by the 
Board 
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Output 1.4 – Provision of advice, education and information to charities 

Output description 
Under this output, the Commission will: 

• foster relationships and networks with the charitable sector 

• provide information and support to help charities to apply for registration and 
complete annual returns under the Charities Act 

• provide information and guidance as required on the implementation of the Charities 
Act and its regulations, and other matters affecting charities 

• engage with the charitable sector and relevant government agencies to identify and 
develop research priorities 

• act as a broker and clearing house for information on governance and management 
relevant to the charitable sector 

• develop expertise in governance and management relevant to the charitable sector 
and make that expertise available through publications, workshops or advisory 
services 

• utilise networks of other agencies to communicate with charities throughput New 
Zealand 

• work with charities to promote the effective use of resources in pursuit of their 
charitable purposes 

• use the information received from our monitoring activities to further develop our 
education programmes 
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Performance information 

 Performance Measures for 2008/09 Standard/Target 
 Registration information and support 
1.4.1 Number of calls answered by the free phone 

advisory service3
Able to answer up to 2,000 
calls per month 
 

1.4.2 Percentage of sample of callers whose queries 
have been met by the free phone advisory service 
(at the time of the call) 

90% 

1.4.3 Percentage of stakeholder feedback indicating 
satisfaction on the appropriateness of the 
information on registration and annual returns on 
the Commission’s website4

90% 

1.4.4 Percentage of stakeholder feedback indicating 
satisfaction on the appropriateness of the material 
included in the registration information pack

90%  
 

 Advice on issues affecting charities 
1.4.5 Work with the charitable sector to define what the 

characteristics of a strong, effective charitable 
sector actually are, or what an effective charity is  

Report to the Board by 30 
June 2009 

1.4.6 To hold one annual meeting, including an 
opportunity for feedback from the charitable sector 
on topics of interest 

Not later than 30 November 
2008 

 Information dissemination 
1.4.7 Size of circulation list for monthly Update 

newsletter  
over 4,000 
 
 

1.4.8 Percentage of readership survey indicating 
satisfaction on appropriateness of Update 
newsletter

90% 

1.4.9 Number of information sheets provided on issues 
such as group registration and funding 

5 

1.4.10 Percentage of stakeholder feedback indicating 
satisfaction on the appropriateness of the 
information sheets

90% 

 
 

                                                 
3 The free phone advisory service will continue to provide information and support for registration, 
annual returns and other regulatory matters 
4 An online survey of registered charities will be conducted by 31 March 2009 to address the: 

• appropriateness of the information on registration and annual returns on the Commission’s 
website 

• appropriateness of the material included in the registration information pack 
• appropriateness of Update newsletter 
• appropriateness of the information sheets 
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Output 1.5 – Provision of policy advice relating to charities 

Output description 
Under this output, the Commission will consider, and report and make recommendations on, 
any matter relating to charities that is referred to it by any Minister of the Crown or on its own 
motion. 

This will include –  

• providing policy advice and support on matters relating to charities, and information 
on the charitable sector to other government agencies 

• providing timely and accurate advice to Government on issues that will assist the 
charitable sector to be more efficient and effective 

• assisting policy makers and others to have a clearer understanding of the charitable 
sector 

In fulfilling the aim to produce policy advice that meets the needs of the stakeholders, the 
Commission requires that, to the extent to which time and cost-effectiveness considerations 
permit, policy advice produced meets the following quality criteria: 

• purpose – advice should be short (where practicable), succinct and clearly focused 

• consistency – advice takes account of other Government policies and decisions, and 
is consistent with the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi 

• logic – the assumptions behind the advice are explicit and argument is logical and 
supported by the facts 

• accuracy – the facts in the advice are legally and statistically accurate and all 
material facts and sources are included 

• options – an appropriate range of options is presented 

• consultation – there is evidence of adequate consultation with other government 
agencies and other affected parties 

• practicality – the problems of implementation, technical feasibility, timing and 
consistency with other policies have been considered 

• impartiality – the Charities Commission strives to provide professional, impartial and 
comprehensive advice to stakeholders 

Performance information 

 Performance Measure for 2008/09 Standard/Target 
 Advice on issues affecting charities 
1.5.1 Policy advice on the relationship of the charitable 

sector to the wider work programme of the 
Government –  
• Percentage of advice delivered in accordance 

with set quality criteria 
• Percentage of advice delivered according to the 

agreed timeframes 
• Percentage of advice considered satisfactory by 

the stakeholder receiving the advice 

 
 
 
100% 
 
100% 
 
90% 
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Prospective Financial Information 
Significant Assumptions and Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Financial planning assumptions 
 
Reporting Entity 
The Charities Commission is a Crown entity established under the Charities Act 2005 and is 
an autonomous Crown entity as defined by the Crown Entities Act 2004.  The Charities 
Commission is domiciled in New Zealand and its ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown. 

The Charities Commission’s primary objective is to provide public services to the New 
Zealand public, as opposed to that of making a financial return. 

Accordingly, the Charities Commission has designated itself as a public benefit entity for the 
purposes of New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ 
IFRS). 

Basis of preparation 
Statement of compliance 
The prospective financial statements have been prepared in accordance with section 142 of 
the Crown Entities Act 2004, NZ IFRS, and the New Zealand Financial Reporting Standard 
(FRS) 42: Prospective Financial Statements. 

Measurement base 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, and are presented in 
New Zealand dollars. 

Uncertainty 
Under the Charities Act 2005, the Charities Commission is to provide a registration system 
for charitable organisations.  As this is an entirely new process, there are a number of 
uncertainties surrounding the underlying assumptions used to develop these prospective 
financial statements.  These uncertainties include: 

• the number of applications for registration; 

• the timing of the receipt of applications; 

• the time to process each application; 

• the time to complete a review of an organisation’s rules to see if it meets the 
charitable purpose test under the requirements of the Charities Act ; 

• the proportion of registered entities with annual gross income greater than or less 
than $10,000.  This affects the projected annual return fees as no fee is payable by a 
registered charity that has annual gross income of less than $10,000 ;  

• the proportion of annual returns received online and in hard copy form.  This affects 
the projected annual return fees as there are different fees payable by a registered 
charity for submitting their annual return online ($50 GST inclusive) or in hard copy 
($75 GST inclusive); and 

• the ability to recruit sufficient qualified staff. 

Where possible, we have used existing information available from the charitable sector as 
well as information from organisations who undertake similar functions within the public 
sector.  However, there is still a risk that some of the underlying assumptions will prove to be 
incorrect.   
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The forecast financial statements demonstrate that based on current assumptions and 
funding levels, the Charities Commission is forecast to end the 2008/09 financial year with a 
working capital deficit and consequently may be unable to meet its short-term liabilities at 30 
June 2009.  The Charities Commission, in conjunction with the Department of Internal 
Affairs, is closely monitoring the situation and is working on strategies to mitigate this.  The 
Charities Commission will prepare a business case for its responsible Minister to present to 
Cabinet in the first half of the 2008/09 financial year seeking additional funding in 2008/09 if 
this is required.  If further funding is received that significantly changes the forecast financial 
statements or forecast service performance, an amended Statement of Intent will be 
produced in accordance with section 148 of the Crown Entities Act 2004. 

 

Accounting Policies 
 
The following accounting policies which materially affect the measurement of financial 
performance and financial position have been applied. 
 
Revenue  
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 

Crown funding 
The Charities Commission is primarily funded through funding received from the Crown, 
which is restricted in its use for the purpose of the Charities Commission meeting its 
objectives as specified in the Statement of Intent.  Such revenue is recognised when earned 
and is reported in the financial period to which it relates. 

Annual return fees 
The Charities Commission derives revenue through annual return fees received from 
registered charities.  Such revenue is recognised when earned and is reported in the 
financial period to which it relates. 

Interest 
The Charities Commission also derives revenue through interest on its investments.  Such 
revenue is recognised when earned and is reported in the financial period to which it relates. 

Leases 
Operating leases 
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an asset to the Charities Commission are classified as operating leases.  Lease payments 
under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease in the Statement of Financial Performance.  The Charities Commission 
leases office premises, printers, photocopiers and two car parks.  As the lessor retains all 
the risks and the ownerships of these leases, they are classified as operating leases. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank accounts, deposits held at call with 
banks and other short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

Debtors and other receivables 
Debtors and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for 
impairment. 
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Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment consist mainly of operational assets.  These include 
leasehold improvements, computer hardware, furniture and fittings, and office equipment. 

Property, plant and equipment are shown at initial cost less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.  

Additions 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will 
flow to the Charities Commission and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value 
when control over the asset is obtained. 

Disposals 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the asset.  Gains and losses on disposals are included in the Statement of 
Financial Performance. 

Subsequent costs 
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Charities Commission and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance as they are incurred. 

Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment at rates 
that will write off the cost of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful 
lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets have 
been estimated as follows: 

Computer Equipment – 4 years (25%) 
Furniture & Fittings – 10 years (10%) 
Office Equipment – 10 years (10%) 
Leasehold Improvements – 12 years (8.3%) 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated remaining useful lives of the improvements, which ever is the shorter. 

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each 
financial year-end. 

Intangible assets 
Software acquisition and development 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring to use the specific software.  

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use by the 
Charities Commission, are recognised as an intangible asset.  Direct costs include the 
software development and employee costs. 

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when 
incurred. 
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Amortisation 
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis 
over its useful life.  Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at 
the date that the asset is derecognised.  The amortisation charge for each period is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.  

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of the classes of intangible assets have 
been estimated as follows: 

Computer Software – 4 years (25%) 
Register Software – 4 years (25%) 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite useful life are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic 
benefits or service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to 
generate net cash inflows and where the Charities Commission would, if deprived of the 
asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits or service potential. 

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the 
carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount.  For assets not carried at a 
revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. 

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

Creditors and other payables 
Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Employment entitlements 
Short-term employee entitlements 
Employee entitlements that the Charities Commission expects to be settled within 12 months 
of balance date are measured at undiscounted nominal values based on accrued 
entitlements at current rates of pay. 

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned, but not 
taken at balance date, and sick leave.  The Charities Commission does not provide long 
service leave or retirement leave. 

The Charities Commission recognises a liability for sick leave to the extent that absences in 
the coming year are expected to be greater than the sick leave entitlements earned in the 
coming year.  The amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can 
be carried forward at balance date, to the extent that the Charities Commission anticipates it 
will be used by staff to cover those future absences. 
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Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
All items in these financial statements are presented exclusive of GST, except for 
receivables and payables, which are presented inclusive of GST.  

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department is 
disclosed separately in the Statement of Financial Position. 

The net GST paid to, or received from the Inland Revenue Department, including the GST 
relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the 
Statement of Cash Flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST. 

Income Tax 
The Charities Commission is, as a public authority, exempt from the payment of income tax.  
Accordingly, no charge for income tax is provided for. 

Litigation fund 
The litigation fund was established to provide funds for major litigation activities.  Interest 
income is reported as income of the Charities Commission in the financial period in which it 
is derived.  Actual direct operating costs of litigation fund cases will be charged against the 
fund.  Reimbursements from the Crown to top up the fund will be shown as income in the 
period in which the Charities Commission’s claim for reimbursement is accepted by the 
Crown.  The balance of the fund is disclosed as a component of taxpayers’ funds in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

Taxpayers’ funds 
This is the Crown’s net investment in the Charities Commission. 

Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(NZ IFRS) 
The impact of the Charities Commission’s transition to NZ IFRS is minimal.  Bank balances 
and short term deposits have been reclassified under the heading “Cash and cash 
equivalents’ and Software acquisition and development have been transferred from 
Property, plant and equipment into “Intangible assets”.  There are no other significant 
differences in accounting policies. 

Changes in Accounting Policies 
No changes are expected to accounting policies during the period. 
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Prospective Financial Statements 
 

 
Statement of Prospective Financial Performance   
For the years ending 30 June     
     
    Projected Projected
    2007/08 2008/09
    $ $
     
Revenue    
 Crown funding   5,747,333 3,148,000
 Annual return fees   8,257 277,750
 Interest   81,377 75,000
     
 Total Operating Revenue   5,836,967 3,500,750
     
 Interest – litigation fund   17,214 19,500
     
Total Revenue   5,854,181 3,520,250
     
Expenses    
 Administration   990,209 709,239
 Audit fees   35,000 35,000
 Board members’ fees   103,614 100,665
 Communication and education   335,294 100,000
 Depreciation and amortisation expense   227,769 311,664
 Occupancy costs   175,289 190,515
 Personnel costs   1,512,216 1,419,537
 Professional fees   143,407 25,000
 Registration – related costs   2,702,767 1,364,380
     
Total Expenses   6,225,565 4,256,000
     

Net Surplus/(Deficit)   
  

(371,384)  (735,750)
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Statement of Prospective Movements in Taxpayers’ 
Funds   
For the years ending 30 June     
     
    Projected Projected
    2007/08 2008/09
    $ $
     
Net surplus/(deficit)    (371,384) (735,750)
    
Total recognised revenues and expenses for the 
year    (371,384) (735,750)
    
Taxpayers’ funds at beginning of year   1,580,498 1,209,114
     
Capital contribution received    - -

Taxpayers’ funds at end of year   
  

1,209,114  473,364
    
Comprising:    
Accumulated funds   953,472 198,222
Litigation fund   255,642 275,142

   
  

1,209,114  473,364
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Statement of Prospective Financial Position   
As at 30 June     
     
    Projected Projected
    2007/08 2008/09
    $ $
     
Taxpayers' Funds    
 Accumulated funds   953,472 198,222
 Litigation fund   255,642 275,142
Taxpayers’ funds    1,209,114  473,364
    
Represented by:    
Current Assets    
 Cash and cash equivalents   683,241 287,129
 Debtors and other receivables   10,000 10,000
 Goods and Services Tax receivable   61,244 33,270
 Total current assets   754,485 330,399
     
Non-Current Assets    
 Property, plant and equipment   357,215 284,987
 Intangible assets   772,208 532,772
 Total non-current assets   1,129,423 817,759
     

TOTAL ASSETS   
  

1,883,908  1,148,158
     
Current Liabilities    
 Employee entitlements   174,794 174,794
 Creditors and other payables   500,000 500,000
 Total current liabilities   674,794 674,794
     
TOTAL LIABILITIES   674,794 674,794
     
NET ASSETS    1,209,114  473,364
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Statement of Prospective Cash Flows    
For the years ending 30 June    
    
   Projected Projected
   2007/08 2008/09
   $ $
    
Cash Flows From Operating Activities   
Cash is provided from:   
 Crown funding  5,747,333 3,148,000
 Annual return fees  8,257 277,750
 Interest received  89,396 75,000
 Interest received – litigation fund  17,214 19,500
 Net GST to be paid  12,219 27,974
    
   5,874,420 3,548,224
Cash is disbursed to:   
 Payments to suppliers  (4,509,862) (2,524,799)

 Payments to employees  (1,505,514) (1,419,537)
    
Net cash outflows used by operating activities (140,956)  (396,112)
    
Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities   
Cash is disbursed to:   
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (88,480) -
 Purchase of intangible assets  (670,150) -
    

Net cash outflows used in investing activities  
  

(758,630) -
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (899,586)  (396,112)
Add opening cash and cash equivalents   1,582,827  683,241
    

Closing cash and cash equivalents carried forward  
  

683,241  287,129



Appendix 

Board Members’ Biographies 
Sid Ashton – Chair 

Sid Ashton, an Officer of the New Zealand Order of Merit for 
services to Māori and the Community, has been a Christchurch 
accountant for over 30 years. Sid chaired the Tax and Charities 
Working Party in 2001/2002.  
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Sid is currently serving as a member of the Creative New Zealand 
Arts Board and as a trustee for the Diabetes Training and Research 
Trust, which is a charitable trust. He is also a Director of Ryman 
Healthcare, a publicly listed company. 

 

Judith Timpany – Deputy Chair 
Judith Timpany is the Chief Executive of the Whanganui Community 
Foundation Inc and a Justice of the Peace. She has qualifications in 
both commerce and community development.  

Judith has 20 years experience in the charitable sector in a broad 
range of community focused activities, including three years as a 
Wanganui City Councillor, Chairmanship of Philanthropy New Zealand 
(currently a board member), and membership of WINGS CF (an 
International Grant maker's body). She has also held several 
corporate directorships.  

Kerry Ayers – Board Member  
 

Kerry Ayers is a practising lawyer who has written extensively on 
trusts and property-related issues, including four legal textbooks. 
His work has also included extensive seminar presentations 
including national seminar series for the New Zealand Law Society 
and the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.  He has 
been involved in extensive work on issues relating to charities law 
and the setting up and administration of charitable entities. 
 
Kerry was also a member of the New Zealand Law Commission 
consultative committee on reform of the law of trusts.  He is a 
former Vice President of the New Zealand Law Society and a former 
board member of the New Zealand Law Foundation. 



 

Ian Calder – Board Member 
Ian Calder, an Officer of the New Zealand Order of Merit for services to 
children and the family, has considerable experience in and knowledge 
of the not-for-profit sector. Ian was the Chief Executive of Barnardos 
New Zealand from 1976-2003, the President of the New Zealand 
Federation of Voluntary Welfare Organisations, Treasurer of the 
International Forum for Child Welfare, and a member of various 
government advisory boards including the 1988-89 Working Party on 
the Taxation of Charities and Sporting Bodies. From 2003 he has been 
a member of the Social Workers’ Registration Board.  

 

Frank Claridge – Board Member 
 

Frank Claridge is a Fellow of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered 
Accountants and serves on the Institute’s Public Benefit Entity Working 
Group, and the Not-for-Profit Sector Advisory Committee. He was the 
Treasurer of the Royal New Zealand Foundation of the Blind for many 
years before retiring, and remains a Trustee of the Foundation’s 
property development trust. Frank has been continuously involved with 
the governance of the Methodist Church since 1962.  He is a Fellow of 
the NZ Trustees Association, and a member of several other 
professional bodies, including the Fundraising Institute of New Zealand.  

Frank served as a member of the Tax and Charities Working Party and 
the Ministry of Economic Development’s Charities Commission Establishment Group. He is 
a past Treasurer of the New Zealand Federation of Voluntary Welfare Organisations.  

Frank has been a Justice of the Peace since 1973. He has presented on various topics to 
many seminars and conferences, and currently works with a large number of community and 
voluntary agencies on capacity and organisational development. 

Amohaere Houkamau – Board Member 
Amohaere Houkamau is the Chief Executive of Te Rūnanga o Ngāti 
Porou, based in Ruatoria, and has played a leading role in developing a 
quadruple bottom-line development strategy for Ngāti Porou.  

Amohaere is a member of the Board of Māori Television Service.  She is 
a trustee of the Tauawhi Trust and the Tairawhiti Development 
Partnership Management Trust, co-chairs the Tairawhiti Social 
Development Forum and E Tipu e Rea – the Ministry of Education and 
Ngāti Porou Education Partnership. 
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DRAFT 
 
 

CHARITIES COMMISSION STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK 
 
 
1. Purpose Statement 
 

The purpose of the Charities Commission is to promote a strong, 
effective charitable sector in which the public has trust and confidence. 

 
 
 
2. Goals 

 This statement of goals are drafted as ends to be achieved. A clear connection to the 
‘Purpose Statement’ can be derived from each element.  

 
We know we will be achieving our purpose when: 
 
• The charitable sector is well governed and managed 
 
• The Government is well informed about the needs of charities and the 

needs of the public in supporting charities  
 
• The public has trust and confidence in the charitable sector 
 
• The Charities Commission is knowledgeable about the charitable sector 

and has credibility with the charitable sector 
 
 
 
 



 
3. Strategies 

These are statements of what we are going to do to achieve our goals The strategies 
will direct those things that the Commission does.  
 

(a) The Commission effectively promotes public trust and confidence 
in the charitable sector by ensuring that: 
  

I. charities can register through an appropriate and straightforward 
process. 

II. the public is aware of the work of the Commission with respect to 
education in governance and management of charities; 

III. the public is aware of how complaints about charities can be made to the 
Commission; 

IV. The public is informed both about the requirements of a Registered 
Charity, the Register, and how it can be used. 

V. A monitoring process that has credibility with key stakeholders including 
those in the charitable sector is implemented.  

 
(b) The Commission makes information available on the size and the 
components of the charitable sector, what the sector’s needs are, and 
what are significant trends in the sector. The Commission: 
 

I. Engages with the sector, and relevant Government Departments to 
identify and develop research priorities  

II. Makes information on the Register available to other relevant 
government and non-government agencies for analysis. 

III. In conjunction with other agencies, develops and implements a 
pragmatic and relevant research programme. 

IV. Engages with other Crown agencies, tertiary education agencies, and 
private research entities for the carrying out of research projects. 

V. Publishes relevant and defensible research results to increase 
knowledge of the charitable sector,  

 
(c)  The Commission provides opportunities for charities to improve 
their governance and management to ensure best practice and 
facilitates the effective use of resources. The Commission: 
 

I. Acts as a broker and clearing house for information on management and 
governance relevant to the charitable sector 

II. Develops expertise in management and governance relevant to the 
charitable sector and makes that expertise available through 
publications, workshops, or advisory services. 

III. Provides services that educate and assist charities in matters of 
governance and management. 

IV. Utilises networks of other agencies to communicate with charities 
throughout New Zealand. 

V. In working with charities, promotes the effective use of resources in 
pursuit of their purposes. 

 
 



 
 
(d)  The Commission provides policy advice relating to charities. The 
Commission: 
 

I. Will provide policy advice and support on matters relating to charities, 
and information on the charitable sector as sought by government 
agencies. 

II. Provides timely and accurate advice to Government on issues that will 
assist the charitable sector to be more efficient and effective. 

III. Assists policy makers and others to have a clearer understanding of the 
charitable sector 

 
(e) The Commission will promote compliance with the Charities Act 
and maintain an accurate and up-to-date register. The Commission: 
 

I. Provide education and information  to assist charities to fulfil their 
obligations under the Charities Act. 

II. Processes applications for registration as a charity and maintains a 
Register of Charities. 

III. Receives annual returns from registered charities. 
IV. Monitors registered charities. 
V. Responds to complaints about registered charities. 

VI. Inquires into registered charities about conduct that may constitute a 
breach of the Act or serious wrongdoing. 

VII. Develops relationships with other enforcement agencies so that 
enforcement activity is coordinated. 

VIII. Develops relationships with other agencies so that New Zealand’s 
international obligations with regard to charities are met. 

 



 

Our principles 
The Charities Commission’s work will be guided by these principles: 

1. Fairness and impartiality - All individuals and organisations with which the 
Commission has dealings will be treated impartially and reasonably, following 
the principles of natural justice; 

2. Consistency – The Commission will ensure that people in similar 
circumstances or with similar issues will be treated similarly in the way the law 
is applied, the processes that are followed, the way policy is applied and the 
decisions that are made; 

3. Transparency – The Commission will explain requirements in plain terms, set 
out the criteria by which decisions are made, explain what is expected from 
charities and provide reasons to explain and justify all decisions. The 
Commission will be able to demonstrate that practice and process is ‘fair and 
reasonable’ and to display appropriate openness in the circumstances;  

4. Legitimacy – The Commission will only use powers that it is authorised to use 
and will ensure that these powers are used properly; 

5. Independence – The Commission will act in the interest of the public in 
carrying out its role and will ensure, consistent with the obligations of an 
Autonomous Crown Entity, that others, unless authorised to do so, will not 
interfere with, direct or control the Commission; 

6. Accountability – The Commission will inform Parliament of its intentions and 
outline how its performance can be assessed each year in the Statement of 
Intent. The Commission will also publish an annual report, which includes an 
audit report.  The Commission is accountable for its decisions through the 
High Court, which can overturn them. The Commission will provide 
information and explanations of its important decisions on its website and will 
engage with its stakeholders prior to introducing major new policies or 
practices;  

7. Responsibility and respect – The Commission will act with an understanding 
of the consequences of its actions and show respect to others in all its 
dealings. 
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What is a “charitable purpose”?

Section 5(1) of the Charities Act 
2005 says that “charitable purpose”

“. . . includes every charitable 
purpose, whether it relates to the 
relief of poverty, the advancement 
of education or religion, or any 
other matter beneficial to the 
community.”

The law surrounding charitable 
purposes is 400 years old. It has 
been developed over time mainly 
by judges’ decisions in court cases. 

“Charitable purpose” has a special 
meaning in law. It may include 
some purposes the public would 
not consider to be charitable and 
it may exclude other purposes 
the public would consider to be 
charitable.

If we are considered “charitable” 
under other legislation, will we 
automatically be considered 
charitable by the Charities 
Commission?

Not necessarily. The definition 
of “charitable purpose” in the 
Charities Act is different from that 
in other legislation, such as the 
Charitable Trusts Act 1957. 

How will the Charities Commission 
decide whether we have a 
“charitable purpose”?

We will compare the purposes 
and activities set out in your rules 
or governing document and the 
activities listed in your application 
form against the meaning of 
“charitable purpose” in section 5(1) 
of the Charities Act. 

We assess each application we 
receive on a case-by-case basis, 
with reference to decisions made 
in earlier court cases, to decide 
whether the organisation applying 
has a “charitable purpose”. 

How will we know whether our 
organisation has a “charitable 
purpose”? 

In order for a purpose to be 
charitable, it must —

1. fall within one of the four 
charitable purposes set out 
in section 5(1) of the Charities 
Act (see “What is a charitable 
purpose?” on page 1) and 

2. provide a public benefit and 

3. not be aimed at creating 
private financial profit. 

“Charitable purpose” has a 

special meaning in law. We 

use examples to illustrate the 

treatment of charitable purpose 

under the Charities Act. 

Charitable Purpose
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In some cases, a specific Act 
of Parliament will state that 
the purposes of a particular 
organisation are charitable. 

How will we know if our purpose 
“relieves poverty”?

To be charitable under this 
category, your organisation’s 
purpose must —

• be directed at people who are 
poor, in need, aged, or suffering 
genuine hardship, and 

• provide relief. 

“Poverty” is interpreted broadly 
in law. People who are in need, 
aged, or who are suffering 
genuine financial hardship from 
a temporary or long-term change 
in their circumstances are likely to 
qualify for assistance. Generally, 
this includes anyone who does not 
have access to the normal things 
of life that most people take for 
granted.

To provide “relief”, the people who 
benefit should have an identifiable 
need arising from their condition 
that requires support. These people 
should have difficulty in addressing 
that need themselves. 

Courts have found the following 
purposes to “relieve poverty” —

• caring for the aged, children, or 
orphans 

• caring for the infirm, blind, war 
veterans, or disabled 

• caring for the intellectually 
disabled, discharged prisoners, 
or alcoholics 

• providing accommodation 
for elderly people, patients’ 
relatives, staff at hospitals and 
emergency shelters 

• helping other needy persons 
(for example, refugees) or 
providing disaster relief. 

How will we know if our purpose 
“advances education”?

To be charitable under this 
category, your organisation’s 
purpose must — 

• provide some form of 
education, and 

• ensure learning is passed on to 
others.

The modern concept of “education” 
covers formal education, training 
and research in specific areas 
of study and expertise. It also 
includes less formal education 
in the development of individual 
capabilities, competencies, skills 
and understanding. It does not 
include propagandist or political 
purposes.

To “advance” education, learning 
must be passed on to others. If 
research is to be conducted, it must 
be in an objective and impartial 
way and the useful results made 
available, or accessible, to the 
public.

Courts have found the following 
purposes to “advance education” —

• providing education through 
early childhood centres, schools 
and universities 

• providing scholarships 
and prizes for academic 
achievement 

• founding and supporting 
schools, technical colleges, and 
universities 

• providing or improving 
sporting facilities for schools or 
universities 

• providing museums and 
libraries 

• developing the character of 
young people (for example 
some youth groups) 

• delivering vocational training 

• publishing and selling law 
reports. 

How will we know if our purpose 
“advances religion”?

To be charitable under this 
category, your organisation’s 
purpose must —

• be for the benefit of a religion 
and 

• ensure a religious faith is 
passed on to others. 

The term “religion” includes many 
different faiths and belief systems 
(for example, Christianity, Judaism, 
Islam, Hinduism, and Buddhism). 
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Generally, to be religious there 
needs to be —

• a belief in a supernatural being, 
thing, or principle, and 

• an acceptance of conduct in 
order to give effect to that 
belief. 

To “advance” religion, the faith 
must be passed on to others 
by promoting it, spreading its 
message, or taking positive 
steps to sustain and increase the 
religious belief. 

For example, a court has said that 
religion is not advanced by an 
entirely enclosed religious order 
where the activities consist only 
of private prayer. (Alternatively, a 
court has said that offering public 
prayers for the soul of a deceased 
person gives benefit to all who 
hear them.)

Courts have found the following 
purposes to “advance religion” —

• celebrating religious services in 
public 

• conducting foreign missionary 
work 

• providing and maintaining 
grounds and buildings to be 
used by churches or other 
religious organisations 

• maintaining cemeteries or 
burial grounds for a particular 
religion 

 

• providing superannuation 
schemes for the retirement of 
ministers of religion 

• supplying religious literature 

• providing religious education 
through Sunday schools, 
theological colleges, and 
conducting religious retreats. 

How will we know if our purpose 
“is another matter beneficial to 
the community”?

Not all organisations which 
have purposes that benefit the 
community will be charitable. 
The purposes must benefit the 
community in a way that the law 
regards as charitable.

To be charitable under this 
category, the organisation’s 
purpose must be —

• very similar to the spirit and 
intent of those purposes listed 
in the Preamble to the Statute 
of Elizabeth (see the box 
alongside) or very similar to a 
charitable purpose as decided 
by the courts and 

• beneficial to the community. 

The Statute of Elizabeth (otherwise 
known as the Charitable Uses Act 
1601) was passed in England to 
protect and prevent the misuse of 
charitable funds. 

The preamble to the Statute 
contained the following list of 
purposes considered charitable at 
that time:

• relief of aged, impotent, and 
poor people

• maintenance of sick and 
maimed soldiers and mariners

• schools of learning

• free schools and scholars in 
universities

• repair of bridges, ports, 
havens, causeways, churches, 
sea banks, and highways

• education and preferment of 
orphans

• relief, stock or maintenance of 
houses of correction

• marriage of poor maids

• supportation, aid and 
help of young tradesmen, 
handicraftsmen, and persons 
decayed

• relief or redemption of 
prisoners or captives and

• aid or ease of any poor 
inhabitants concerning 
payment of fifteens, setting 
out of soldiers and other 
taxes.
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Over the years, courts have 
recognised many new charitable 
purposes that are very similar 
to those categorised in 1601, 
acknowledging that what is 
accepted as a “charitable purpose” 
must change to reflect current 
social and economic circumstances. 

The courts have considered 
whether:

• the new purpose is very 
similar to a purpose previously 
accepted as charitable, and 

• whether it satisfies the 
requirement that the purpose 
benefits the public. 

Courts have found the following 
purposes to be “beneficial to the 
community” —

• promoting public health 
(such as providing education, 
counselling, and rehabilitation 
services) 

• providing public works and 
services (such as building roads, 
maintaining a water supply, 
and providing cremation or 
burial services) 

• providing public amenities and 
recreational facilities (such as 
public halls, libraries, museums, 
statues, fountains, playing 
fields, gymnasiums, swimming 
pools, parks, and botanical 
gardens) 

• protecting the environment 
(such as revegetation, 
afforestation, and conservation) 

• protecting human life (such as 
providing emergency rescue 
services) 

• preventing cruelty to, and 
protecting the welfare of, 
animals (such as providing 
animal shelters or sanctuaries) 

• facilitating social rehabilitation 
(such as integrating people 
back into the community who 
have a disability or some form 
of deprivation) 

• promoting the efficiency of the 
armed forces. 

As well as development of the law 
through the Courts, section 61A 
of the Charitable Trusts Act 1957 
says that it is charitable to provide, 
or help to provide, facilities for 
recreation or other leisure-time 
occupation, if the facilities are 
provided in the interests of social 
welfare, and there is a public 
benefit.

“In the interests of social welfare” 
means that:

a. the facilities must be provided 
to improve the conditions of 
life for the people for whom the 
facilities are primarily intended 
and

b.  either:

-  those people need those 
facilities because of their youth, 
age, infirmity, disability, poverty, 
race, occupation, or social or 
economic circumstances; or

-  the facilities are available to all 
members of the public, or to all 
male or all female members of 
the public. 

Among other things, this applies to 
providing facilities at public halls, 
community centres, and women’s 
institutes, and to providing and 
maintaining grounds and buildings 
to be used for recreation or leisure-
time activities. It also extends to 
the organising of any activity. There 
must always be a public benefit 
from any of these activities. 

The Courts have said that it is not 
necessary to establish that the 
facilities are primarily intended 
for people who are socially 
disadvantaged in some way in 
order to be “in the interests of 
social welfare”. 

It is enough that the facilities are 
provided with the aim of improving 
the conditions of life for members 
of the community in general.
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How will we know whether our 
organisation provides a “public 
benefit”?

To provide a public benefit —

• there must be an identifiable 
benefit and 

• the benefit must be available to 
the general public, or to a wide 
section of the public. 

Benefit

Your organisation should be able 
to clearly identify its public benefit. 
Indirect benefits (where the benefit 
extends beyond the immediate 
beneficiaries) as well as direct 
benefits, may be taken into account 
in assessing whether you provide 
sufficient benefit to the public. 
For example, a court has said that 
assisting nurses in promoting 
efficient nursing services provides 
an indirect benefit to patients.

If your purpose is illegal or, if 
taking into account all the relevant 
facts and circumstances, there is 
a benefit that is outweighed by a 
greater harm to the community, no 
benefit will result. 

You must not have a primary 
purpose which is political because 
it is not possible to judge whether 
a proposed change in the law will, 
or will not, provide a benefit to the 
public. A “political purpose” means 

any purpose directed at furthering 
the interests of any political 
party; or securing or opposing 
any change in the law or in the 
policy or decisions of central or 
local government, whether in this 
country or overseas. 

For example, a court has said 
that a society seeking to prevent 
changes to the law advocated by 
another group will be political. 
Refer to “What happens if we have 
purposes that are not charitable?” 
on page 6 and to our information 
sheet - “Advocacy” and the Charities 
Act. 

Public

Your benefit must be to the 
general public, or to an appreciable 
section of the public. Beneficiaries 
may be defined by charitable 
needs, a particular geographical 
area, or other criteria provided the 
resulting number of beneficiaries 
is sufficiently open in nature. 
If it is difficult to describe your 
beneficiaries using objective 
and impersonal terms, this may 
indicate that your organisation is 
established for private rather than 
public benefit.

Consider the following:

• If your organisation’s benefits 
are available to anyone who 
needs them and chooses to 

take advantage of them, it 
provides benefit to all the 
public, even though in some 
cases the number of actual 
beneficiaries may be quite 
small. 

• Any limits placed upon who 
benefits must be justifiable and 
reasonable given the nature of 
the charitable purpose. 

• Section 5(2)(a) of the Charities 
Act says that if beneficiaries of 
a trust or members of a society 
or institution are related by 
blood, this will not, of itself, 
prevent you from satisfying the 
public benefit requirement. This 
applies to all trusts, societies, 
and institutions. 

• You may charge fees that cover 
more than the cost of the 
services or facilities you provide, 
unless the charges are so high 
that some members of the 
public could not afford them. 

• If your organisation provides 
or maintains facilities for 
the benefit of the public, 
any restrictions on public 
access must be reasonable 
and appropriate in the 
circumstances. 

• Courts have tended to more 
easily recognise public benefit 
(both direct and indirect) where 
the charitable purpose is the 
relief of poverty. 
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• Where your members are 
also the beneficiaries, any 
restrictions placed on who 
may become a member must 
be reasonable and justifiable 
in the circumstances. Benefits 
must still be provided to a wide 
section of the public, whether 
they are members or non-
members. Courts have found 
that providing amusement, 
entertainment, or social 
activities for members of an 
organisation are private rather 
than public benefits. 

How will we know if our 
organisation is aimed at creating 
private financial profit?

The Commission must be satisfied 
that all money and benefits 
flowing from your organisation are 
directed towards advancing your 
charitable purposes.

You may meet this requirement by 
including clauses in your rules that 
ensure that the payment of money, 
advantage, or benefit (including 
salaries and wages) is directed at 
achieving your charitable purposes.

If you are a trust wishing to make 
a payment or benefit to a trustee, 
your rules (trust deed) must clearly 
allow this payment. 

If there is a clause in your rules 
relating to winding-up your 
organisation, this must state 
that any remaining assets, after 
debts and liabilities have been 
settled, must be directed to a 
charitable purpose (or to another 
organisation with charitable 
purposes). For more details about 
rules see our information sheet – 
Your rules and the Charities Act. 

Usual good governance rules apply. 
This includes the requirement 
for people not to be involved 
in decisions where they have a 
personal interest, financial or 
otherwise. 

What happens if we have purposes 
that are not charitable?

Section 5(3) of the Charities Act 
says that having a non-charitable 
purpose will not prevent an 
organisation from qualifying as 
a charitable entity if the non-
charitable purpose is ancillary 
(secondary) to a charitable purpose 
of the entity. Section 5(4) clarifies 
that a non-charitable purpose 
must be:

“(a) ancillary, secondary, 
subordinate, or incidental to a 
charitable purpose of the trust, 
society, or institution and

(b) not an independent purpose of 
the trust, society, or institution.” 

 If your non-charitable purposes 
are simply inevitable or unintended 
consequences of the primary 
purpose, they will be considered 
to be ancillary. However, if your 
non-charitable purposes are 
significant in themselves, they will 
not be considered to be ancillary. 
For more information, refer to our 
information sheet - “Advocacy” and 
the Charities Act. 

Further information

For more information about  
the Charities Commission  
or registration under the  
Charities Act, please browse 
www.charities.govt.nz

You can also call the Charities 
Commission on our free 
information line 0508 242 748. 

To get updates by email,  
please send your name, 
organisation and contact details 
to info@charities.govt.nz

Charitable Purpose
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Introduction 
 
This first quarterly report for the year ending 30 June 2009 outlines the work of 
the Charities Commission (the Commission) as it continues to register charities 
and undertakes its monitoring functions.  
 
The Commission has now registered 13,354 charities to the end of September 
2008.  In the first three months of the 2008/09 financial year, the Commission 
registered 5,136 charities. 
 
The Commission’s priority in the near term is to complete the initial reviews of 
all properly completed applications for registration received by 30 June 2008 by 
the end of December 2008.  The Commission received 21,943 properly 
completed applications by 30 June 2008 and at the end of September 2008, 
had completed the initial reviews on 18,347 of them.  The Commission expects 
to have made a decision (that is, approved or declined) on the majority of the 
properly completed applications received by this date, but this is dependent on 
the applicants providing additional information where this is requested. 
 
The main risk to the Commission in achieving the projected target is the loss of 
key registration staff.  
 
The Commission continues to receive new applications for registration and 
since 1 July 2008 has received a further 2,103 properly completed applications 
to the end of September. 
 
The Commission has also continued to receive annual returns and to the end of 
September 2008, has now received a total of 736 annual returns and processed 
456 of them.  
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Overview 
 
Key developments 
 
Registration progress 
 
Registration numbers 
As at 30 September 2008, the Commission has received 24,046 properly 
completed applications from charities.  Of those, the Commission has registered 
13,354 charities; declined 17 applications; is processing 4,607 applications; has 
5,699 still to be processed; and 369 applications had been withdrawn.  The 
Commission has de-registered 17 charities (at their request).  The Commission 
has received a further 2,989 ‘incomplete’ applications that may progress to 
properly completed applications. 
 
During the first quarter, the Commission continued to specifically target its 
communications to those in the sector who still had applications in the 
processing queues. The aim was to explain the causes of the delays and to 
assure them that most would be eligible for their registration to be backdated to 
30 June 2008. We also provided information on the Inland Revenue transition 
arrangements for those applicants who had missed the 30 June 2008 deadline. 
 
Registered charities received communications encouraging them to take 
advantage of the facility to file their Annual Returns online as this involves 
reduced work on their part. Further information was supplied to assist in the 
completion of Annual Returns and to outline the consequences of a failure to 
file.  
 
Registration processing 
Throughout the first quarter, the Commission has continued to focus on the 
streamlining of processes to increase efficiency.  The backdating of the 
thousands of applications received prior to the tax change date of 30 June 2008 
was actioned electronically so that analysts only had to approve this where it 
was appropriate. Increased emphasis has been placed on identifying further 
administration tasks that can be completed by operations staff so that analysts 
are used more efficiently.  
 
The pattern of appointing analyst staff to intermediate roles once they have 
sufficient experience and have demonstrated the appropriate quality of work 
continues. This position allows them to work without additional quality checks 
for straightforward applications (approximately 70% of applications received fit 
into this category).  Random checks carried out on the work of these 
intermediates has shown no evidence of problem decision-making. This move 
has enabled the more senior staff to give priority to the more complex 
applications. By the end of the first quarter, 22 of the 29 registration analysts 
had achieved this status. This pattern will continue into the next quarter as the 
newer staff demonstrate they have both sufficient experience and an ability to 
deliver quality analysis. In addition, three intermediate analysts have been given 
a higher duties allowance to consider applications where the issues relate to 
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problematic winding up clauses or the lack of private pecuniary profit clauses. 
This will help lessen the backlog of applications awaiting senior consideration. 
 
In this quarter the Commission received a small number of expressions of 
concern about the public display of officers’ signatures on our website. As a 
consequence we have revised our practices relating to the display of 
Application Forms and Officer Forms and replaced them with an electronic 
Application Record.  
 
Registration staff recruitment 
The Registration team began the first quarter with one vacancy and faced 
further resignations during the quarter. The key risk for the team at this point is 
the loss of experienced staff because the majority of them have fixed term 
contracts to the end of February 2009. To counteract the impact of further 
resignations, the Commission set out to recruit additional staff to provide a 
buffer against future losses. Additional recruitments of three staff in August and 
a further three in late September (one to replace a staff member who left) have 
meant that the number of registration analysts is five above the originally 
agreed complement of twenty four at the end of the quarter. This latest 
recruitment round is considered to be the last that is feasible to tackle the 
backlog. The replacements require the investment of time and training to be 
fully productive.  
 
The continued in-flow of new staff has put considerable pressure on in-house 
training resources but the team has still delivered a higher monthly average for 
registrations than in the previous quarter (1,712 per month compared with 1,480 
per month).  
 
Range of registration applications received 
The Commission continues to see applications from a mix of charities, 
including incorporated charitable trust boards, trustees of trusts, 
incorporated societies, unincorporated societies and companies.  
 
Of the charities registered, the main sectors of operation are: 

• education/training/research (21%) 

• religious activities (19%) 

• other (14%) 

• health (9%) 

• social services (8%) 

• arts/culture/heritage (8%). 
 
A breakdown of the main centres is stable in relation to the end of the previous 
financial year in that 17% of registered charities operate in Auckland, 12% in 
Canterbury, 11% in Wellington-Wairarapa, 8% in Waikato and 7% in Otago. 
24% of registered charities operate nationwide. 
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Registration risks 
The major risks in the registration area are as follows: 

• the ability to achieve the projected targets is dependent on the retention of 
staff; 

• the increased volume of Notices of Change, Annual Returns and general 
correspondence could serve to divert staff from the focus on registration; 

 
Notices of Change and Annual Returns 
The Commission is processing both Notices of Change and Annual Returns 
from registered charities. As at 30 September 2008 Operations staff had 
processed 1,608 Notices of Change and analyst staff 456 Annual Returns. 
Notices of Change can generally be completed by Operations staff as they 
mostly relate to routine administrative changes by the charity, rather than 
matters that may affect their continued registration as a charity. This work being 
undertaken by the Registration Team is an additional task over and above 
registration applications.  
 
All public documents associated with both Notices of Change and Annual 
Returns, including financial accounts, are publicly available on the 
Commission’s website. Steps have also been taken to ensure that as charities 
file amendments to their rules that these are also displayed on the public 
website. 
 
The volume associated with these requirements is expected to rise in the next 
quarter and increase the pressure on staff resourcing. 
 
Reporting on registration progress 
The Commission has focused in this quarter on recording its progress and on 
providing projections on the likely timing and volume of the completion of 
consideration of registration applications received prior to 30 June 2008. This 
reporting has highlighted the significance of the initial review completed by 
analysts in predicting outcomes. Current projections are that with existing staff 
and existing systems the Commission would be able to complete the initial 
reviews for all properly completed applications received on or before 30 June 
2008 by 31 December 2008.  
 
IT Register 
 
Work has begun on reviewing the processes around Annual Returns to ensure 
that we are able to handle the estimated 25,000 Annual Returns each year.  
The review will look at clarifying the roles between the Registration Team and 
the Finance Team; determining the information needs for the Register and the 
finance system (GreenTree); and clarifying our policy regarding non-compliance 
and unpaid annual return fees. 
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We mentioned in previous quarterly reports that Phase 3 of the New Systems 
Project, to replace the original Datacom-developed registration software, was 
not funded.  Phase 3 was to have delivered the business capability to assist the 
Commission with reporting; complaints management; monitoring, investigation 
and enforcement; record and information management; and the data interfaces 
with both Statistics New Zealand and the Ministry of Economic Development.  In 
the meantime, manual processes have been implemented where necessary.   
 
We now intend to review our future IT requirements before the end of June 
2009 and may need to submit a capital budget bid at a later date when these 
requirements are more certain. 
 
Corporate 
 
Funding for 2008/09 and out-years 
Discussions with the Department of Internal Affairs (DIA) regarding additional 
funding for 2008/09 (and out-years) continued during the first quarter.  DIA 
proposed that the baseline review (planned to be completed in October 2008) 
be deferred until the Commission reaches a “business as usual” state and was 
replaced by a business case that would cover all of the Commission’s activities 
in the financial years until the rescheduled baseline review is completed.  
 
The development of the business case progressed steadily during July and 
August.  The draft business case was circulated to Board members for 
comment on 1 August 2008.  The draft was also given to DIA so they could 
consult both internally and with other interested agencies.  A further discussion 
was held on 12 August with two members of the Board and DIA.  
 
The final business case was approved by Sid Ashton and Frank Claridge on 
Monday 25 August and sent to both the Minister and DIA.  DIA prepared the 
Cabinet paper that supported the Commission’s case for additional funding, but 
not to the level requested.  
 
The Cabinet Social Development Committee considered the paper on the 
funding of the Commission on 10 September 2008 and agreed with the 
additional funding recommended by DIA.  Cabinet approved the following 
funding package on 15 September –  
 
 2008/09

$m
2009/10

$m
2010/11 

$m 
2011/12 

& out 
years

$m
Current Crown-funded baseline 3.148 2.244 2.244 2.244
New baseline funding 2.784 2.600 2.600 2.600
New Crown-funded baseline 5.932 4.844 4.844 4.844
Contingency 2.000 0
 
The Commission will be revising its operating budgets for 2008/09, 2009/10 and 
2010/11 early in the second quarter. 
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Legal 
 
The Commission’s Legal Team has continued to provide advice on legal 
matters relating to registration, official information requests, Commission 
policies, communications and education material. 
 
The team has advised on complaints received by the Commission from the 
public with regard to the conduct and governance of individual charities.  A 
number of these complaints have been referred to external enforcement 
agencies for further action.   
 
The Legal Counsel has instructed Crown Law in relation to the Travis Trust 
appeal, which is expected to be heard in the High Court in November, and also 
external barristers David McLay (to carry out a review of registration decisions) 
and Karen Clark QC (to advise on Commission enforcement and monitoring 
related matters). 
 
The team is also working on a review of the forms and the regulations to identify 
areas that may warrant amendment.  In a longer-term project, the team is also 
identifying areas for potential amendment in terms of the Charities Act.  As part 
of this project, the Legal Counsel will look to raise matters with the Law 
Commission where these come within the scope of the Law Commission’s 
forthcoming review of charitable trusts. 
 
Policy 
 
The Commission’s focus to ensure policy and practice supports the registration 
process under the Charities Act has continued during this quarter.  However, 
with the Commission approaching the end of the initial registration process, the 
focus is moving to post-registration functions, including managing the ongoing 
annual return process and ensuring the Commission becomes an effective 
monitoring agency under the provisions of the Charities Act.  
 
The Board has examined the interrelationship between the receipt and 
consideration of annual returns and notices of change in accordance with the 
provisions of the Charities Act, and the more regulatory powers of the 
Commission to impose administrative penalties, initiate inquiries and deregister 
charities. The Board has considered its approach to the use of administrative 
penalties for failure to file annual returns and notices of change, and resourcing 
and process options in relation to management of annual returns. This 
consideration has built on previous advice relating to the Board’s functions to 
monitor charitable entities and their activities, and to monitor and promote 
compliance with the Charities Act. 
 
As the registration process progresses, the Commission has taken the 
opportunity to review initial policy directions in light of actual applications for 
registration. In this quarter, the Commission’s approach to the treatment of non-
resident entities has been reviewed and confirmed.  
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Within previous funding constraints, and with regard to the Commission’s 
powers under the Charities Act, the Commission has responded appropriately 
to a steady flow of complaints, concerns and information about both registered 
and non-registered organisations from the public. The Commission currently 
manages these complaints by dealing directly with the ‘complainant’, or by 
referring the complaint to other agencies, such as Crown Law, the Registrar of 
Charitable Trusts, Inland Revenue and the Police, where this is appropriate 
given their role and interest in relation to the organisation at issue. Looking 
forward, the demands on the Commission to be more involved in this area will 
grow. With some funding now approved, the Commission will be looking to start 
scoping the activities for its monitoring and investigative functions later in this 
financial year.  This should reduce the risk in this area for the Commission, 
particularly with regard to the Commission’s reputation as an effective regulator. 
 
The Board has also considered the results from a research exercise, conducted 
towards the end of the last quarter, to establish initial benchmarks for the 
current level of public trust and confidence in charities. The Board noted that a 
useful benchmark had been put in place for future reference, and agreed in 
principle, that it would be useful to conduct the exercise again in two years time. 
 
Communication and education activities 
 
During the quarter, the Commission continued its messaging to explain its 
backdating powers, and promoted Inland Revenue messaging about transition 
arrangements. 
 
The Commission sent two tailored communications to charities whose 
applications are in initial and quality review processing queues, to provide 
information about processing timeframes and help manage enquiries. 
 
The Communications team developed and promoted messaging about annual 
returns, piloted an annual returns workshop, and reviewed and further 
developed education resources about annual returns. 
 
The Commission has continued to maintain its profile amongst the charitable 
sector by attending sector events, using these opportunities to make 
presentations emphasising its messaging, and to respond to questions. 
 
Members of the Board and executive also continued to address charities at 
different locations around the country, and were well-received at these 
engagements. 
 
The Commission received coverage or mention in a number of external 
publications and in news media during the quarter.  It continued to release its 
monthly Update to the sector.  At the end of September, approximately 3,900 
copies of Update were sent out by email, and approximately another 100 by 
post. 
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Crown stakeholder relationships 
 
The active relationship between the Inland Revenue Department and the 
Commission continues to be strong. Close engagement continues in areas of 
information exchange, communications messaging, legal research and policy 
development.  
 
Inland Revenue and DIA continue to seek information and advice from the 
Commission when this will usefully assist them in servicing their Ministers.  
 
Inland Revenue consulted with the Commission on their draft administrative 
guidelines relating to the treatment of non-resident entities that advise they are 
committed to a charitable purpose. These guidelines have clarified for non-
resident entities the relationship between the Commission’s registration process 
and Inland Revenue's process to consider non-resident entities as tax charities 
for the purposes of relevant tax legislation. 
 
The Commission’s engagement with the Department of Internal Affairs has 
focussed on ensuring that Department officials have a better understanding of 
the Commission’s registration decision-making processes.   
 
The Commission continues to work with the Ministry of Economic Development 
(MED) and Statistics New Zealand regarding information sharing.  The 
Companies Office of MED has been consulted on what financial information it is 
interested in receiving from incorporated societies that are also registered 
charities.    
 
The Commission continues to monitor the New Zealand Law Commission’s 
reviews that relate to the Commission’s role as a Crown Entity, and as an entity 
that maintains a register that is accessible to the public. In relation to the 
Charities Register, the Commission has reviewed its processes to enable 
practical recognition of individual privacy concerns. This review occurred after 
discussion with the Privacy Commissioner. The Commission has also sought 
the views of the Ombudsman on what uses can be made of the information 
contained on the Charities Register.   
 
The Commission’s work with the NZ Police to develop a Memorandum of 
Understanding to govern the relationship between the two agencies is 
continuing. This has focussed on mechanisms for sharing of information 
between the two agencies, based on an understanding of the regulatory 
framework that the Commission operates within. 
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Priorities 
 
The Commission’s priorities, as stated in the Commission’s Statement of Intent 
2008-2011, are: 

• By being an effective regulator, the Charities Commission contributes to 
the public having trust and confidence in the charitable sector. 

• By providing information to charities and the charitable sector, the 
Charities Commission contributes to a charitable sector that is well 
governed and managed, and uses its resources effectively. 

• By providing information to the Government, the Charities Commission 
assists the Government to meet the needs of charities and the needs of 
the public in supporting charities. 

 
We have a responsibility to coordinate our work with other agencies working 
with the sector, establish the boundaries of our work and determine how best to 
work together. 
 
The Commission’s priority in the near term is to complete the initial reviews of 
all properly completed applications for registration received by 30 June 2008 by 
the end of December 2008. 
 
Emerging issues 
 
The issue of funding for the Commission in 2008/09, which arose in the third 
quarter of 2007/08, has now been resolved through the outcome of the 
business case for additional funding in September.  
 
The business case covered not only the completion of the assessment of the 
applications for registration received by 30 June 2008 by the end of December 
2008 but also some of the other statutory functions of the Commission that will 
become more important from March 2009 onwards: 

• Processing of Annual Returns – the Commission commenced receiving 
Annual Returns from registered charities in September 2007. However 
after the processing of the initial applications for registration is 
completed, the processing of the annual returns will become more of a 
focus. In June 2009, it is estimated that the Commission will receive over 
4,500 annual returns. 

• Monitoring and promoting compliance with the Charities Act and inquiring 
into conduct that is in breach of the Act, or that constitutes serious 
wrongdoing – the Commission is already receiving complaints about 
charities that it must deal with to some extent, despite not being funded 
for these functions. It is clear that members of the public see the 
Commission as having a clear role where there are charities involved in 
some perceived wrongdoing. The Commission will start scoping the 
activities for these functions later in this financial year. 

• Educating and assisting charities with good governance and 
management – the Commission will also need to start developing this 
function in the next twelve to eighteen months. 
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Output delivery 
 
At 30 September 2008, as agreed, the Commission had received the full 
amount of the original 2008/09 appropriation – $3.148 million.  The timing for 
the receipt of the additional funding for 2008/09, as approved by Cabinet in 
September 2008, is still to be confirmed with the Department of Internal Affairs.  
 
 
Organisational capability 
 
Planning processes 
Following the results of the business case, a draft restructuring proposal and 
revised operating budgets have been prepared for consideration at the October 
Board meeting.  We will commence the necessary recruitment process after 
decisions are made on the future structure of the organisation. 
 
Staffing 
As at the end of September 2008, the Commission had 18 permanent staff and 
46 staff on fixed term contracts.  The majority of the registration staff are on 
fixed term contracts.  
 
A major risk for the Commission in the short term is loss of key staff. 
 
Major IT projects 
The major IT project for the Commission has been the New Systems Project 
relating to the development of the Commission’s IT systems. Phases 1 and 2 of 
the New Systems Project were delivered to the Commission early in November 
2007. Phase 3 was not funded. 
 
Phase 3 was to have delivered the business capability to assist the Commission 
with reporting; complaints management; monitoring, investigation and 
enforcement; record and information management; and the data interfaces with 
both Statistics New Zealand and the Ministry of Economic Development.  
 
We now intend to complete a review our future IT requirements by the end of 
June 2009.  
 
 

 11



Financial management 
 
A set of financial reports of the Commission for the quarter ending 30 
September 2008 are included near the end of this report. 
 
The statement of financial performance for the quarter shows a deficit of 
$965,321 compared to a budgeted deficit of $314,782 for the same period.  
 
The Commission is revising its operating and capital budgets for 2008/09 
following Cabinet’s approval of additional funding for the Commission for the 
three year period 2008/09 to 2010/11. 
 
At 30 September 2008, the Commission had negative working capital 
(excluding the Litigation fund) of $664,859 due to the recognition of the original 
2008/09 appropriation received in July, as income received in advance. 
 
 
Upcoming events 
 
The Commission will hold its annual meeting on Thursday, 27 November 2008, 
in Wellington.  As well as fulfilling its statutory obligations to present its financial 
statements and provide an opportunity for the sector to ask questions and make 
submissions, the Commission will incorporate a forum for charities, to discuss 
the theme of “good governance for the charitable sector”. 
 
The Commission will also sign off its annual report and audit for the year ended 
30 June 2008 by the end of October 2008. 
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Risk 
 
[This section has been withheld under section 9(2)(g)(i) of the Official 
Information Act to maintain the effective conduct of public affairs through 
the free and frank expression of opinions by or between or to Ministers of 
the Crown.] 
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Performance against Output Agreement 
 
The Output class for the Commission is Charities Administration. This output 
class provides for the delivery of services that contribute to promoting public 
trust and confidence in charities.  
 
The services being delivered include: 

• registration and monitoring of charitable entities 

• investigation of complaints, and making inquiries about registered charities 

• provision of information about charities 

• provision of advice, education and information to charities  

• provision of policy advice relating to charities. 
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Output 1.1: Registration and monitoring of charitable entities 
 
Under this output, the Commission will: 

• receive, consider and process applications for registration as charitable entities 
through an appropriate process 

• ensure the Register of Charitable Entities is compiled and maintained 

• receive, consider and process annual returns submitted by charitable entities 

• monitor registered charitable entities to ensure they maintain their qualification 
for registration 

• monitor and promote compliance with the Charities Act. 

Performance information 

 Performance Measure Standard/Target Achieved to 30 September
1.1.1 Number of charities registered Up to 17,000 (for the 

year)1
5,136 charities were 
registered in the quarter 

1.1.2 Percentage of fully completed 
applications for registration 
decided within:  
 
 
 
• 30 working days of receipt 
• 90 working days of receipt 

 
 
 
 
 
 
20-25%  
95%  

Not achieved due to the 
large number of 
applications received 
immediately prior to and 
after 30 June 2008 
 
13% decided 
87% decided 

1.1.3 Number of annual returns 
received and processed 

8,000-10,000 (for the 
year)2

548 annual returns were 
received in the quarter and 
306 were processed 

1.1.4 Percentage of annual returns 
processed within:  
• 25 working days of receipt 
• 60 working days of receipt 

 
 
90%  
100%  

Not achieved.  Staff have 
continued to concentrate on 
processing registrations 
 
80% 
98% 

1.1.5 Register online availability to the 
public and charities (percentage 
per month) 

No less than 97% Achieved – the register was 
available online 99.8% of 
the time during the quarter 

1.1.6 A six monthly independent 
quality audit on a sample of up to 
1% of the recommendations for 
registration 

Indicates no significant 
areas for improvement 
and show only minor 
inconsistencies in 
decisions 

The first audit is to be 
completed in second 
quarter. 

 
 

                                                 
1 In total, the Commission anticipates that it will process 25,000 charities since the Charities 
Register opened on 1 February 2007, by the end of December 2008 
2 This target is based on the number of charities registered at 30 June 2008 
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Output 1.2 – Investigate complaints and make inquiries about 
registered charities 
 
Under this output, the Commission will: 

• inquire into charitable entities about conduct that may constitute a breach of the 
Charities Act or serious wrongdoing 

• receive and investigate complaints about charities 

• develop relationships with other enforcement agencies so that enforcement 
activity is coordinated 

• develop relationships with other agencies to contribute to fulfilling New 
Zealand’s international obligations with regard to charities are met. 

Performance information 

 Performance Measure Standard/Target Achieved to 30 September 
1.2.1 Percentage of complaints about 

registered charities brought to the 
Commission’s attention which are 
acknowledged and work is 
commenced to resolve the 
complaint within 25 working days  

90%  Not achieved [The 
Commission was not funded 
to handle complaints about 
charities]. 
- 6 complaints were received 
about registered charities: 5 
were actioned within 25 
working days through 
contact with the complainant 
and/or the charity; 1 was 
referred to other agencies. 
- 2 complaints were received 
about non-registered entities 
that were referred to other 
agencies (1 of these within 
25 working days). 
- 4 complaints (2 from 
registered charities and 2 
from entities that had applied 
for registration) received in 
the last quarter were 
actioned in this quarter 
outside of the 25 working 
days target. 

1.2.2 A framework for inquiring into the 
conduct of registered charities is 
developed and approved by the 
Board  

By 31 March 2009 n/a 

1.2.3 The scope for the framework for 
inquiring into the conduct of 
registered charities is circulated to 
key stakeholders for consultation 

By 31 January 2009 n/a 
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Output 1.3 – Provision of information about charities 
 
Under this output, the Commission will: 
 

• provide information to the public about the requirements of a registered charity, 
the Register of Charitable Entities and how the Register can be used 

• provide information to the public about how complaints about charities can be 
made to the Commission 

• provide information to the public about the work of the Commission with respect 
to education in governance and management of charities 

• supply information for the purposes of the Inland Revenue Acts 

• make information on the Register available to other relevant government and 
non-government agencies for analysis 

• develop and implement a pragmatic and relevant research programme, in 
conjunction with other agencies 

• engage with other Crown agencies, tertiary education agencies and private 
research entities to undertake research projects 

• publish relevant and defensible research results to increase knowledge of the 
charitable sector 

• publish occasional reports about charitable organisations. 

Performance information 

 Performance Measures  Standard/Target Achieved to 30 September 
1.3.1 A strategic framework for 

research that is responsive to the 
needs of the charitable sector and 
other agencies is developed and 
approved by the Board 

By 30 June 2009 n/a 
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Output 1.4 – Provision of advice, education and information to 
charities 
 
Under this output, the Commission will: 
 

• foster relationships and networks with the charitable sector 

• provide information and support to help charities to apply for registration and 
complete annual returns under the Charities Act 

• provide information and guidance as required on the implementation of the 
Charities Act and its regulations, and other matters affecting charities 

• engage with the charitable sector and relevant government agencies to identify 
and develop research priorities 

• act as a broker and clearing house for information on governance and 
management relevant to the charitable sector 

• develop expertise in governance and management relevant to the charitable 
sector and make that expertise available through publications, workshops or 
consultancy 

• utilise networks of other agencies to communicate with charities throughout 
New Zealand 

• work with charities to promote the effective use of resources in pursuit of their 
charitable purposes 

• use the information received from our monitoring activities to further develop 
our education programmes. 
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Performance information 

 Performance Measure Standard/Target Achieved to 30 September 
Registration information and support 
1.4.1 Number of calls answered by the 

free phone advisory service3
Able to answer up to 
2,000 calls per month 

Average of 2,183 calls over 
the quarter 

1.4.2 Percentage of sample of callers 
whose queries have been met 
by the free phone advisory 
service (at the time of the call) 

90% 97.74% 

1.4.3 Percentage of stakeholder 
feedback indicating satisfaction 
on the appropriateness of the 
information on registration and 
annual returns on the 
Commission’s website4

90% n/a – the survey will be 
conducted in March 2009 

1.4.4 Percentage of stakeholder 
feedback indicating satisfaction 
on the appropriateness of the 
material included in the 
registration information pack

90% n/a – the survey will be 
conducted in March 2009 

Advice on issues affecting charities 
1.4.5 Work with the charitable sector 

to define what the characteristics 
of a strong, effective charitable 
sector actually are, or what an 
effective charity is 

Report to the Board 
by 30 June 2009 

n/a 

1.4.6 To hold one annual meeting, 
including an opportunity for 
feedback from the charitable 
sector on topics of interest 

Not later than 30 
November 2008 

Annual meeting scheduled 
for 27 November 2008 

Information dissemination 
1.4.7 Size of circulation list for monthly 

Update newsletter 
over 4,000 3,900 

1.4.8 Percentage of readership survey 
indicating satisfaction on 
appropriateness of Update 
newsletter

90% n/a – the survey will be 
conducted in March 2009 

1.4.9 Number of information sheets 
provided on issues such as 
group registration and funding 

5 31 information sheets are 
currently available 

1.4.10 Percentage of stakeholder 
feedback indicating satisfaction 
on the appropriateness of the 
information sheets

90% n/a – the survey will be 
conducted in March 2009 

                                                 
3 The free phone advisory service will continue to provide information and support for 
registration, annual returns and other regulatory matters 
4 An online survey of registered charities will be conducted by 31 March 2009 to address the: 

• appropriateness of the information on registration and annual returns on the 
Commission’s website 

• appropriateness of the material included in the registration information pack 
• appropriateness of Update newsletter 
• appropriateness of the information sheets 
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Output 1.5 – Provision of policy advice relating to charities 
 
Under this output, the Commission will consider, and report and make 
recommendations on, any matter relating to charities that is referred to it by any 
Minister of the Crown or on its own motion. 

This will include –  

o providing policy advice and support on matters relating to charities, and 
information on the charitable sector to other government agencies 

o providing timely and accurate advice to Government on issues that will assist 
the charitable sector to be more efficient and effective 

o assisting policy makers and others to have a clearer understanding of the 
charitable sector 

In fulfilling the aim to produce policy advice that meets the needs of the stakeholders, 
the Commission requires that, to the extent to which time and cost-effectiveness 
considerations permit, policy advice produced meets the following quality criteria: 

 purpose – advice should be short (where practicable), succinct and clearly 
focused 

 consistency – advice takes account of other Government policies and 
decisions, and is consistent with the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi 

 logic – the assumptions behind the advice are explicit and argument is logical 
and supported by the facts 

 accuracy – the facts in the advice are legally and statistically accurate and all 
material facts and sources are included 

 options – an appropriate range of options is presented 

 consultation – there is evidence of adequate consultation with other government 
agencies and other affected parties 

 practicality – the problems of implementation, technical feasibility, timing and 
consistency with other policies have been considered 

 impartiality – the Charities Commission strives to provide professional, impartial 
and comprehensive advice to stakeholders 

Performance information 

 Performance Measure Standard/Target Achieved to 30 September 
Advice on issues affecting charities 
1.5.1 Policy advice on the relationship 

of the charitable sector to the 
wider work programme of the 
Government –  
• Percentage of advice 

delivered in accordance with 
set quality criteria 

• Percentage of advice 
delivered according to the 
agreed timeframes 

• Percentage of advice 
considered satisfactory by 
the stakeholder receiving the 
advice 

 
 
 
 
100% 
 
 
100% 
 
 
90% 

 
 
 
 
100% 
 
 
100% 
 
 
100% 
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Governance Report 
 
Charities Commission Board Members’ Fees and Expenses 
Policy 
 
Fees paid to Board members are calculated according to the Charities 
Commission’s Board Members Fees and Expenses Policy. The current fees 
rates for Board Members, as set out below, were increased in early September 
2008. 
 
Board members fees rates 
 Daily rate Half day rate Hourly rate 
 New Was New New 
Chair $625.00 $595.00 $312.50 $104.17 
Deputy Chair $493.00 $469.00 $246.50 $82.17 
Members $394.00 $375.00 $197.00 $65.67 
 
 
In terms of the policy, Board meetings and meeting preparation are calculated 
based on days worked, either full or half days. A full day is defined as at least 6 
hours and a half-day as 3 hours.  
 
Reading fees may be claimed for preparation and follow-up work for Board 
meetings at a rate of up to half a day for each full day meeting of the Board.  
Additional work undertaken by Board members is charged at either the half day 
or hourly rate, whichever is the most applicable rate depending on the hours 
worked.  
 
During the quarter, the Board met for one day in July and September, and for 
two days in August. Board members were also involved with meetings of the 
Board’s Standing Committees, of which there are four.  Significant work was 
once again undertaken by the Registration Committee in the quarter, as 
registration applications needing input from Board members were sent to the 
Committee and then the Board for consideration. 
 
The Chair met with the Minister on a regular basis throughout the quarter, 
usually around Board meetings. As required, all additional work undertaken by 
Board members is approved by the Board at a Board meeting.  
 
A new Board member, Patricia McKelvey, was appointed to the Board on 7 July 
2008 and attended her first Board meeting in July. 
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Board fees paid in the quarter to 30 September 2008 
 
The fees paid to each Board member during the quarter ended 30 September 
2008 are shown below. 
 
Board 
Member 

Board meeting/ 
preparation days 

Other 
(hours)

Total – 
days/hours

Rate Total 
fees 

paid ($)
    Was New 
Chair 6  6 $595/day $625/day 3,615
  74.5 74.5 $99.17/hr $104.17/hr 7,437
Deputy 5.67  5.67 $469/day $493/day 2,693
  1 1 $78.16/hr $82.17/hr 80
Member 1 4.5  4.5 $375/day $394/day 1,706
  13 13 $62.50/hr $65.67/hr 823
Member 2 3.5  3.5 $375/day $394/day 1,341
  6 6 $62.50/hr $65.67/hr 312
Member 3 5.5  5.5 $375/day $394/day 2,082
  16 16 $50/hr $65.67/hr 1,000
Member 4 1  1 $375/day $394/day 375
  4 4 $62.50/hr $65.67/hr 250
Member 5 4.5  4.5 $375/day $394/day 1,716
  0 0 $62.50/hr $65.67 
TOTAL   23,430
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Financial Reports 
 
The following financial reports summarise the financial performance and 
financial position of the Commission as at 30 September 2008.  
 
Statement of Financial Performance 
Quarter Ended 30 September 2008 
 
 

Actual Budget Budget for 
the full year

$ excl. GST $ excl. GST $ excl. GST
Revenue:  
Crown funding 787,000 786,999 3,148,000
Annual return fees 11,822 3,871 277,750
Interest 48,337 18,750 75,000
Other - - -
Total Operating Revenue 847,159 809,620 3,500,750
  
Interest – Litigation fund 4,922 4,875 19,500
Total Revenue 852,081 814,495 3,520,250
  
Expenses:  
Administration 198,820 175,892 714,674
Audit fees 8,748 8,748 35,000
Board Members fees 23,430 23,805 95,230
Communication and education 17,923 24,999 100,000
Depreciation 80,474 77,916 311,664
Occupancy costs 47,830 48,225 190,515
Personnel costs 442,146 355,539 1,419,537
Professional fees 24,618 6,249 25,000
Registration-related costs 970,340 407,904 1,364,380
  
Total Expenses 1,814,329 1,129,277 4,256,000
Litigation Expenses 3,073 - -
Net Surplus/(Deficit) (965,321) (314,782) (735,750)
  
Comprising:  
Operating Surplus/(Deficit) (967,170) (319,657) (755,250)
Litigation fund 1,849 4,875 19,500

(965,321) (314,782) (735,750)
 
 
Note: The Commission is revising its operating and capital budgets for 2008/09 following 
Cabinet’s approval of additional funding for the Commission for the three year period 2008/09 to 
2010/11. 
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The statement of financial performance for the three months ended 30 
September 2008 shows a deficit of $965,321 compared to a budgeted deficit of 
$314,782 for the same period.  This is an unfavourable variance of $650,539. 
 
The major variances to budget (greater than $20k) are briefly explained as 
follows: 
 
Interest – favourable $29.6k 

• The favourable variance of $29.6k is due mainly to unbudgeted 
interest earned on the 2008/09 appropriation received in advance. 

  
Salaries – unfavourable $83.1k 

• The unfavourable variance of $83.1k is due mainly to salary 
increases ($22.5k), and temporary IT support staff ($31k). 

 
Software licenses & support – unfavourable $32.8k 

• The unfavourable variance of $32.8k is due to the unbudgeted 
application support costs for the Register.   

 
Application Processing – unfavourable $144k 

• The processing of more applications (and associated information) 
than budgeted since the beginning of July has resulted in this 
unfavourable variance. 

 
Registration assessment operational costs – unfavourable $57.8k 

• This unfavourable variance is due to higher than budgeted costs 
associated with the Willis Street office. 

 
Registration assessment salaries – unfavourable $360.6k 

• Due to the hiring of extra registration staff not budgeted for. The extra 
registration staff were hired to ensure that the Commission is able to 
complete the initial reviews of the applications received by 30 June 
2008 by the 31 December 2008 deadline.  
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 September 2008 
 
 Actual at 

30 Sep 2008
Budget at 30 

Jun 2009 
$ $

Current Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 2,141,729 11,987
Cash and cash equivalents – Litigation 
fund 261,432 275,142
Debtors and other receivables 74,474 10,000
GST receivable 26,068 33,270
 2,503,703 330,399
 
Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 319,492 284,987
Intangible assets – Computer software & 
Register 716,148 532,772
 1,035,640 817,759
 
Total Assets 3,539,343 1,148,158
 
Current Liabilities 
Employee entitlements 261,479 174,794
Creditors and other payables (1) 2,645,651 500,000
 2,907,130 674,794
 
Total Liabilities 2,877,130 674,794
 
NET ASSETS 632,213 473,364
 
Taxpayers’ Funds 
Accumulated funds: 
At beginning of period 1,341,024 953,472
Capital Contribution -
Operating Surplus/(Deficit) (967,170) (755,250)
At end of period 373,854 198,222
 
Litigation fund: 
At beginning of period  256,510 255,642
Surplus 1,849 19,500
At end of period 258,359 275,142
 
TOTAL TAXPAYERS’ FUNDS 632,213 473,364
 
 
Note: (1) Includes $2,361,000 income in advance relating to the 2008/09 appropriation 
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Capital Expenditure Summary 
As at 30 September 2008 
 
There was no capital expenditure budgeted for or spent in the quarter ended 30 
September 2008. 
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Litigation Fund 
 
The current balance of the Litigation fund is $258,359.  This sum includes the 
original litigation fund appropriation of $222,000, interest income of $40,086 
less expenses of $3,727.  In the first quarter of 2008/09, there has been interest 
income of $4,922 and expenses of $3,073. 
 
In the first quarter of 2008/09 there was one appeal lodged against a 
Commission decision declining registration – Travis Trust. 
 
On 9 July 2008, the Commission declined the application of the Travis Trust to 
be registered as a charitable entity, on the grounds that the Trust was not “of a 
kind in relation to which an amount of income is derived by the trustees in trust 
for charitable purposes”, as required by section 13(1)(a) of the Charities Act.   
 
On 23 July, the Travis Trust lodged a notice of appeal in terms of section 59(2) 
of the Charities Act on the grounds that the Commission’s decision was wrong 
in fact and law.  A one day hearing in the High Court has been set down for 12 
November 2008. 
 
To date, the Commission has incurred legal costs associated with this appeal 
totalling $3,073.  These costs will be debited against the Litigation fund in the 
2008/09 financial statements. 
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Komihana Kaupapa Atawhai
The formal definition of Komihana Kaupapa Atawhai is ‘the Commission  

that embraces and supports philanthropic principles and practices’.

The name was given by Commission Board member, Amohaere Houkamau, after consultation with iwi.



Having opened the 
Charities Register on 
1 February 2007, the 
Commission is still in an 
establishment stage. It 
has focussed most of its 
effort and resources to 
date on the establishment 
of the Register, providing 
education and support in 
order to encourage correctly 
completed applications 
for registration from 
eligible organisations, and 
receiving and processing 
applications.

CHARITIES COMMISSION | ANNUAL REPORT 07/082

The year in review
The Board’s highest priority during the 
past year has been to ensure that the 
Commission has focussed its resources 
and efforts on receiving and efficiently 
processing applications for the 
registration of charities. 

It is important work, because the 
Charities Register provides the 
foundation for the Commission’s 
work of promoting public trust and 
confidence in the sector and the 
effective use of charitable resources, 
and providing access to support and 
guidance for charities on matters of 
management and governance.

The Board is confident that  
applications are being processed 
efficiently and consistently, but there is 
much work remaining. The Commission 
is on track to complete the processing of 
applications received on or before 30 June 
2008 by the end of December 2008.

We have also been fortunate to have 
ongoing and constructive feedback 
from the charitable sector itself. 

In addition to attending a series of 
five annual meetings held across the 
country in late 2007, the Board met 
with Waikato charitable groups and 
local government members in June 
2008, to share ideas and views about 
expectations for the Commission 
for the future, and to maintain our 
understanding of the issues and 
challenges facing the sector. This was 
the first of what may become a series of 
regular regional meetings with sector 
stakeholders.

The future
Since 1 February 2007, charities in New 
Zealand have, for the first time, been 
able to have their charitable purpose 
scrutinised, and if they meet the criteria 
of the Charities Act, to be registered and 
have their details made available to the 
public on the Register of Charities.

It is the first time that detailed 
information about charities in New 
Zealand has been brought together 
in a single public database. The 
Register makes it easy for members of 
the public to search for information 
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about charities they may wish to use 
or support, find their contact details, 
information about the sectors they 
operate in, their activities and services, 
their beneficiaries, and their finances.

In time, we expect that registered 
charities will become the “charities 
of choice” for members of the public 
wishing to access services or provide 
support. The public will be able to 
have confidence that the charities on 
the Register meet the Charities Act’s 
criteria, and have access to guidance 
and support to ensure they are well 
managed and governed, and that their 
operations are transparent.

In our Statement of Intent 2008-2011, 
I said that the Board and staff of the 
Charities Commission are committed to:

• developing an organisation that 
charities and the public can have 
confidence in 

• undertaking our functions in a 
responsive and open manner, and

• becoming an authority and leading 
debate around the promotion of a 
strong, effective charitable sector 
in which the public has trust and 
confidence for the advancement of 
the charitable sector as a whole.

In the past year, the Board has given 
a great deal of consideration to the 
strategic direction that we wish the 
Commission to take in the future, to 
fulfil these objectives. 

Once the initial registration period is 
completed, the Register will be more 
able to furnish us with solid information, 
to help validate our knowledge and 
understanding of the sector, and to 
guide our planning for the future.

We remain clear that we have a purpose 
beyond simply registering charities and 
maintaining their details on the Register. 
We are equally clear that we do not want 
to duplicate what is already available to 
the sector, or to develop a strategy 
without the fullest possible, relevant 
information from the Register, the sector, 
advisers to the sector, and from other 
government agencies that also have a 
role to play in supporting the sector.

Equipped with appropriate knowledge 
and information, we intend to 
undertake several key pieces of work 
during the next year and beyond – in 
particular, building our education and 
monitoring functions, and our capacity 
to manage complaints made to us 
about charities. 

Charities are all unique organisations, 
and the Charities Commission is in 
a unique position, developing our 
thinking, capability and capacity to 
provide relevant and tailored support 
and guidance that adds strength to a 
sector that already enjoys a high level of 
public support.

In its work, the Board has been well 
served by its members’ broad range of 
charitable-sector expertise and 
experience. One of our earliest-appointed 
Board members, Pat Webster, resigned 
in early 2008. We thank her for her 
excellent contribution to our work and 
wish her well for the future. The terms 
of two Board members, Kerry Ayers and 
Amohaere Houkamau, and that of 
myself, as Chair, were extended in early 
July 2008 until July 2011. The Minister 
also announced the appointment of a 
new Board member, Trish McKelvey. We 
welcome Trish, whose background in 

education and sports management and 
governance will be of great benefit to 
the Board.

The Board also worked productively 
with the Hon Luamanuvao Winnie 
Laban, who formerly held the role 
of Minister for the Community and 
Voluntary Sector, and indeed, launched 
the Commission and the opening of the 
Register. 

The portfolio for the Community and 
Voluntary Sector is now held by the 
Hon Ruth Dyson, and the Commission 
appreciates the Minister’s ongoing 
advice and support in fulfilling our 
objectives.

We will work hard to deliver on our 
commitment, and look forward to a 
continuing positive engagement with 
the sector.

I would like to extend my thanks to 
the management and staff of the 
Commission, who share the Board’s 
determination to support the ongoing 
development of an effective and well-
managed charitable sector.

Sid Ashton  
Chair



With the Commission  
now in its third year  
of operation since its  
launch in July 2005, it  
has made significant 
progress on one of its  
most important mandates 
– the establishment and 
population of the  
Charities Register.
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Since the Register opened on 1 February 
2007, the Commission has continued 
to work closely with the charitable 
sector to increase its understanding of 
the environment in which charitable 
organisations operate, to increase the 
sector’s and the public’s understanding 
of its role and objectives, and to 
encourage applications for registration.

Although applications were slower 
to arrive than was anticipated 
immediately after the Register opened, 
the Commission was able to draw on 
generous support from the charitable 
community to help encourage 
applicants to apply as soon as possible.

This, together with its own 
communications, resulted in a steady 
increase in the rate of applications, 
to the point where, at the date of the 
change in income tax laws (1 July 2008), 
21,943 properly-completed applications 
had been received, together with a 
further 3,979 “incomplete” applications.  
By 1 July 2008, more than 8,200 
charitable entities had been registered.

However, the initial lag in the rate of 
applications caused some significant 
concerns for the Commission and its 
ability to plan and provide sufficient 
registration processing resources when 
required.

Once applications were being received 
and processed, the Commission used  
its initial experiences to make many 
incremental improvements to the 
process. It also (following several in-
house and external reviews, and  
after considering possible alternative 
options), made some other more 
substantial changes, to make sure it  
was processing all applications as 
efficiently and consistently as possible.

Each application involves an analysis 
of the applicant’s rules and other 
documents, to ensure it meets all the 
criteria set out in the Charities Act – 
itself a relatively new and untested 
piece of legislation.

The Commission’s staff have also had 
to develop an understanding of court 
cases and legal reasoning in similar 
overseas jurisdictions to guide their 
decision-making.

Chief Executive’s Report
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The Commission has drawn on several 
other agencies’ experience in designing 
its registration processes, but much 
of the development and design work 
required was unique to the Commission 
and the longer-term outcomes it was 
established to deliver.

For example – as well as the more 
“straightforward” and complex 
applications requiring individual 
legal analysis, the Commission has 
also had to develop a process for 
receiving submissions for and receiving 
applications for the registration of 
groups – some of which include many 
members, whose information needs to 
be analysed individually.

At all times, the Commission has 
upheld its commitment to make the 
registration process as easy as possible, 
and to being responsive to feedback 
and suggestions for improvements 
from applicants and its own registration 
processing staff.

An online survey we conducted in 
September 2007 amongst registered 
charities to get feedback about their 
experience of registration, found that 
most rated it positively.  Most said they 
found the process fairly straightforward, 
and most rated the Commission’s print 
materials and their interaction with the 
call centre as helpful, but only a third 
of respondents found the length of the 
processing time to be “OK”.

The Commission has focussed all its 
available resources on the registration 
process, and has maintained an active 
programme of workshops and speaking 
engagements throughout the country, 
and training for its call centre, to 
provide help and explanation, answer 
questions, and provide guidance.

It has recruited and trained a team of 
fixed-term registration analysts, who 
generally have a legal background, and 
who are able to process both straight-
forward and more complex applications.

However, it has taken time to build our 
registration team up to strength, and, 
due to the timing of the releases of 
funding to the Commission, recruitment 
could not be undertaken in parallel with 
the increasing rate of applications.

This and the increased rate of 
applications received in the latter 
part of the financial year, resulted 
in a backlog, which is on track to be 
processed by the end of the 2008 
calendar year.

At the same time, our staff are also 
processing the first Annual Returns 
from charities who have either not 
been exempted from filing an Annual 
Return (for what would only be a partial 
financial year since their registration 
date), or who have chosen to file despite 
being granted an exemption.

They are also processing increasing 
numbers of changes (such as changes 
in officers or rules) from registered 
charities, as well as amendments 
received from those still in  
processing queues.

The Commission has been appreciative 
of the many opportunities offered to us 
by the members of the charitable sector 
to meet and speak with them, and for 
the honest and helpful feedback it has 
received.

I have noticed that when Commission 
staff and I now speak about the online 
Register and its benefits with people 
in the community, and show them the 
information that is available about 

charities we have registered, that most 
are very positive in their response, and 
give the opinion that the Register is a 
valuable new resource.

Comments we receive indicate that 
people value the increased transparency 
of the charitable sector that the Register 
enables, and they find it a useful place 
to find out more about particular 
charities they may wish to support.  
Charities themselves appreciate the 
visibility and credibility of being on the 
Register, having proved to us that they 
have a charitable purpose and meet the 
Charities Act’s criteria.

Key activities and 
highlights for the 2007/08 
year were:
Registration
• Receiving almost 22,000 applications 

for registration between 1 February 
2007 and 1 July 2008, the date that 
income tax laws changed

• Registering more than 8,200 charities 
between the launch of the Register on 
1 February 2007 and 1 July 2008 

• Recruiting and providing in-house 
training to a complement of specialist 
registration analysts and senior 
analysts

• Registering the Commission’s first 
group application – Te Kotahitanga 
o Te Arawa Waka Fisheries Group, 
registered on 10 September 2007

• Processing the first Annual Returns 
for registered charities

• Processing the first Notification of 
Changes for registered charities
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• Commissioning an independent 
efficiency review, and the 
implementation of recommendations 
which increased processing rates

• Commissioning an independent 
quality assurance review of 
registration decision-making, and 
receiving confirmation that the 
processes used, conclusions reached 
and decisions made were accurate, 
fair and reasonable, and that the 
requested legal advice provided to the 
registration team by in-house counsel 
was very good.

Information technology
• The enhanced and upgraded online 

registration system went ‘live’ in 
November 2007.  The system enabled 
the Commission to carry out tasks 
required by the Charities Act: to 
process applications, Notification of 
Changes, Annual Returns and provide 
public access to the Register.  With 
the upgraded system, applicants can 
now enter Officer Certification Forms, 
Annual Returns and Notification of 
Changes online, functionality that 
was previously unavailable.

Communications, education and 
stakeholder relationships
• Developing and maintaining the 

positive relationships the Commission 
has built with the charitable sector

• Providing regular updates to 
stakeholders via the Commission’s 
website and Update newsletter, 
distributed to more than 4,000 
subscribers

• Holding discussions with members 
of the charitable sector and 
government agencies to feed into 
the development of the strategic 
framework that underpinned the 
Statement of Intent

• Delivering the Commission’s third 
Statement of Intent to the Minister for 
the Community and Voluntary Sector 
on 30 June 2008 and publishing it on 
14 July 2008

• Holding five annual meetings across 
the country, at which registered 
charities could ask questions and 
present submissions about the 
Commission’s work

• Maintaining positive ongoing 
relationships with key government 
stakeholder agencies, including: 
the Department of Internal Affairs, 
Inland Revenue, the Department 
of Statistics, and the Ministry of 
Economic Development.  Contact was 
also maintained with the Ministry of 
Māori Development, the Ministry of 
Pacific Island Affairs, and the Office for 
the Community and Voluntary Sector 
(OCVS) amongst others

• Sending targeted communications 
to all entities with an existing 
charitable-purpose tax exemption, 
registered charitable trusts and 
incorporated societies, urging early 
application for registration with the 
Commission

• Delivering (between February 2007 
and 1 July 2008) more than 120 
registration workshops throughout 
New Zealand, and receiving positive 
feedback from participants

• Reviewing and developing a 
significant body of legal analysis, 
education material and forms to 
support the sector through the 
registration process.

Key achievements in 
2007/08
Establishing and compiling the 
public Charities Register has been 
a “foundation” objective for the 
Commission since it launched in 2005.  

It has continued to be its main 
function during the past year, through 
developing its online facility, providing 
guidance, education and support to 
the sector, encouraging and receiving 
applications, making initial reviews 
and complex analyses, registering 
applications and lodging them on 
the public Register, making policy and 
registration recommendations to the 
Board, and, on occasion, declining 
applications that do not meet the 
Charities Act’s criteria.

Between 1 February 2007 when the 
Register opened, and 30 June 2008 
when income tax laws changed, the 
Commission received 21,943 properly-
completed applications from charities. 
It also received a further 3,979 
“incomplete” applications.  (That is, 
25,922 applications in total).

The Commission had registered 8,218 
charities by 30 June 2008.

Additionally, during that period, a small 
number of applications were declined, 
some were withdrawn by applicants, 
and eight charitable entities were de-
registered at their own request. 

Before the Charities Register was 
opened, it was unknown how many 
charities might be operating in New 
Zealand, although estimates ranged 
widely, up to the 97,000 not-for-profit 
organisations reported by Statistics 
New Zealand.  

The Commission planned to register 
25,000 charities during the initial 
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registration period, and based its 
budgeting on that figure.  Receiving 
21,943 properly-completed and 3,979 
incomplete applications during the 
initial registration period confirmed 
the Commission’s estimates as being 
reasonably accurate. 

However, most applications were 
received well after the Register first 
opened, and most were received in the 
six months before income tax laws 
changed. 

Also, the Commission’s ongoing 
experience has been that registration is 
more complex and often more time-
consuming than was anticipated. 

Often, registration analysts need to go 
back to applicants to seek clarification 
or more information, because their 
governing documents are not specific 
enough.  It can sometimes take time 
for the applicant to gather the required 
information, or to seek guidance from 
their members or advisors.  

Analysts are required to read and 
understand sometimes long and 
complex documents to be satisfied that 
the organisation has fully charitable 
purposes – some organisations have a 
mix of charitable and non-charitable 
purposes which means the Commission 
may have to request and assess more 
information from them.  

The Commission has undertaken, and 
is on track to process the properly-
completed applications it received 
before 30 June 2008 by the end of the 
calendar year.

The Commission does have powers 
to backdate registration to the date 
it received a properly-completed 
application. It can do so, if requested, 
and if satisfied that the organisation 
was qualified for registration at all 

times during the period between the 
date it applied for registration, and the 
date on which the decision to register it 
was made.

We recognised that some organisations 
who applied later during the initial 
registration period would be unable 
to prove their charitable status until 
their application had been processed, 
and would potentially experience some 
uncertainties regarding their tax status 
until that time.  

A key achievement was the work the 
Commission carried out with Inland 
Revenue and the Department of 
Internal Affairs, in order to give greater 
certainty regarding their tax affairs to 
eligible organisations that were not 
registered prior to 1 July 2008.  These 
transitional measures were given effect 
through amendments to the Income Tax 
Act 2007 and the Estate and Gift Duties 
Act 1968.

The Commission also carried out 
significant work with Inland Revenue 
and the Ministry of Education, resulting 
in legislative changes to ensure greater 
clarity for tertiary institutions and state 
schools, in order to respond to questions 
about whether they needed to register 
to maintain tax-exempt status. 

Legislative changes were also undertaken 
to clarify the tax situation of some 
non-resident charities.  Non-resident 
charities that cannot register with the 
Commission because they are not 
established in New Zealand or have no 
strong connection with New Zealand 
are able to have tax-exempt status here, 
subject to Inland Revenue approval.

At the same time as processing 
applications for registration, the 
Commission has also had to make 
provision for receiving and processing 
Notification of Changes and Annual 
Returns. 

The first Annual Return was received  
in September 2007, and to the end 
of June 2008, the Commission had 
received 188 Annual Returns.  They are 
available on the Register for members  
of the public to view.

We also require registered charities 
to tell us if they change their name, 
address for service, balance date, rules, 
purposes or officers.  

While most changes are administrative 
in effect, some may require us to review 
whether a charity remains qualified for 
registration, so may involve significantly 
more work. 

Community awareness, 
communication and 
education
The Commission places great value 
on the relationships it has built with 
the charitable sector, its advisors, 
community members, and across other 
government agencies.

These relationships have been especially 
important to us during the initial 
registration period – firstly, so that 
our existence and role is known and 
understood by the charitable sector 
and its supporters and funders, but also 
because we have depended on their 
goodwill and support to help pass on 
our messaging about registration.  

We have also appreciated and – where 
appropriate – incorporated feedback 
and suggestions into our communications 
and our registration materials.



Our strategic approach has been to 
tailor our communications to suit 
particular target audiences, but also 
to work as closely as possible with the 
sector itself, to ensure that relevant 
messages reach people through the 
channels that they would expect us to 
use, and where they would expect to 
find such information.

Below is a summary of the 
Commission’s key community awareness, 
communication and education activities 
and achievements in 2007/08:

• Awareness of the Charities Act, its 
benefits, the Commission’s role and 
the requirements for registration 
were raised through communications 
targeted at both the wider public and 
the charitable sector

• Milestone events, such as the 
registration of the first group (single 
entity) registered by the Commission 
were extensively publicised and 
promoted

•  Our significant body of “plain 
language” guidance and information 
for charities wishing to register, and 
the application forms, were reviewed, 
and made even easier to understand, 
where possible

•  Several new information sheets were 
developed and published – in total, 
the Commission has published 31 
information sheets

• More than 14,800 registration 
information packs were produced and 
distributed to potential applicants

• Improving the availability and 
accessibility of information on the 
Commission’s website 

• Managing the volume of emails and 
telephone enquiries made to the 
Commission’s call centre 

• Use was made of the LanguageLine 
service available through the 
Commission’s call centre, providing 
interpretation services in 39 languages

• During the year, the Commission 
delivered more than 40 registration 
workshops for potential applicants 
and “train the trainers” seminars 
for advisors to the sector. This was 
in addition to the 80 registration 
workshops that were provided during 
the previous year.  They received 
positive feedback from participants

• Board members, the Chief Executive 
and Commission staff continued to 
meet with many groups and individuals 
in the charitable sector, to provide 
information and support for registration, 
and to explain and answer questions 
about the Commission’s work.  
A proactive programme of speaking 
engagements and network 
opportunities was undertaken

• Stakeholders were provided with 
regular updates on the Commission’s 
activities and progress via the 
Commission’s website and regular 
Update newsletter.  Each edition of 
Update is distributed directly to more 
than 4,000 subscribers, many of 
whom distribute it more widely. Many 
subscribers include excerpts from 
Update in their own newsletters to 
members and affiliated organisations, 
and reproduce it on their websites

• A variety of external channels were 
used to distribute information 
about the Commission and key 
messages about registration. Some 
examples include: articles in city 
and district councils’ ratepayers’ 
newsletters, articles in professional 

magazines such as the Law Journal, 
and (for example) in the newsletters 
published by the Ministry of Māori 
Development, the Ministry of Pacific 
Island Affairs, and the Department of 
Internal Affairs

• The Commission worked with other 
agencies, where databases were 
available, to send tailored 
communications encouraging 
registration – for example – to 
charities that had an existing 
charitable-purpose tax exemption 
with Inland Revenue; Charitable Trusts 
and Incorporated Societies registered 
with the Ministry of Economic 
Development’s Companies Office;  
Pacific Island churches, and iwi groups 

• The Commission held five annual 
meetings in November and December 
2007, in Auckland, Tauranga, 
Wellington, Christchurch and 
Dunedin, at which charities were able 
to ask questions and make submissions

• The Commission conducted a pilot 
regional stakeholder meeting in 
Hamilton, at which members of the 
executive and Board met with sector 
members and received feedback 
about the Commission’s operations 
and future direction.  The meeting 
was well-received by participants.

Financial performance 
In its third financial year, the Commission 
recorded a net deficit of $0.059 million, 
which was $2.291 million less than the 
budgeted deficit of $2.350 million.

Revenue exceeded budget by $0.900 
million, with the Commission receiving 
additional Crown revenue of $1 
million as a result of drawing down 
the available contingency funding in 
October 2007.
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In addition, actual expenses were less 
than budget by $1.391 million, largely 
as a result of the budgeted write off 
amounting to $1.588 million of the 
registration software actually being put 
through the financial statements in the 
year ended 30 June 2007.  Because the 
initial registration system was to be 
replaced early in the 2007/08 financial 
year, the Commission was advised that 
it was appropriate to write off the full 
cost of the system at 30 June 2007.

Registration-related costs did exceed 
budget by $0.525 million.  Included 
in these costs were registration staff 
salaries that exceeded budget by $0.574 
million. The extra registration staff 
were employed due to the extra time 
required to process applications for 
registration and to cope with the influx 
of applications for registration towards 
the 30 June 2008 registration deadline.

The deficit for the year has been funded 
from the surplus brought forward from 
2006/07.  This surplus arose in 2005/06 
due to the change in the timing of 
the opening of the Charities Register.  
This meant that the registration of 
charitable organisations did not start 
when originally planned, and as a result, 
several establishment tasks were not 
completed as budgeted.

The financial statements on pages 
24 to 43 are the first prepared by 
the Commission using New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).  

Relationships with other 
government agencies
The Commission has appreciated 
the cooperation and support that it 
has had from the main government 
agencies with which it works. These 
include Inland Revenue, the Ministry 
of Economic Development, the 
Department of Internal Affairs, and 
Statistics New Zealand. 

The strength of these relationships 
facilitated the previously noted work 
that led to the amendments to the 
Income Tax Act 2007 and the Estate 
and Gift Duties Act 1968.  Also, the 
advice and support these agencies have 
provided to the process of registration, 
particularly the Companies Office of the 
Ministry of Economic Development, has 
been of real value.

Interagency liaison also was important 
in engaging with Māori. The Commission 
worked jointly with Inland Revenue and 
Te Puni Kokiri in conducting targeted 
sessions with Māori to assist in building 
understanding of the reasons for 
registering, and the application process. 

With an awareness of the number of 
key government agencies that work 
with charities in different ways, we 
consulted with these agencies as we 
continued to develop our strategic 
planning for the future role of the 
Commission. 

This strategic focus has been furthered 
by developing our engagement with 
other Crown agencies who manage 
functions that require regulatory 
oversight of charities. This engagement 
became more important as the 
Commission started to receive complaints 
about charities during the year.  

The Commission’s relationships with 
Inland Revenue and the Ministry of 
Economic Development, confirmed 
under memoranda of understanding, 
have strengthened, guided by the 
obligations in those memoranda. The 
agencies’ obligations regarding the 
sharing of information required by the 
Charities Act is proceeding smoothly, 
with the agencies’ respective records 
being updated as registration progresses.

The policy profile of the Commission is 
also becoming more established, with 
advice on the interrelationship of new 
initiatives with the Charities Act and the 
role and function of the Commission 
being sought by other Crown agencies. 
This has included working with the 
Office of the Community and Voluntary 
Sector in their work on giving and 
volunteering, and with Te Puni Kokiri  
on the Waka Umanga initiative.

As well as working with other New 
Zealand government agencies, the 
Commission has maintained contact 
with a number of international agencies 
working with the charitable sector.   
A number of other countries have an 
agency equivalent to the Commission, 
and most have objectives and 
mandates similar to ours.  A highlight 
for the Commission during the year 
was hosting a forum of international 
charity regulators, which provided an 
opportunity to discuss issues affecting 
charities internationally.
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Challenges
The Commission continues to face some 
considerable challenges during the next 
year and beyond.

In the immediate future, completing 
processing of all the properly-completed 
applications received before 1 July 2008 
by the end of the calendar year is very 
much dependent on our ability to retain 
key staff, particularly those in the 
registration team, and to manage 
workflows including the processing  
of Annual Returns and Notification  
of Changes.

We are continuing to manage applicants’ 
expectations about timeframes for 
processing their applications through 
tailored communications, and through 
engagement with funders and others 
who influence the activities and daily 
operations of charitable organisations.  
The work we have done with Inland 
Revenue to provide greater certainty 
about future tax liability to those whose 
applications have not yet been 
processed will also assist.

The Commission is also becoming 
increasingly involved with the 
management of complaints it receives 
about charities – both registered and 
unregistered.

A question yet to be resolved in any 
detail is the Commission’s role beyond 
the initial registration period, in 
monitoring and promoting compliance 
with the Charities Act.

It is important that the Commission 
develops its ongoing functions in 
such a way that it is more than just a 
regulator, and is able to provide access 
to meaningful and helpful support and 
guidance to charities – in turn, better 
equipping them to fulfil their charitable 

objectives and provide effective services 
and support to the communities in 
which they operate, and to maintain the 
trust and confidence of the public.

We will develop the planning for our 
education function during the coming 
year, making sure that what we provide 
is what is wanted and needed by the 
sector, and not replicated or already 
available elsewhere.  

Providing relevant information and 
education is also central to the planned 
development of our monitoring 
function, also being developed during 
the coming year.  We want to make sure 
that charities are properly supported 
and informed, so that they can continue 
to comply with their obligations under 
the Charities Act.

Other statutory tasks
As we have already said, the 
Commission’s most important 
“foundation” task is to populate the 
Charities Register, by completing the 
processing of the applications we 
have received.  The Charities Register 
is the platform upon which many of 
the Commission’s other outcomes and 
ongoing work activities will be built.

Work on other activities will begin 
once we have completed the initial 
population of the Register, and we have 
better information available about the 
numbers and make-up of registered 
charities.  

We are already receiving Annual Returns 
from some registered charities, but do 
not expect to have fully developed this 
process or completed an entire “cycle” of 
Annual Returns until 2010.  

We expect that, once more fully 
populated, the Charities Register will 
be a valuable resource for funders 
and other organisations, as a basis 
for developing their interactions with 
the charitable sector, or for research 
purposes.  The Commission also expects 
to be able to use the Register to help 
it form views and provide advice to 
policymakers and government agencies 
who interact with the sector.

Conclusion
It is already evident from the charities 
that we have registered, that they 
come in a great variety of forms, and 
are engaged in many diverse activities, 
providing services, providing funding, 
and engaging in advocacy to support 
their charitable purposes. 

The Commission’s staff are frequently 
inspired and motivated by the 
dedication and good citizenship of the 
charities we come into contact with, 
and the work they do.  We appreciate 
the impact that charities have for good 
in our society, and the influence that 
they have in and on our communities.

In establishing the Charities Register, 
and in the future, providing guidance 
and support on good governance 
and management, and appropriate 
monitoring, our purpose is to support 
and strengthen the sector, and work 
alongside it to help grow the public’s 
trust and confidence in charities’ 
professionalism and accountability. 

Trevor Garrett  
Chief Executive
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The Charities Commission 
was created as an 
Autonomous Crown  
Entity on 1 July 2005.

It was established by the 
Charities Act, which was 
passed in April 2005.
 

The role of the Charities Commission, as 
set out in the Charities Act 2005, is to:

• Promote public trust and confidence 
in the charitable sector

• Encourage and promote the effective 
use of charitable resources

• Educate and assist charities in relation 
to matters of good governance and 
management

• Make appropriate information 
available to assist people to make 
registration applications

• Receive, consider and process 
applications for the registration of 
charitable entities

• Ensure that the Register of charitable 
entities is compiled and maintained

• Receive, consider and process annual 
returns submitted by charitable 
entities

• Supply information and documents 
in appropriate circumstances for the 
purpose of the Inland Revenue Acts

• Monitor charitable entities and their 
activities to ensure that entities 
that are registered as charitable 
entities continue to be qualified for 
registration as charitable entities

• Inquire into charitable entities and 
into persons who have engaged in, 
or are engaging in, conduct that 
constitutes, or may constitute, 
a breach of this Act or serious 
wrongdoing in connection with a 
charitable entity

• Monitor and promote compliance 
with this Act, including by taking 
prosecutions for offences against this 
Act in appropriate circumstances

• Consider, and report and make 
recommendations on any matters 
relating to charities

• Stimulate and promote research into 
any matter relating to charities.

The Commission’s role
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• approve the key accountability 
documents for the Commission, such 
as, the Annual Report, Statement of 
Intent and the Output Agreement

• attend the Commission’s Annual 
Meeting and report on the work of 
the Commission

• establish and monitor the Board’s 
own governance policies.

Board members
The Charities Commission Board 
members are profiled on the following 
page. 

The Chair
The Board Chair has the responsibility of:

• leading, chairing, and managing the 
Board

• providing leadership and guidance for 
Board members

• working with and providing guidance 
to the Chief Executive

• liaising with the Commission’s 
responsible Minister as the most 
senior Board member.

Members
The current Board’s skills include 
experience working in the charitable 
sector, both nationally and 
internationally, governance, senior 
management, law, accounting, iwi 
development, public and private sector 
management, the arts and church 
activities.

The Charities  
Commission Board
Under the Crown Entities Act 2004, 
the Board is the governing body of the 
Charities Commission. 

All decisions relating to the Charities 
Commission’s operations must be made 
by, or under the authority of the Board, 
in accordance with the Crown Entities 
Act and the Charities Act 2005.

The Board is appointed by the Minister 
for the Community and Voluntary 
Sector and consists of between five and 
seven members. Requirements for Board 
membership include the commitment 
to work for the greater good of the 
Charities Commission and knowledge, 
skill, experience and expertise relevant 
to the Commission’s affairs to assist the 
Commission to achieve its objectives 
and perform its functions.

The Board reports to the Minister 
quarterly against its Output Agreement.

Board’s role and 
responsibilities
The Board’s role is to:

• oversee the governance and 
performance of the Commission

• set the strategic direction and work 
priorities for the Commission and  to 
monitor these

• select and appoint the Chief Executive 
and monitor the Chief Executive’s 
performance

• approve the annual work programme 
and budget of the Commission

The Board was first 
appointed in June 2005. 
Seven Board members, 
each contributing a range 
of experience in both the 
national and international 
charity sector, and skills in 
governance, senior public 
and private sector manage-
ment, law, accounting, iwi 
development, the arts and 
church activities – and, 
more recently, operational 
and governance experience 
in the education and sport 
sectors – have guided the 
strategic development of 
the Commission.

The Board’s vision is of a 
strong charitable sector for 
New Zealand, which enjoys 
a high level of public trust 
and confidence.
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Board members are responsible for:

• providing expertise, advice and input 
into issues and work the Commission 
is undertaking

• engaging with the Commission’s 
stakeholders at national, regional and 
local levels.

The Crown Entities Act 2004 sets out 
the collective and individual duties of 
Board members.

Induction
On appointment, all Board members 
receive appropriate induction and 
guidance as to their role as Board 
members of the Charities Commission. 

Induction includes information on 
the affairs of the Commission, its 
issues, staff, financial position and the 
relevant legislation. Board members are 
also given the opportunity to discuss 
operational and administrative matters 
with the Chair and the Chief Executive.

Integrity and Conduct
Code of Conduct
The Board is committed to ethical 
conduct in all areas of its responsibilities 
and authority.  It has adopted a Code of 
Conduct that is in accordance with the 
Crown Entities Act 2004. 

Ethical conduct includes acting with 
honesty and integrity at all times in 
the interest of the Commission and its 
stakeholders, ensuring that the public, 
all stakeholders, and particularly those 
who are recipients of services, are 
treated fairly, according to their rights.

Disclosure of Interests
The Board places great importance on 
making clear any existing or potential 
interests of its members.  All interests 
must be declared by the Board member 
concerned to the Chair and are 
documented in the Board’s Register  
of Interests.

The Board has identified nine classes 
of interest that classify the nature of 
interests that a Board member could 
have, such as interests in charitable 
entities or as a provider of professional 
services.

Where a conflict of interest is identified, 
the Board member concerned is not 
permitted to participate in any Board 
or committee discussion or decision on 
that matter, or matters felt by the Board 
to be closely related, except if permitted 
otherwise under section 68 of the 
Crown Entities Act.  

Board meetings and 
Committees
The Board meets monthly and at other 
times as required. During 2007/08, 
Board meetings have generally been of 
two days length, due to the volume of 
work before the Charities Commission.

The Board has established Standing 
Committees to help it more efficiently 
undertake its work.

Human Resources Committee
Members of this Committee were Sid 
Ashton (Chair), Ian Calder and Judith 
Timpany. This Committee oversees 
the selection and performance 
management of the Chief Executive.

Information and Education 
Committee (previously  
the Communications and 
Education Committee)
Members of this Committee  
were Judith Timpany (Chair from 
January 2008), Ian Calder, Frank  
Claridge, Amohaere Houkamau  
and Pat Webster (Chair) until her 
resignation in January 2008. This 
Committee provides oversight,  
guidance and support to enable the 
Commission to fulfil its obligations 
under section 10 of the Charities Act 
2005, to meet the Charities 
Commission’s aims and objectives.

Risk, Audit and Compliance 
Committee
Members of this Committee were  
Frank Claridge (Chair), Sid Ashton,  
Kerry Ayers, Amohaere Houkamau 
and Judith Timpany. This Committee 
assists the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities relative to financial 
reporting, risk management and 
legislative compliance by the  
Charities Commission.

Registration Committee
Members of this Committee were  
Kerry Ayers (Chair), Sid Ashton (Deputy 
Chair), Ian Calder, Frank Claridge, 
Amohaere Houkamau, Judith Timpany 
and Pat Webster (until her resignation  
in January 2008). This Committee 
provides guidance and support in the 
fulfilment of the Commission’s 
statutory obligations under the 
Charities Act to register charities.
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Sid Ashton –  
Chair
Sid Ashton, an Officer of the 
New Zealand Order of Merit 
for services to Māori and 
the Community, has been a 
Christchurch accountant for 
over 30 years. Sid chaired the 
Tax and Charities Working 
Party in 2001/2002. 

Sid is currently serving as a 
member of the Creative New 
Zealand Arts Board and as 
a trustee for the Diabetes 
Training and Research Trust, 
which is a charitable trust. 
He is also Director of Ryman 
Healthcare, a publicly listed 
company.

Sid was appointed on 15 June 
2005, and was recently re-
appointed for a further term 
expiring on 16 July 2011.

Judith Timpany – 
Deputy Chair
Judith Timpany is the Chief 
Executive of the Whanganui 
Community Foundation 
Inc. and a Justice of the 
Peace. She has qualifications 
in both commerce and 
community development. 

Judith has 20 years 
experience in the charitable 
sector in a broad range 
of community focused 
activities, including three 
years as a Wanganui 
City Councillor, Chair of 
Philanthropy New Zealand 
(currently a board member), 
and membership of WINGS 
CF (an international 
grant maker’s body). She 
has also held several 
corporate directorships. 

Judith was appointed on 
15 June 2005 and was 
re-appointed in August 
2007 for a further term 
expiring on 14 August 2010.

Ian Calder –  
Board Member
Ian Calder, an Officer of 
the New Zealand Order 
of Merit for services to 
children and the family, has 
considerable experience in 
and knowledge of the not-
for-profit sector. Ian was the 
Chief Executive of Barnardos 
New Zealand from 1976-
2003, the President of the 
New Zealand Federation 
of Voluntary Welfare 
Organisations, Treasurer of 
the International Forum for 
Child Welfare, and a member 
of various government 
advisory boards including 
the 1988-89 Working Party 
on the Taxation of Charities 
and Sporting Bodies. From 
2003 to 2008 he was a 
member of the Social 
Workers’ Registration Board. 

Ian was appointed on 13 June 
2005 and was re-appointed 
in August 2007 for a further 
term expiring on 14 August 
2010.

Kerry Ayers – 
Board Member 
Kerry Ayers is a practising 
lawyer who has written 
extensively on trusts and 
property-related issues, 
including four legal 
textbooks. His work has 
also included extensive 
seminar presentations 
including a national 
seminar series for the New 
Zealand Law Society and 
the New Zealand Institute 
of Chartered Accountants.  
He has been involved in 
extensive work on issues 
relating to charities 
law and the setting up 
and administration of 
charitable entities.

Kerry was also a member 
of the New Zealand Law 
Commission consultative 
committee on reform of 
the law of trusts.  He is 
a former Vice President 
of the New Zealand Law 
Society and a former 
board member of the New 
Zealand Law Foundation.

Kerry was appointed on 13 
June 2005, and was recently 
re-appointed for a further 
term expiring on 16 July 2011.

Board members
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Patricia McKelvey 
– Board Member
Patricia McKelvey, a 
Companion of the New 
Zealand Order of Merit for 
services to Education and an 
MBE for services to Women’s 
cricket, has a wealth of 
operational and governance 
experience in the education 
and sport sectors.

She is currently Chair of 
the Correspondence School 
Board of Trustees and 
Electra Limited; a member 
of the Victoria University 
Council and the Social 
Security Appeal Authority; 
and a Board Member of 
Barnardos New Zealand 
and Bowls New Zealand. 
Previous appointments 
include Principal of 
Wellington High School, 
Captain of the New Zealand 
Women’s Cricket Team, 
Chair of the Board of Career 
Services and a variety of 
other tertiary education, 
social services, and 
sporting leadership roles.

Patricia was appointed 
on 7 July 2008 for a term 
expiring on 7 July 2011.

Amohaere 
Houkamau –  
Board Member
Amohaere Houkamau 
is the Chief Executive 
of Te Rūnanga o Ngāti 
Porou, based in Ruatoria, 
and has played a leading 
role in developing a 
quadruple bottom-line 
iwi development strategy 
for Ngāti Porou. 

Amohaere is a member 
of the Board of the Māori 
Television Service.  She is 
a trustee of the Tauawhi 
Trust and the Tairawhiti 
Development Partnership 
Management Trust, co-
chairs the Tairawhiti Social 
Development Forum and      
E Tipu e Rea – the Ministry  
of Education and Ngāti 
Porou Education Partnership.

Amohaere was appointed 
on 13 June 2005, and was 
recently re-appointed for 
a further term expiring 
on 16 July 2011.

Federation of Voluntary 
Welfare Organisations.

Frank has been a Justice 
of the Peace since 1973. He 
has presented on various 
topics to many seminars 
and conferences, and 
currently works with a 
large number of 
community and voluntary 
agencies on capacity and 
organisational 
development.

Frank was appointed on  
13 June 2005 and was 
re-appointed in August 
2007 for a further term 
expiring on 14 August 
2010.

Frank Claridge – 
Board Member
Frank Claridge is a Fellow of 
the New Zealand Institute of 
Chartered Accountants and 
serves on the Institute’s 
Public Benefit Entity Working 
Group, and the Not-for-Profit 
Sector Advisory Committee. 
He was the Treasurer of the 
Royal New Zealand 
Foundation of the Blind for 
many years before retiring, 
and remains a trustee of the 
Foundation’s property 
development trust. Frank 
has been continuously 
involved with the 
governance of the 
Methodist Church since 
1962.  He is a Fellow of the 
NZ Trustees Association, and 
a member of several other 
professional bodies, 
including the Fundraising 
Institute of New Zealand.

Frank served as a member of 
the Tax and Charities 
Working Party and the 
Ministry of Economic 
Development’s Charities 
Commission Establishment 
Group. He is a past Treasurer 
of the New Zealand



Pursuant to the provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, the following report 
on the operations of the Charities Commission for the year ended 30 June 2008 is 
submitted for presentation to the House of Representatives.

Sid Ashton 
Chair

29 October 2008

Judith Timpany 
Deputy Chair

29 October 2008
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The Minister for the Community and Voluntary  
Sector Parliament Buildings Wellington

The Board is responsible for the 
preparation of the statement of service 
performance and annual financial 
statements and the judgements used 
therein, and for establishing and 
maintaining the system of internal 
control that provided reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of financial reporting.

Sid Ashton 
Chair

29 October 2008

Judith Timpany 
Deputy Chair

29 October 2008

In our opinion, the statement of service 
performance and annual financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 
2008 fairly reflect the financial position 
and operations of the  
Charities Commission.

Trevor Garrett 
Chief Executive

29 October 2008

Statement of Responsibility



To the readers of the 
Charities Commission’s 
Financial Statements 
and Statement of Service 
Performance for the year 
ended 30 June 2008
The Auditor-General is the auditor of the 
Charities Commission (the Commission). The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, J R Smaill, 
using the staff and resources of Audit New 
Zealand, to carry out the audit on his behalf. 
The audit covers the financial statements and 
statement of service performance included in 
the annual report of the Commission for the 
year ended 30 June 2008. 

Unqualified Opinion
In our opinion:

• The financial statements of the Commission 
on pages 24 to 43:

 –  comply with generally accepted   
 accounting practice in New Zealand; and

 –  fairly reflect:
  · the Commission’s financial position as  

  at 30 June 2008; and
  · the results of its operations and cash  

  flows for the year ended on that date.
• The statement of service performance   

of the Commission on pages 18 to 23:
 –  complies with generally accepted   

 accounting practice in New Zealand; and
 – fairly reflects for each class of outputs:
  · its standards of delivery performance  

  achieved, as compared with the forecast  
  standards outlined in the statement of  
  forecast service performance adopted  
  at the start of the financial year; and

  · its actual revenue earned and output  
  expenses incurred, as compared with  
  the forecast revenues and output   
  expenses outlined in the statement of  
  forecast service performance adopted  
  at the start of the financial year. 

The audit was completed on 29 October 2008, 
and is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. 
In addition, we outline the responsibilities of 
the Board and the Auditor, and explain our 
independence.
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Audit Report

Basis of Opinion
We carried out the audit in accordance  
with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, 
which incorporate the New Zealand Auditing 
Standards.

We planned and performed the audit  
to obtain all the information and 
explanations we considered necessary in 
order to obtain reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements and statement of 
service performance did not have material 
misstatements, whether caused by fraud  
or error.

Material misstatements are differences or 
omissions of amounts and disclosures that 
would affect a reader’s overall understanding 
of the financial statements and statement of 
service performance. If we had found material 
misstatements that were not corrected, we 
would have referred to them in our opinion.

The audit involved performing procedures 
to test the information presented in the 
financial statements and statement of service 
performance. We assessed the results of those 
procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

• determining whether significant financial 
and management controls are working and 
can be relied on to produce complete and 
accurate data;

• verifying samples of transactions and 
account balances;

• performing analyses to identify anomalies 
in the reported data;

• reviewing significant estimates and 
judgements made by the Board;

• confirming year-end balances;
• determining whether accounting policies 

are appropriate and consistently applied; 
and

• determining whether all financial statement 
and statement of service performance 
disclosures are adequate.

We did not examine every transaction, nor  
do we guarantee complete accuracy of the 
financial statements and statement of  
service performance.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the 
presentation of information in the financial 
statements and statement of service 
performance. We obtained all the information 
and explanations we required to support our 
opinion above.

Responsibilities of the 
Board and the Auditor
The Board is responsible for preparing the 
financial statements and statement of service 
performance in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 
The financial statements must fairly reflect 
the financial position of the Commission as at 
30 June 2008 and the results of its operations 
and cash flows for the year ended on that 
date. The statement of service performance 
must fairly reflect, for each class of outputs, 
the Commission’s standards of delivery 
performance achieved and revenue earned 
and expenses incurred, as compared with the 
forecast standards, revenue and expenses 
adopted at the start of the financial year. The 
Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown 
Entities Act 2004 and Charities Act 2005. 

We are responsible for expressing an independent 
opinion on the financial statements and 
statement of service performance and reporting 
that opinion to you. This responsibility arises 
from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 
and the Crown Entities Act 2004. 

Independence
When carrying out the audit we followed the 
independence requirements of the Auditor- 
General, which incorporate the independence 
requirements of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of New Zealand.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship 
with or interests in the Commission.

The Minister for the Community and Voluntary  
Sector Parliament Buildings Wellington

J R Smaill 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand



In 2007/08, the Charities Commission 
achieved the following outputs 
in accordance with performance 
standards set out in the Commission’s 
2007-2010 Statement of Intent.

The Output class for the Commission 
is Charities Administration. This output 
class provides for the delivery of 
services that contribute to promoting 
public trust and confidence in charities. 
The services being delivered include:

• establishment and maintenance of 
the Register of Charities under the 
Charities Act 2005

• provision of advice, education and 
information

• monitoring of the activities of 
registered charities

2007/08 Output Summary Actual Budget
$000 

GST exclusive
$000 

GST exclusive
Charities Administration:
Output revenue 5,753.2 4,920.0
Output expense (5,944.7) (7,336.5)
Net deficit (191.5) (2,416.5)

For the explanations of the significant variances against budget, refer to 
Note 21 of the Notes to the Financial Statements on page 41.
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Performance Measure Standard/Target Achieved to 30 June
Quantity:

Number of charities registered Up to 18,000 (for the year) Not achieved. 

This target was set in Oct 2006 but 
revised down to 9,255 when the Case for 
Access to $1m Contingency Funding was 
prepared in Sep-Oct 2007.

Only 7,694 charities were registered 
in the year ended 30 June 2008 as the 
required staffing levels were not reached 
until Feb 2008.

The Commission has given an 
undertaking that all properly completed 
applications received by 30 Jun 2008 will 
be processed by 31 Dec 2008.

Annual returns received and processed Up to 10,000 (for the year) Due to fewer registrations, only 188 
annual returns were received in the year 
ended 30 Jun 2008. Of these, 150 were 
processed by 30 Jun 2008.

Under this output, the Commission will:

• establish the Register of Charitable 
Entities

• receive, consider and process 
applications for registration as 
charitable entities

• ensure the Register of Charitable 
Entities is compiled and maintained

• receive, consider and process annual 
returns submitted by charitable 
entities

• supply information for the purposes 
of the Inland Revenue Acts

Information from the Register is being 
supplied to Inland Revenue daily, as 
agreed.

Output 1.1: Establishment and maintenance of the Register of Charities 
under the Charities Act 2005
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Performance Measure Standard/Target Achieved to 30 June
Quality:

Fully completed applications for 
registration decided within 30 working 
days of receipt

85% of completed registrations are 
decided within 30 working days of 
receipt

Not achieved. 

This decision-making process has proved 
more difficult than anticipated and 
requires more staff than budgeted. 
Access to additional funding (through 
the $1m contingency fund) was only 
agreed to in early Oct 2007.

During the year, 19% of completed 
registrations were decided within  
30 working days of receipt.

Annual returns processed within 25 
working days of receipt

90% of annual returns are processed 
within 25 working days of receipt

Not achieved. 

Staff have been concentrating on 
processing registrations.

59% of annual returns received were 
processed within 25 working days of 
receipt.

Register will be online and fully 
operational to the public and charities

Register will be online and fully 
operable to the public and charities 
with no less than 97% availability per 
month

Not achieved.

The Register was online and operational 
during the first three quarters, however 
the public was not able to view and 
download supporting documents on the 
Register until 22 Jan 2008.

Since then the Register has been fully 
operable to the public and charities.

A quality audit on a sample of the 
recommendations for registration

Indicates no significant areas for 
improvement and shows only minor 
inconsistencies in decisions

Achieved.

An independent quality audit was 
completed of 1% of registration decisions 
in Nov 2007.  The results did not identify 
any significant areas for improvement or 
minor inconsistencies in decisions.

Information from the Register is being supplied to Inland Revenue daily, as agreed.
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Performance Measure Standard/Target Achieved to 30 June
Quantity:
Registration information and support
Free phone advisory service Able to answer a peak of 

2,000 calls per month
4,622 calls were answered in June, the peak month 
for the period.

Registration information packs 5,000 distributed Over 14,800 packs were distributed during the year.
Information dissemination
Update newsletter produced and 
distributed monthly

Circulation list over 3,500 Current circulation list of 4,086.

Fact sheets provided on issues such 
as group registration and funding

At least 5 fact (information) 
sheets produced

In total, the Commission has produced 31 
information/fact sheets.

Advice on issues affecting charities
Undertake a consultation process 
with the charitable sector

To hold five annual meetings 
throughout New Zealand, at 
least one to be held not later 
than 30 November 2007

Annual meetings were held in Wellington, 
Christchurch and Dunedin before 30 November 
2007. Meetings were also held in Auckland and 
Tauranga in December 2007.

Quality:
Registration information and support
Free phone advisory service Evaluation of a sample of 

callers indicates that needs of 
participants have been met

For the twelve months, call quality averaged 91.89% 
on a total of 25,405 inbound calls answered by the 
contact centre.

Information on registration on the 
Commission’s website

Stakeholder feedback on the 
usefulness of the material

Positive feedback on the usefulness of the 
registration information has been received through 
evaluation feedback at the workshops and some 
speaking engagements, and anecdotally at 
workshops, speaking engagements, from sector 
organisations and by the contact centre.

Under this output, the Commission will:

• provide information and support to 
help charities to apply for registration 
under the Charities Act, and to help 
charities complete annual returns

• foster relationships and networks 
with the charitable sector

• provide information and guidance as 
required on the implementation of 
the Charities Act and its regulations, 
and other matters affecting charities

• use the comprehensive information 
received through the registration 
process to provide statistical data and 
other relevant information to stake-
holders about the charitable sector

• begin a sector-wide consultative 
process focused on developing an 
understanding of the charitable 
sector’s research needs and its views 
on research priorities

• identify research priorities for areas 
where information is not currently 
available or, where we believe further 
investigation is warranted

 Output 1.2 – Provision of advice, education and information

• provide charitable organisations 
with support and guidance on good 
governance and management

• use the information received from 
our monitoring activities to further 
develop our education programmes

• develop and make available 
guidelines and recommendations 
on good practice governance 
and management of charitable 
organisations.
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Performance Measure Standard/Target Achieved to 30 June
Quality:
Registration information packs Stakeholder feedback on the 

usefulness of the material
Positive feedback on the usefulness of the 
registration information packs has been received 
from both the sector and professional advisors, 
through evaluation feedback at the workshops 
and some speaking engagements, and anecdotally 
at workshops, speaking engagements, from sector 
organisations and by the contact centre.

Information dissemination
Update newsletter produced and 
distributed monthly

Readership survey on 
appropriateness of newsletter

100% of the 69 respondents to the September 2007 
readership survey rated the overall usefulness of the 
newsletter as “good” or “excellent”.

Fact sheets provided on issues 
such as group registration, tax and 
funding

Programme to review and 
update existing fact sheets

Positive stakeholder feedback 
on the appropriateness of the 
information

The review and update programme is ongoing.

Positive feedback on the usefulness of the fact 
sheets has been received from both the sector and 
professional advisors, through evaluation feedback 
at the workshops and some speaking engagements, 
and anecdotally at workshops, speaking 
engagements, from sector organisations and by the 
contact centre.

Advice on issues affecting charities
Development of a strategic 
framework for research

Strategic framework for 
research completed by 30 
June 2008

Work to develop a strategic framework has been 
delayed given other priorities and resourcing issues.

Effective advice on the relationship 
of the charitable sector to the wider 
work programme of the Government

Positive stakeholder feedback 
on the usefulness of the 
advice

Advice was given on the impact of policy 
development of other government agencies on the 
Commission and the charitable sector, both to the 
Board and back to the relevant agency. All advice 
considered by the Board received positive feedback, 
however feedback from the other agencies was not 
always received.

Other policy advice is delivered in 
accordance with an established work 
programme

Positive stakeholder feedback 
on the usefulness of the 
advice

The 2007/08 policy work programme was 
considered by the Board in July 2007. Throughout 
the year, advice was delivered to the Board either in 
accordance with the work programme or to meet 
the changing demands of the Board. All advice 
considered by the Board received positive feedback.
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Performance Measure Standard/Target Achieved to 30 June
Quantity:
Develop a framework for the 
monitoring of registered charitable 
entities

Framework for the 
monitoring of registered 
charitable entities’ activities 
developed by 30 June 2008

In progress.

The Commission has commenced work on 
determining its monitoring and investigative 
functions under the Charities Act, and how those 
functions inter-relate with those of other agencies.

Complaints about registered 
charities responded to within 25 
working days

100% of complaints about 
registered charities brought 
to the Commission’s 
attention are followed up 
and responded to within 25 
working days

Not achieved. [The Commission was not funded to 
handle complaints about charities]

• Six complaints were received about registered 
charities. Two were forwarded to other agencies 
and one referred to the charity within 25 working 
days. Two received in June 2008 were still to be 
actioned. One of the complaints was also the 
subject of a request for information under the 
Official Information Act (OIA) and was dealt with 
in conjunction with the OIA request.

• A further 11 complaints were received about 
charities that had applied for registration at 
the time the complaint was received. Four were 
forwarded to the appropriate agencies and four 
were referred back to the complainant within 25 
working days. Two received in June 2008 were still 
to be actioned and one has had no action taken as 
the complaint was anonymous.

• The Commission also received one complaint 
concerning a non-registered charity that was 
forwarded to the appropriate agency.

Under this output, the Commission will:

• monitor registered charitable 
entities to ensure they maintain their 
qualification for registration

• enquire into any conduct of charitable 
entities that may constitute a breach 
of the Charities Act

• monitor and promote compliance 
with the Charities Act and take 
prosecutions under this Act

• receive and investigate complaints 
about charities.

 Output 1.3 – Monitoring activities of charitable entities
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Statement of Financial Performance 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

Notes
Actual 

2008
Budget 

2008
Actual 

2007
$ $ $

REVENUE
Crown funding 5,747,333 4,747,333 2,992,333
Annual return fees 5,644 172,748 -
Interest 114,628 50,000 124,733
Other revenue 246 - -
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 5,867,851 4,970,081 3,117,066

Interest – litigation fund 8(1) 18,736 16,665 16,380
TOTAL REVENUE 5,886,587 4,986,746 3,133,446

EXPENSES
Administration 996,650 1,016,703 729,131
Audit fees 44,300 30,000 40,120
Board members’ fees 2 102,294 100,070 109,917
Communication and education 210,606 368,300 301,675
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 3 236,733 340,566 254,528
Occupancy costs 4 172,207 174,092 150,976
Personnel costs 5 1,552,402 1,512,499 1,445,056
Professional fees 66,167 168,000 625,801
Registration – related costs 6 2,563,420 2,038,168 576,509
Litigation expenses 654 - -
Non-current asset write off 12 - 1,588,132 1,665,395
TOTAL EXPENSES 5,945,433 7,336,530 5,899,108
NET DEFICIT (58,846) (2,349,784) (2,765,662)

Comprising:
Operating deficit (76,928) (2,366,449) (2,782,042)
Litigation fund 8(1) 18,082          16,665 16,380

(58,846) (2,349,784) (2,765,662)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Movements in Taxpayers’ Funds 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

Notes
Actual 

2008
Budget 

2008
Actual 

2007
$ $ $

Net deficit for year (58,846) (2,349,784) (2,765,662)

Total recognised revenues and expenses  
for the year

(58,846) (2,349,784) (2,765,662)

Taxpayers’ funds at beginning of year 1,656,380     3,253,795 3,996,042
Capital contribution received - - 426,000
Taxpayers’ funds at end of the year 1,597,534 904,011 1,656,380

Comprising:
Accumulated funds 8(2) 1,341,024 649,138 1,417,952
Litigation fund 8(1) 256,510 254,873 238,428

1,597,534 904,011 1,656,380

Statement of Financial Performance 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes
Actual 

2008
Budget 

2008
Actual 

2007
$ $ $

TAXPAYERS’ FUNDS
Accumulated funds 8(2) 1,341,024 649,138 1,417,952
Litigation fund 8(1) 256,510 254,873 238,428

Taxpayers’ funds 1,597,534 904,011 1,656,380
Represented by:
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9(1) 867,756 71,316 1,344,399
Cash and cash equivalents – litigation fund 9(2) 257,164 254,873 238,428
Debtors and other receivables 10 24,795 10,000 18,019
Goods and Services Tax receivable 84,541 74,801 73,463
Total current assets 1,234,256 410,990 1,674,309

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 11 339,797 302,376 332,168
Intangible assets 12 776,317 759,663 266,394
Total non-current assets 1,116,114 1,062,039 598,563
TOTAL ASSETS 2,350,370 1,473,029 2,272,871

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Employee entitlements 13 183,380 169,018 113,919
Creditors and other payables 14 569,456 400,000 502,572
Total current liabilities 752,836 569,018 616,491
TOTAL LIABILITIES 752,836 569,018 616,491

NET ASSETS 1,597,534 904,011 1,656,380

Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2008

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes
Actual 

2008
Budget 

2008
Actual 

2007
$ $ $

CASH FLOWS – OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash was provided from:
Crown funding 5,747,333 4,747,333 2,992,333
Annual return fees 3,419 172,748 -
Other revenue 246 - -
Interest received 129,365 50,000 126,205
Interest – litigation fund 8(1) 18,736 16,665 16,380         
Net GST received/(paid) (11,078) (43,096)     (57,141)

Cash was disbursed to: 
Payments to suppliers (4,056,002) (4,295,333) (2,307,540)
Payments for personnel costs (1,535,641) (1,512,499) (1,399,121)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities 15 296,378 (864,182) (628,884)

CASH FLOWS – INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash was disbursed to: 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (79,200) (25,000) (21,999)
Intangible assets (675,085) (621,000) (1,304,678)
Net cash outflows from investing activities (754,285) (646,000) (1,326,677)

CASH FLOWS – FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash was provided from:
Capital contribution - - 426,000
Net cash inflows from financing activities - - 426,000

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (457,907) (1,510,182)  (1,529,561)
Add opening cash and cash equivalents 1,582,827 1,836,371   3,112,388
Closing cash and cash equivalents carried forward 1,124,920 326,189   1,582,827

Closing cash and cash equivalents carried forward was 
represented by: 
Cash and cash equivalents 9(1) 867,756 71,316 1,344,399
Cash and cash equivalents – litigation fund 9(2) 257,164 254,873 238,428
Closing cash and cash equivalents 1,124,920 326,189 1,582,827

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with the Inland Revenue Department. The GST (net) 
component has been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes.

 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Commitments 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

Operating Commitments
Actual 

2008
Actual 

2007
$ $

Operating lease commitments:
Less than one year 543,893 527,552
One to two years 416,246 160,402
Two to five years 335,221 187,200

More than five years - -
Total Commitments 1,295,360 875,154

 
The Charities Commission has a lease on its premises in Wellington, which expires in December 
2010.  The Charities Commission has two rights of renewal each of three years after that date. The 
Charities Commission also has leases on various items of office equipment. The amounts disclosed 
above as future commitments are based on current rental rates. 

There are no other operating leases.

Capital Commitments
Actual 

2008
Actual 

2007
$ $

Estimated capital expenditure contracted for at
balance date but not provided for - 669,960

 
Statement of Contingencies 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

Contingent Liabilities

There are no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2008 (2007: nil).

Contingent Assets

There are no contingent assets as at 30 June 2008 (2007: nil). 

 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

1. STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity
The Charities Commission is a Crown 
entity established under the Charities 
Act 2005 and is an autonomous Crown 
entity as defined by the Crown Entities 
Act 2004. The Charities Commission is 
domiciled in New Zealand and its ultimate 
parent is the New Zealand Crown. 

The primary objectives of the Charities 
Commission are to promote public 
trust and confidence in the charitable 
sector, and to encourage and promote 
the effective use of charitable resources, 
rather than making a financial return. 

Accordingly, the Commission has 
designated itself as a public benefit 
entity for the purposes of New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).

The financial statements of the 
Charities Commission are for the year 
ended 30 June 2008. The financial 
statements were authorised to be 
issued by the Board on 29 October 2008.

Basis of Preparation
Statement of Compliance
The financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with the Crown Entities 
Act 2004, and New Zealand generally 
accepted accounting practice (NZ 
GAAP). They comply with NZ IFRS, and 
other applicable Financial Reporting 
Standards, as appropriate for public 
benefit entities.

First Year of Preparation Under  
NZ IFRS
This is the first set of financial 
statements prepared using NZ IFRS and 
comparatives for the year ended 30 June 
2007 have been restated to NZ IFRS 
accordingly.

Reconciliations of taxpayers funds and 
net surplus/(deficit) for the year ended 
30 June 2007 under NZ IFRS to the 
balances reported in the 30 June 2007 
financial statements are detailed in 
note 23.

Implications of changes to NZ IFRS are 
quantified in note 23.

The accounting policies set out below 
have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these financial 
statements and in preparing an opening 
NZ IFRS statement of financial position 
as at 1 July 2006 for the purpose of the 
transition to NZ IFRS.

Measurement base
The financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, and 
are presented in New Zealand dollars.

Standards, amendments and 
interpretation issued that are not 
yet effective and have not been 
early adopted
The only standard, amendment and 
interpretation issued but not yet 
effective that has not been early 
adopted, and which is relevant to the 
Charities Commission is NZ IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements. NZ 
IAS 1, revised in 2007, replaces NZ IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statement 
(issued 2004) and is effective for 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2009. The revised standard 
requires information in financial 
statements to be aggregated on the 
basis of shared characteristics and 
introduces a statement of 
comprehensive income. The statement 
of comprehensive income will enable 
readers to analyse changes in equity 
resulting from the non-owner changes 
separately from transactions with the 
Crown in its capacity as “owner”. The 
revised standard gives the Commission 
the option of presenting items of income 
and expenses and components of other 
comprehensive income either in a single 
statement of comprehensive income 

with subtotals, or in two separate 
statements (a separate income 
statement followed by a statement of 
comprehensive income). The 
Commission intends to adopt this 
standard for the year ending 30 June 
2010, and is yet to decide whether it will 
prepare a single statement of 
comprehensive income or a separate 
income statement followed by a 
statement of comprehensive income.

Significant Accounting 
Policies
The following accounting policies which 
materially affect the measurement of 
financial performance and financial 
position have been applied.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from 
the Statement of Intent as approved 
by the Board at the beginning of the 
financial year. The budget figures have 
been prepared in accordance with NZ 
IFRS, using accounting policies that are 
consistent with those adopted by the 
Commission for the preparation of the 
financial statements.

Revenue 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable.

Crown funding
The Charities Commission is primarily 
funded through funding received from 
the Crown, which is restricted in its 
use for the purpose of the Charities 
Commission meeting its objectives as 
specified in the Statement of Intent. 
Such revenue is recognised when 
earned and is reported in the financial 
period to which it relates.

Annual return fees
The Charities Commission derives 
revenue through annual return fees 
received from registered charities. Such 
revenue is recognised when earned and 
is reported in the financial period to 
which it relates.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

Interest
The Charities Commission also derives 
revenue through interest on its bank 
deposits. Such revenue is recognised 
when earned and is reported in the 
financial period to which it relates.

Goods and Services Tax 
All items in these financial statements 
are presented exclusive of GST except 
for receivables and payables, which are 
presented inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue 
Department (IRD) is disclosed separately 
in the Statement of Financial Position.

The net GST paid to, or received from, 
the IRD, including the GST relating to 
investing and financing activities, is 
classified as an operating cash flow in 
the Statement of Cash Flows.

Commitments and contingencies are 
disclosed exclusive of GST.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist 
mainly of operational assets. These 
include leasehold improvements, 
computer hardware, furniture and 
fittings, and office equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are 
shown at initial cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is recognised as an asset 
only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the item will flow to the 
Charities Commission and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. 

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, 
or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at 
fair value when control over the asset is 
obtained.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the proceeds 
with the carrying amount of the asset. 
Gains and losses on disposals are 
included in the Statement of Financial 
Performance.

Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial 
acquisition are capitalised only when 
it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to the Charities 
Commission and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance as they are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-
line basis on all property, plant and 
equipment at rates that will write off 
the cost of the assets to their estimated 
residual values over their useful 
lives. The useful lives and associated 
depreciation rates of major classes of 
assets have been estimated as follows:

Computer Equipment – 4 years (25%)
Furniture & Fittings – 10 years (10%)
Office Equipment – 10 years (10%)
Leasehold Improvements – 12 years (8.3%)

Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the unexpired period 
of the lease or the estimated remaining 
useful lives of the improvements, which 
ever is the shorter.

The residual value and useful life of 
an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if 
applicable, at each financial year-end.

Intangible assets

Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licenses 
are capitalised on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software.

Costs that are directly associated 
with the development of software for 
internal use by the Commission, are 
recognised as an intangible asset. Direct 
costs include the software development, 
employee costs and an appropriate 
portion of relevant overheads.

Staff training costs are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining 
computer software are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible 
asset with a finite life is amortised on 
a straight-line basis over its useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset 
is available for use and ceases at the 
date that the asset is derecognised. The 
amortisation charge for each period is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance.

The useful lives and associated 
amortisation rates of major classes of 
intangible assets have been estimated 
as follows:

Computer Software – 4 years (25%)
Register Software – 4 years (25%)

Impairment of non-financial 
assets
Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets that have a finite 
useful life are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use.
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Value in use is the depreciated 
replacement cost for an asset where the 
future economic benefits or service 
potential of the asset are not primarily 
dependent on the asset’s ability to 
generate net cash inflows and where 
the Charities Commission would, if 
deprived of the asset, replace its 
remaining future economic benefits or 
service potential.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset is 
impaired and the carrying amount 
is written down to the recoverable 
amount. 

For assets not carried at a revalued 
amount, the total impairment loss is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. 

For assets not carried at a revalued 
amount, the reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance.

Commitments
Future payments and liabilities to 
be incurred on contracts that have 
been entered into at balance date are 
disclosed as commitments to the extent 
that there are equally unperformed 
obligations. Commitments relating to 
employment contracts are not disclosed.

Contingent assets and  
contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets are recorded in the Statement  
of Contingencies at the point at which 
the contingency is evident. Contingent 
liabilities are disclosed if the possibility 
that they will crystallise is not remote. 
Contingent assets are disclosed if it is 
probable that the benefits will be 
realised.

Leases

Operating Leases
Leases that do not transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset to the Charities 
Commission are classified as operating 
leases. Lease payments under an 
operating lease are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease in the Statement 
of Financial Performance. The Charities 
Commission leases office premises, 
printers, photocopiers and two car 
parks. As the lessor retains all the risks 
and the ownerships of these leases, they 
are classified as operating leases. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include 
cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
domestic banks and other short term 
deposits with banks with maturities of 
less than 3 months.

Debtors and other receivables
Debtors and other receivables are 
initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, 
less any provision for impairment.

Income tax
The Charities Commission is, as a public 
authority, exempt from the payment of 
income tax. Accordingly, no charge for 
income tax is provided for.

Creditors and other payables
Creditors and other payables are 
initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Employee entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements
Employee entitlements that the 
Charities Commission expects to be 
settled within 12 months of balance 
date are measured at undiscounted 
nominal values based on accrued 
entitlements at current rates of pay.

These include salaries and wages 
accrued up to balance date, annual 
leave earned, but not taken at balance 
date and sick leave. The Charities 
Commission does not provide long 
service leave or retirement leave.

The Charities Commission recognises 
a liability for sick leave to the extent 
that absences in the coming year are 
expected to be greater than the sick 
leave entitlements earned in the coming 
year. The amount is calculated based 
on the unused sick leave entitlement 
that can be carried forward at balance 
date, to the extent that the Charities 
Commission anticipates it will be used 
by staff to cover those future absences.

Litigation fund
The litigation fund was established 
to provide funds for major litigation 
activities. Interest income is reported 
as income of the Charities Commission 
in the financial period in which it is 
derived. Actual direct operating costs 
of litigation fund cases will be charged 
against the fund. Reimbursements 
from the Crown to top up the fund 
will be shown as income in the period 
in which the Charities Commission’s 
claim for reimbursement is accepted by 
the Crown. The balance of the fund is 
disclosed as a component of taxpayers’ 
fund in the Statement of Financial 
Position. 

Taxpayers’ funds
This is the Crown’s net investment in 
the Charities Commission.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
Critical accounting estimates  
and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements 
the Charities Commission has made 
estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future. These estimates and 
assumptions may differ from the 
subsequent actual results. Estimates 
and assumptions are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below.

Property, plant and equipment useful 
lives and residual value
At each balance date, the Commission 
reviews the useful lives and 
residual values of its property, plant 
and equipment. Assessing the 
appropriateness of useful life and 
residual value estimates of property, 
plant and equipment requires the 
Commission to consider a number of 
factors such as the physical condition of 
the asset, expected period of use of the 
asset by the Commission, and expected 
disposal proceeds from the future sale 
of the asset.

An incorrect estimate of the useful life 
or residual value will impact on the 
depreciation expense recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance, 
and carrying amount of the asset in 
the statement of financial position. The 
Commission minimises the risk of the 
estimation uncertainty by:

- physical inspection of assets;
- asset replacement programs;
- review of second hand market prices 

for similar assets; and
- analysis of prior asset sales.

The Commission has not made 
significant changes to past assumptions 
concerning useful lives and residual 
values. The carrying amounts of 
property, plant and equipment are 
disclosed in note 11.

Intangible assets useful lives
At each balance date, the Commission 
reviews the useful lives of its intangible 
assets. Assessing the appropriateness of 
useful life estimates of intangible assets 
requires the Commission to consider 
the expected period of use of the asset 
by the Commission.

At 30 June 2007, the Commission 
had decided to replace the original 
Registration Software with the 
redeveloped Charities Register 
application software. As a result, the 
remaining book value of the original 
Registration Software was written off 
and this impairment was recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Performance 
in that year.

An incorrect estimate of the useful life 
or residual value will impact on the 
amortisation expense recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance, 
and carrying amount of the asset in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

The Commission has not made 
significant changes to past assumptions 
concerning useful lives of its intangible 
assets. The carrying amounts of intangible 
assets are disclosed in note 12.

Critical judgements in  
applying the Commission’s 
accounting policies
The Commission has exercised  
the following critical judgements in 
applying the Commission’s accounting 
policies for the period ended 30 June 
2008.

Leases classification

Determining whether a lease 
agreement is a finance or an operating 
lease requires judgement as to whether 
the agreement transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the 
ownership to the Commission.

Judgement is required on various 
aspects that include, but are not 
limited to, the fair value of the leased 
asset, the economic life of the leased 
asset, whether or not to include 
renewal options in the lease term and 
determining an appropriate discount 
rate to calculate the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. Classification 
as a finance lease means the asset 
is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position as property, plant and 
equipment, whereas for an operating 
lease no such asset is recognised.

The Commission has exercised 
its judgement on the appropriate 
classification of equipment leases and, 
has determined a number of lease 
arrangements are operating leases.

Adoption of New Zealand 
Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
(NZ IFRS)
The impact of the Charities 
Commission’s transition to NZ IFRS 
is minimal. Bank balances and short 
term deposits have been reclassified 
under the heading “Cash and cash 
equivalents” and Software acquisition 
and development have been transferred 
from Property, plant and equipment into 
“Intangible assets”. There are no other 
significant differences in accounting 
policies.
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2. BOARD MEMBERS’ FEES
Members are remunerated on the basis of time spent on the work of the Commission. 

Members’ fees for the year ended 30 June 2008 were:

Actual Actual
2008 2007

$ $
S. B. Ashton Chair 37,535 38,179
J. R. Timpany Deputy Chair 14,146 16,102
F.W.G. Claridge 13,563 13,999
I.J. Calder 12,613 13,312
K.R. Ayers 12,250 9,325
A. Houkamau 9,000 7,688
P. Webster (resigned January 2008) 3,187 11,312

102,294 109,917

No compensation or other benefits were paid or payable to any persons who ceased to be members 
or committee members during the financial year.

 

3. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSES
Actual Actual

2008 2007
$ $

Depreciation:
Leasehold Improvements 10,717 10,717
Computer Equipment 46,820 27,150
Office Equipment 5,176 4,901
Furniture and Fittings 8,858 8,667
Total depreciation 71,571 51,435

Amortisation:
Computer Software 14,141 14,142
Registration Software 151,021 188,951
Total amortisation 165,162 203,093

236,733 254,528

 
4. OCCUPANCY COSTS

Actual Actual
2008 2007

$ $
Occupancy costs include:
Rent 140,285 120,486
Cleaning 13,860 13,700
Power and Heating 14,333 13,626
Other Utilities 3,729 3,164

172,207 150,976
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

5. PERSONNEL COSTS
Actual Actual

2008 2007
$ $

Personnel costs include:
Salaries (non- Registration assessment) 1,417,885 1,268,173
Employer subsidies and withholding tax 53,997 40,772
Recruitment 30,420 46,276
Movement in annual leave provision 4,419 35,511
Other personnel costs 45,681 54,324

1,552,402 1,445,056

 
6. REGISTRATION – RELATED COSTS

Actual Actual
2008 2007

$ $
Registration – related costs include:
Application pre-processing 621,200 65,205
Registration assessment
•  salaries 1,518,884 407,346
•  movement in annual leave provision 39,413 24,904
•  recruitment 14,963 18,452
•  other personnel costs 10,066 4,598
•  rent 107,606 -
•  cleaning 11,092 -
•  power and heating 5,373 -
•  professional fees 58,726 -
•  administration 176,097 56,004

2,563,420 576,509

Note: The Registration assessment team moved into separate office space in December 2007 

7. EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Actual Actual

2008 2007
Remuneration Range
Between $100,000 and $110,000 1 1
Between $110,000 and $120,000 1 1
Between $121,000 and $130,000 2 -
Between $221,000 and $230,000 1 1

No compensations or other benefits were paid or payable to any persons who ceased to be employees 
during the financial year.

 
No indemnity was provided to any employee during the financial year.
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8(1). LITIGATION FUND 
Actual Actual

2008 2007
$ $

Balance at 1 July 238,428 222,048
Interest received 18,736 16,380
Expenses incurred (654) -
Balance at 30 June 256,510 238,428

 
8(2). ACCUMULATED FUNDS 

Actual Actual
2008 2007

$ $
Balance at 1 July 1,417,952 3,773,994
Capital contribution received - 426,000
Net operating surplus/(deficit) for the year (76,928)     (2,782,042)
Balance at 30 June 1,341,024 1,417,952

 
9(1). CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Actual Actual
2008 2007

$ $
Cash at bank 367,756 44,399
Short term bank deposit 500,000 1,300,000
Cash and cash equivalents 867,756 1,344,399

Details of the short term bank deposit are as follows:

Actual Actual
Interest 2008 2007

Rate Term $ $

Westpac Banking Corporation 8.26% 30 days 500,000 1,100,000
Westpac Banking Corporation 7.75% 91 days - 200,000

500,000 1,300,000

 
9(2). CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - LITIGATION FUND

Actual Actual
2008 2007

$ $
Cash at bank – Litigation fund 257,164 238,428
Cash and cash equivalents – Litigation fund 257,164 238,428

(Litigation expenses of $654 were incurred during the year and paid out of the Commission’s main 
bank account. A transfer from the Litigation account will be made in the 2008/09 financial year)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

10. DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Actual Actual

2008 2007
$ $

Accounts Receivable 2,225 -
Prepayments 19,289 -
Interest Receivable 3,281 18,019
Debtors and other receivables 24,795 18,019

 
The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value.   
As at 30 June 2008, all overdue receivables have been assessed for impairments and no provisions 
were needed. 
As at 30 June 2008, all accounts receivable are current, except for $75.
 

 

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold 

Improvements

$

Computer 
Equipment

$

Furniture & 
Fittings

$

Office 
Equipment

$

Total

$
Cost
Balance at 1 July 2006 128,604 76,377 84,010 46,026 335,017
Additions - 70,318 4,564 5,737 80,619
Balance at 30 June 2007 128,604 146,695 88,574 51,763 415,636

Balance at 1 July 2007 128,604 146,695 88,574 51,763 415,636
Additions - 79,200 - - 79,200
Balance at 30 June 2008 128,604 225,895 88,574 51,763 494,836

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2006 10,717 9,472 7,635 4,209 32,033
Depreciation expense 10,717 27,150 8,667 4,901 51,435
Balance at 30 June 2007 21,434 36,622 16,302 9,110 83,468

Balance at 1 July 2007 21,434 36,622 16,302 9,110 83,468
Depreciation expense 10,717 46,820 8,858 5,176 71,571
Impairment losses - - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2008 32,151 83,442 25,160 14,286 155,039

Carrying amounts
At 1 July 2006 117,887 66,905 76,375 41,817 302,984
At 30 June and 1 July 2007 107,170 110,073 72,272 42,653 332,168
At 30 June 2008 96,453 142,453 63,414 37,477 339,797
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer 
Software

$

Registration 
Software

$

Capital Work 
in Progress

$

Total

$
Cost
Balance at 1 July 2006 56,567 - 1,144,835 1,201,402
Additions - 1,854,346 940,551 2,794,897
Transfer to Registration Software - - (1,854,346) (1,854,346)
Balance at 30 June 2007 56,567 1,854,346 231,040 2,141,953

Balance at 1 July 2007 56,567 1,854,346 231,040 2,141,953
Additions - 906,125 675,085 1,581,210
Transfer to Registration Software - - (906,125) (906,125)
Balance at 30 June 2008 56,567 2,760,471 - 2,817,038

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2006 7,071 - - 7,071
Amortisation expense 14,142 188,951 - 203,093
Impairment losses - 1,665,395 - 1,665,395
Balance at 30 June 2007 21,213 1,854,346 - 1,875,559

Balance at 1 July 2007 21,213 1,854,346 - 1,875,559
Amortisation expense 14,141 151,021 - 165,162
Impairment losses - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2008 35,354 2,005,367 - 2,040,721

Carrying amounts
At 1 July 2006 49,496 - 1,144,835 1,194,331
At 30 June and 1 July 2007 35,354 - 231,040 266,394
At 30 June 2008 21,213 755,104 - 776,317

An impairment of $1,665,395 was recognised in 2007 (2008: $nil) for the original Registration Software 
that was replaced by the redevelopment of the Charities Register application software in November 2007.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

13. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Actual Actual

2008 2007
$ $

Accrued salaries and wages 40,636 15,007
Provision for annual leave 142,744 98,912
Provision for sick leave - -
Retirement and long service leave - -

183,380 113,919

14. CREDITORS AND OTHER PAYABLES
Actual Actual

2008 2007
$ $

Creditors and other payables include:
Payables to suppliers 267,069 287,292
Accruals 250,290 192,261
ACC accruals 7,302 102
PAYE / Withholding tax payable 44,795 22,917

569,456 502,572
 
Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms, 
therefore the carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value. 

15. RECONCILIATION OF NET OPERATING DEFICIT WITH NET CASH 
FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Actual Actual
2008 2007

$ $
Net Operating Deficit (58,846) (2,765,662)

Items not involving cash:
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 236,733 254,528
Non-current asset write off - 1,665,395

Changes in working capital items:
Employee entitlements 69,461 64,210
Creditors and other payables 66,884 208,314
Debtors and other receivables (6,776) 1,472
Good and Services Tax receivable (11,078) (57,141)

Net cash inflows / (outflows) from operating activities 296,378 (628,884)
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Charities Commission is a party to financial instruments as part of its normal operations. 
These financial instruments include bank accounts, bank deposits, receivables and payables. 
Revenues and expenses are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. The 
Commission’s exposure to off-balance sheet financial instruments is limited to operating 
commitments (refer to the Statement of Commitments). The particular recognition methods 
adopted are disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each item.

Credit Risk
The financial instruments, which may subject the Commission to credit risk, are principally bank 
balances, deposits and accounts receivable and payables. The Commission’s investments and 
bank balances are deposited with a registered bank in New Zealand. No collateral is held by the 
Commission, in respect of receivables or bank balances. 

The Commission does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk
The Commission does not have any significant exposure to interest rate risk. Any risk is managed 
by holding funds at call, or on short-term deposit.

Currency Risk
The Commission does not have any exposure to currency risk.

Fair Value
The fair value of financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying amount disclosed in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Charities Commission will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds 
to meet commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash. The Commission aims to maintain flexibility in funding by securing and keeping 
adequate Crown funding available.

In meeting its liquidity requirements, the Commission maintains a target level of bank deposits 
that must mature within the specified timeframe.

The table below analyses the Commission financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

Less than 6 
months

$
2007
Creditors and other payables (note 14) 502,572

2008
Creditors and other payables (note 14) 569,456
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND KEY  
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The Commission is an autonomous Crown entity as defined by the Crown Entities Act 2004.   
The major portion of funding for the Commission’s operations is received from the Crown.  

The Commission enters into transactions with government departments, state-owned enterprises 
and other Crown entities. Those transactions that occur within a normal supplier or client 
relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable 
to expect the Commission would have adopted if dealing with that entity at arm’s length in the 
same circumstances have not been disclosed as related party transactions.

The Charities Commission did not have any related party transactions other than those with the 
Crown mentioned above.

Actual Actual
2008 2007

$ $
Key management personnel compensation
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 931,931 898,514
Post-employment benefits - -
Other long-term benefits - -
Termination benefits - -
Total key management personnel compensation 931,931 898,514

18. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
There were no significant events after the balance sheet date that would have  
led to an amended view of the values of assets or liabilities at the date of the balance sheet.

19. CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Actual Actual
2008 2007

$ $
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents  (Note 9 (1)) 367,756 44,399
Cash and cash equivalents – litigation fund (Note 9 (2)) 257,164 238,428
Debtors and other receivables 109,336 91,482
Investments – term deposits (Note 9 (1)) 500,000 1,300,000
Total loans and receivables 1,234,256 1,674,309

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Creditors and other payables 569,456 502,572
Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 569,456 502,572
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20. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Commission’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves.  
Equity is represented by net assets.

The Commission is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the 
Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of 
securities, issuing guarantees and indemnities and the use of derivatives.

The Commission manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, 
assets, liabilities, investments, and general financial dealings to ensure the Commission effectively 
achieves its objectives and purpose, whilst remaining a going concern.

21. EXPLANATION OF SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET
Explanation for significant variations from the Commission’s budgeted figures in the Statement of 
Intent are as follows:

Statement of financial performance
Crown funding – Crown funding was more than budget by $1m due to the Commission drawing 
down the contingency funding in October 2007.

Registration – related costs – Included in registration-related costs were registration staff salaries 
that exceeded budget by $0.574m. The extra registration staff were employed due to the extra time 
required to process applications for registration and to cope with the influx of applications for 
registration towards the 30 June 2008 registration deadline.

Non-current asset write off – The budgeted write off amounting to $1.588m of the to-be-replaced 
Registration Software was put through the financial statements in the year ended 30 June 2007.

Statement of financial position

Cash and cash equivalents – The cash and cash equivalents were more than budget by $0.796m 
and due mainly to the receipt of the unbudgeted contingency funding of $1m.

Statement of movements in taxpayers’ funds
Net deficit for year – The net deficit for the year was less than budgeted by $2.311m due to the 
budget variances explained in the Statement of Financial Performance above.

Statement of cash flows
Net cash inflows from operating activities was more than budget by $1.16m due mainly to the 
receipt of unbudgeted $1m contingency funding from the Crown.

22. TRANSITION TO NZ IFRS
The Charities Commission’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2008 are the first 
financial statements that comply with NZ IFRS.  The Charities Commission has applied NZ IFRS 1 in 
preparing these financial statements.

The Charities Commission’s transition date is 1 July 2006.  The Commission has prepared its 
opening NZ IFRS balance sheet at that date.

In preparing these financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS 1, the Commission has applied 
the mandatory exceptions and certain optional exemptions from full retrospective application of 
NZ IFRS.

There have been no exemptions taken up.

Estimates exception
Estimates under NZ IFRS at 1 July 2007 are consistent with estimates made for the same date 
under previous NZ GAAP.
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23. RECONCILIATION OF TAXPAYERS’ FUNDS
The following table shows the changes in taxpayers’ funds, resulting from the transition from previous NZ GAAP to NZ IFRS  
as at 30 June 2007.

Note

Previous NZ 
GAAP 

30 Jun 06 
$

Effect on 
transition 
to NZ IFRS 
30 Jun 06

$

NZ IFRS 
30 Jun 06

$

Previous NZ 
GAAP 

30 Jun 07

$

Effect on 
transition 
to NZ IFRS 
30 Jun 07

$

NZ IFRS 
30 Jun 07

$

TAXPAYERS’ FUNDS
Accumulated funds a 3,773,994 - 3,773,994 1,417,952 - 1,417,952
Litigation fund 222,048 - 222,048 238,428 - 238,428
Total Taxpayers’ Funds 3,996,042 - 3,996,042 1,656,380 - 1,656,380

Represented by:
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash at bank b 562,590 (562,590) - 44,399 (44,399) -
Cash at bank – litigation fund b 249,798 (249,798) - 238,428 (238,428) -
Cash and cash equivalents b - 2,862,590 2,862,590 - 1,344,399 1,344,399
Cash and cash equivalents – 
litigation fund

b - 249,798 249,798 - 238,428 238,428

Short term bank deposit b 2,300,000 (2,300,000) - 1,300,000 (1,300,000) -
Debtors and other receivables 19,491 - 19,491 18,019 - 18,019
Goods and Services Tax receivable 16,322 - 16,322 73,463 - 73,463
Total current assets 3,148,201 - 3,148,201 1,674,309 - 1,674,309

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Capital work in progress 1,144,835 (1,144,835) - 231,040 (231,040) -
Property, plant and equipment c 352,480 (49,496) 302,984 367,522 (35,354) 332,168
Intangible assets c - 1,194,331 1,194,331 - 266,394 266,394
Total non-current assets 1,497,315 - 1,497,315 598,562 - 598,562
TOTAL ASSETS 4,645,516 - 4,645,516 2,272,871 - 2,272,871

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Employee entitlements a 38,496 11,213 49,709 98,912 15,007 113,919
Creditors and other payables 610,978 (11,213) 599,765 517,579 (15,007) 502,572
Total current liabilities 649,474 - 649,474 616,491 - 616,491
TOTAL LIABILITIES 649,474 - 649,474 616,491 - 616,491
NET ASSETS 3,996,042 - 3,996,042 1,656,380 - 1,656,380

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
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Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) for the year ended 30 June 2007: 

Explanatory notes – reconciliation of taxpayers’ funds
a. Employee entitlements
Accrued salaries and wages are now shown in employee entitlements and no longer as accrued 
expenses in creditors and other payables.

b. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and term deposits with maturities less than three months have been reclassified as 
cash and cash equivalents.

c. Intangible assets
Computer software – Computer software was classified as part of property, plant and equipment 
under previous NZ GAAP.  The net book value of computer software reclassified as an intangible 
asset on transition to NZ IFRS in 2007 was $35,354 (2006: $49,496).  Included in the intangible 
assets at 30 June 2007 was an amount of $231,040 incurred to that date for the redevelopment of 
the Charities Register application software. 

Previous NZ 
GAAP 

30 Jun 06 
$

Effect on 
transition to 

NZ IFRS 
30 Jun 06 

$

NZ IFRS 
30 Jun 06 

$

Previous 
NZ GAAP 
30 Jun 07 

$

Effect on 
transition to NZ 

IFRS 
30 Jun 07 

$

NZ IFRS 
30 Jun 07 

$

REVENUE
Crown funding 4,981,000 - 4,981,000 2,992,333 - 2,992,333
Annual return fees - - - - - -
Interest 103,198 - 103,198 124,733 - 124,733
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 5,084,198 - 5,084,198 3,117,066 - 3,117,066

Crown funding – litigation 222,000 - 222,000 - - -
Interest – litigation fund 48 - 48 16,380 - 16,380
TOTAL REVENUE 5,306,246 - 5,306,246 3,133,446 - 3,133,446

EXPENSES
Administration 355,434 - 355,434 729,131 - 729,131
Audit fees 30,000 - 30,000 40,120 - 40,120
Board members’ fees 135,818 - 135,818 109,917 - 109,917
Communication and education 72,941 - 72,941 301,675 - 301,675
Depreciation 39,104 - 39,104 254,528 - 254,528
Occupancy costs 126,641 - 126,641 150,976 - 150,976
Personnel costs 1,072,058 - 1,072,058 1,445,056 - 1,445,056
Professional fees 845,208 - 845,208 625,801 - 625,801
Registration-related costs - - - 576,509 - 576,509
Non-current asset write off - - - 1,665,395 - 1,665,395
TOTAL EXPENSES 2,677,204 - 2,677,204 5,899,108 - 5,899,108
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 2,629,042 - 2,629,042 (2,765,662) - (2,765,662)
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Our People

As at 30 June 2008, we had a core team 
of 15 permanent full-time employees,  
two permanent part-time employees 
and 43 fixed term employees.  During 
the year, we received 13 resignations: 
four from permanent employees and 
nine from fixed term employees. 

72% of the staff complement has been 
with the organisation for less than one 
year, therefore, our focus has been on 
providing initial training to enhance 
their job skill capability.  Our “Good 
Employer” policies have positioned us to 
compete for employees in an extremely 
challenging labour market and we 
continue to review our people 
management practices to enable us to 
meet the changing needs of our employees. 

The Commission’s long-term goal is 
to develop the capability necessary to 
enable the Commission to meet its 
objectives.  We will do this by:

• attracting, developing and retaining 
high calibre staff;

• rewarding and recognising staff in a 
fair and equitable manner; and

• enhancing the organisational culture.

The following key initiatives have been 
implemented in the 2007/08 period:

Leadership
We have continued to work towards 
addressing issues identified in our 
Employee Engagement Survey (2007), 
for example:

• clear expectations and operational 
leadership is provided by the Chief 
Executive and all managers, and roles 
and responsibilities are clearly defined;

• the Chief Executive continues to meet 
with all staff regularly  and provides 
them with an update on ‘work-in-
progress’; and

• we have celebrated success more 
frequently.

We have recognised the need to provide 
family support; therefore, the Commission 
implemented a part-reimbursement of 
fees for employees’ children to attend a 
school holiday programme. 

Recruitment, selection  
and induction
We had a significant focus on recruitment 
for the registration team this year.  We 
recruited 39 staff between 1 July 2007 
– 30 June 2008.  We used a variety of 
ways to achieve our recruitment targets: 
through advertising at universities, on 
government websites, in newspapers, 
using recruitment agencies and by 
word-of-mouth.  

Employee development,  
promotion and exit
The annual performance management 
process completed its second year of 
implementation.  Employees were given 
an opportunity to provide feedback on 
the system and refinements were made 
to the Performance Review Guidelines 
to ensure ease of use for both managers 
and staff.  

The annual performance management 
process identified training and 
development needs and human 
resources implemented a system to keep 
track of training undertaken by staff.

Remuneration, recognition  
and conditions
Financial remuneration is reviewed 
annually and is aligned to performance 
on the job.  Staff receive personal thanks 
from the Chief Executive, as well as non-
cash incentives when appropriate.

Harassment and bullying 
prevention 
The Commission provides information 
on anti-harassment and the options 
available to employees to address 
harassment/bullying in the workplace 
at their induction.  New employees are 
directed to the Intranet for a copy of the 
Commission’s anti-harassment/bullying 
policy.  The Commission also provides 
anti-harassment training for all staff 
annually.  

Staff and healthy 
environment
• Staff are encouraged to participate 

in the health and safety of the 
Commission.  

• Staff are given access to the 
Commission’s Employee Assistance 
Programme.  This programme gives 
employees an opportunity to address 
personal problems that may be 
affecting their work performance.

• On joining the Commission, and 
as required afterwards, all staff 
are provided with a workplace 
assessment which includes a review 
and adjustment of workstations, 
equipment recommendations 
and advice on exercises and 
self-management to relieve any 
discomfort.

• Staff are encouraged to use their 
annual leave in the period it is earned.

• Flu vaccinations are provided to staff 
and their spouses/partners on an 
annual basis.  

For information on further initiatives 
undertaken by the Commission, please 
visit our website www.charities.govt.nz.
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Executive 
Assistant 

Kate Williams

BOARD

 

Chief Executive 
Trevor Garrett

Corporate 
Services Manager  

Barry Hayman

Communications  
& Education Manager 

Sandra Bennett

  

Legal Counsel  
Liz Fellows

Registration 
Manager 

Chris Winstanley

–  Corporate Advisor 
– Financial Accountant 
– Human Resources Advisor 
– IT Specialist 
– Admin/Accounts Assistant 
– Personal Assistant/  
 Receptionist

– Education Advisor 
– Communications Advisor  
 

– Senior Solicitor 
 

– Principal Advisor 
–  Analyst Supervisor 
–  Operations Supervisor 
–  Business Processing Analyst 
– Senior Registration Analysts 
– Registration Team Leader 
–  Intermediate Registration   
 Analysts 
– Registration Analysts 
– Operations Officers 
–  Data Entry Operators

Manager, Policy & 
Research  

Adrian Shields

Organisational Structure 
At 30 September 2008



How to register
You can find information on registration 
in the Guide to the Charities Act booklet, 
our website, www.charities.govt.nz, and 
by calling our free information line  
0508 242 748 (0508 CHARITIES). You can 
also subscribe to our monthly newsletter 
by emailing info@charities.govt.nz or 
phoning our free information line.

How to contact us
Level 8, 85  The Terrace, PO Box 8072,  
Wellington, New Zealand

Free information line 0508 242 748   
Phone: +64 4 978 7785  Fax: +64 4 978 7794 
Email: info@charities.govt.nz   

www.charities.govt.nz 

 



Board Governance Committees 

The Board meets monthly and at other times as required.  

The Board has established Standing Committees to help it more efficiently undertake 
its work. 

Human Resources Committee 

Members of this Committee are Sid Ashton (Chair), Ian Calder and Judith Timpany. 
This Committee oversees the selection and performance management of the Chief 
Executive. 

Information and Education Committee (previously the Communications and 
Education Committee) 

Members of this Committee are Judith Timpany (Chair), Amohaere Houkamau and 
Trish McKelvey.  This Committee provides oversight, guidance and support to enable 
the Commission to fulfil its obligations under section 10 of the Charities Act 2005, to 
meet the Charities Commission’s aims and objectives. 

Risk, Audit and Compliance Committee 

Members of this Committee are Frank Claridge (Chair), Sid Ashton, Ian Calder and 
Amohaere Houkamau. This Committee assists the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities relative to financial reporting, risk management and legislative 
compliance by the Charities Commission. 
 
Registration Committee 

Members of this Committee are Kerry Ayers (Chair), Sid Ashton (Deputy Chair), Ian 
Calder, Frank Claridge, Amohaere Houkamau, Trish McKelvey and Judith Timpany. 
This Committee provides guidance and support in the fulfilment of the Commission’s 
statutory obligations under the Charities Act to register charities. 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
25 September 2008 
 
 
Hon Ruth Dyson 
Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector 
Parliament Buildings 
Wellington 
 
 
Dear Minister 
 
Thank you for your letter that we received on 24 September advising of the 
decision relating to our Business Case. 
 
I would like to reiterate my comment that I made at our meeting last week that 
both myself and the Board are very pleased with your support over this 
decision.  The decision will allow us to continue with our registration work and to 
prepare for our future activities in both education for the charitable sector and 
the monitoring role that we have under our Act. 
 
However, I also mentioned at our meeting that I did have a serious concern 
about the funds available for our wider monitoring function.  I do appreciate that 
we do have funds to allow us to scope this function and we will do this as soon 
as we can. 
 
What I am concerned about, is that when we complete that exercise next year, 
we might have to wait until 2011/12 before we can assume any future funding. 
This is a very long wait.  I believe that this will be too late.  My reason for saying 
this is that there are a number of activities that we are already having to put on 
hold, such as investigating complaints, and I am worried that if there is a major 
incident and we can not respond, then confidence in the Commission may be 
damaged. 
 
I do not want to attempt to guess the result of this scoping exercise but I can 
envisage a staff in the vicinity of 7-8 plus a fund to cope with complicated issues 
involved in a major incident; such as forensic accounting services. 
 
I am also mindful that we are having preliminary discussions with intelligence 
agencies about the charities sector, as envisaged by the Special 
Recommendation 8 of the Financial Action Task Force (FATF).  Currently we 
have no ability to follow up on any intelligence or investigation activities with 
those agencies. 



2. 
 
 
I do accept that it is important that a scoping exercise is completed, and 
obviously I am pleased that we have been given the financial resources to do 
so.  However, I would like the opportunity to present a budget bid to support our 
proposed work before 2011/12. 
 
Thank you again for your support. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Sid Ashton 
Chairman 
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II.  Executive Summary 

 
 
 
 

���� Trust and confidence in charities 
 
• A majority of respondents (58%) reported a high level of trust and confidence in charities. Only 

7% expressed a low level of trust and confidence in charities.  One in three (34%) were neutral 
or unsure.  The mean score for trust and confidence was 6.6. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• A majority of respondents expressed a high level of trust in charities to: 
o Make a positive difference to the matters they address (55%) and, 
o Ensure that their fundraisers are ethical and honest (51%); 
o A high proportion of respondents were neutral for each of these measures. 

 
• Respondents were provided with a list and asked to select the single most influential 

characteristic on their decision to support a charity.  The most selected characteristic was that 
‘they make a positive difference to the matters they address’ (41%), followed by ‘they ensure a 
reasonable proportion of donations get to the end cause’ (18%). 

 
• A majority firmly agreed with the statements: 

o I feel more confident in charities that are open about how they use their resources (84%); 
o I trust charities more if I have heard of them (75%); 
o Charities play a very important role in society today (74%); 
o I trust charities more if they are clear about how they are managed (73%); and, 
o I trust charities if they assist locally (54%); 

 
• A quarter of respondents noted donating more than $250 to charities in the last 12 months. 

Nineteen percent noted donating nothing or up to $20. 
 
• Health and medical were the most common type of organisations that respondents noted 

donating to in the past 12 months, at a majority of 54%. 

Mean 
Score 

6.6 
7 34 55 3 

%

Trust and confidence in charities
Base: All (n=2121)

... How much Trust and confidence do you have in charities?

No/ little trust (0-3) Neutral (4-6) and Unsure High (7-9) Trust completely (10)
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• Two in five (41%) reported having claimed a tax refund for donations. More than a quarter 

reported having: 
o Checked that it was a genuine charity (32%); 
o Asked for proof of identification of the person who had approached them (28%); and, 
o Asked how their donated money would be spent (25 %). 

 
• A majority (54%) of respondents reported having given to charity by way of street collection. 
 
• One in three reported doing volunteer or unpaid work. 
 
• Two thirds (64%) of respondents considered human rights organisations to be charities, 52% 

thought that environmental improvement groups are charities, and 48% thought that service 
organisations are charities. 

 
 
 

���� Charities Commission 
 
• A majority 57% reported having heard of the Charities Commission.  

o Two thirds (64%), however, reported a low level of knowledge about the Commission; 
o Given a brief description, a clear majority 78% placed a high importance rating on the role 

of the Charities Commission. Forty percent rated importance at ten out of ten. 
 
• Twenty eight percent of respondents declared that they were aware of the charities registration 

number.   
o Half declared that they would be likely to ask for the registration number in future, while 

22% were unsure. 
 
 

���� Strengths and Needs in Sector 
 
• When asked to nominate key strengths of the charitable sector in New Zealand, 29% of 

respondents noted attributes of charitable organisations, and 23% noted aspects of them 
providing for needs. Eighteen percent noted the dedication of staff and volunteers. 

 
• Transparency and information about destination of funds was the most noted need in the New 

Zealand charitable sector, nominated by 31% of respondents.  Ensuring a high proportion of 
funds goes to the purpose, and concerns about the type and amount of advertising and 
collections were common points raised. 
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���� Segmentation Analysis 
 
• Three general public segments were identified based on demographic, attitudinal and 

behavioural similarities.  These included Supporters, Mainstreamers and Sceptics. 
 

o Supporters make up 38% of the population.  They are clearly more positive towards 
charities, declaring higher levels of trust and confidence across all measures, higher 
agreement with all positive statements regarding charities, and lower agreement with 
negative ones. 

 
o Mainstreamers are the largest group, made up of 44% of the population.  Mainstreamers 

closely mirror trust and confidence levels of the total population. 
 

o Sceptics were the smallest segment at 18% of the population. They are clearly less 
positive towards charities, declaring lower levels of trust and confidence across all 
measures, lower agreement with all positive statements regarding charities, and higher 
agreement with negative ones. 

 
 

���� Drivers of trust and confidence in charities 
 
• The strongest drivers of overall trust and confidence in charities were found to be agreement 

with statements that relate to the Management and Outcomes of charities. 
 
• Four factors were extracted from the twenty statements tested in the survey: 
 

o Management and Outcomes was the factor with the strongest correlation to overall trust 
and confidence in charities. It included respondents’ opinions about how charities spend 
their money, ensuring money gets to the end cause, making a positive difference and 
being well managed. 

 
o Openness consisted of four statements, with the highest correlations being for 

respondents’ agreement with ‘I feel more confident in charities that are open about how 
they use their resources’, and ‘I trust charities more if they are clear about how they are 
managed’. 

 
o Profile included the statement that ‘I trust big charities more than smaller ones’ and ‘I trust 

charities with well known supporters and patrons’. 
 

o Doubt included the negative statements of ‘I know very little about how charities are run’, 
and ‘Charities use more dubious fundraising techniques these days’. This factor had a mild 
negative correlation to overall trust and confidence in charities. 

 
 
• Statements regarding the effectiveness and targeting of spending, making a positive difference 

to causes, and ethics and honesty held the strongest correlations to overall trust and 
confidence and to the Management and Outcomes factor. 
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Amendments to other Acts

The Parliament of New Zealand enacts as follows:

1 Title
This Act is the Charities Act 2005.

2 Commencement
(1) Section 1, this section, and sections 11(4), 42, and 73 come

into force on the day after the date on which this Act receives
the Royal assent.

(2) Part 1 (except section 11(4)), sections 62, 63, and 76, and the
Schedule come into force on 1 July 2005.

(3) The rest of this Act comes into force on a date to be appointed
by the GovernorGeneral by Order in Council; and 1 or more
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orders may be made bringing different provisions into force
on different dates.

Part 1
Charities Commission
Preliminary matters

3 Purpose
The purpose of this Act is to—
(a) establish the Commission as a Crown entity for the pur

poses of section 7 of the Crown Entities Act 2004:
(b) state the Commission’s functions and powers:
(c) require the Commission—

(i) to have regard to certain matters; and
(ii) to comply with certain other obligations:

(d) provide for the registration of societies, institutions, and
trustees of trusts as charitable entities:

(e) require charitable entities and certain other persons to
comply with certain obligations.

4 Interpretation
(1) In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires,—

charitable entity means a society, an institution, or the
trustees of a trust that is or are registered as a charitable entity
under this Act
collectormeans a person who, on behalf of a charitable entity,
requests funds, canvasses for subscriptions, sells raffle or lot
tery tickets, or appeals for donations
Commission means the Charities Commission established by
section 8
document has the meaning set out in section 2(1) of the
Commerce Act 1986
entity means any society, institution, or trustees of a trust
Inland Revenue Acts has the meaning set out in section
3(1) of the Tax Administration Act 1994
Ministermeans the Minister of the Crown who, under the au
thority of any warrant or with the authority of the Prime Min
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ister, is for the time being responsible for the administration of
this Act
officer—
(a) means, in relation to the trustees of a trust, any of those

trustees; and
(b) means, in relation to any other entity,—

(i) a member of the board or governing body of the
entity if it has a board or governing body; or

(ii) in any other case, a person occupying a position
in the entity that allows the person to exercise
significant influence over the management or ad
ministration of the entity (for example, a treas
urer or a chief executive); and

(c) includes any class or classes of persons that are declared
by regulations to be officers for the purposes of this Act;
but

(d) excludes any class or classes of persons that are declared
by regulations not to be officers for the purposes of this
Act

parent entity has the meaning set out in section 44
register or register of charitable entities means the register
of charitable entities established under section 21
regulations means regulations in force under this Act
rules means,—
(a) in relation to the trustees of a trust, the rules, trust deeds,

and instruments constituting, or defining the constitu
tion of, that trust; and

(b) in relation to any other entity, the rules, constitution, and
instruments constituting, or defining the constitution of,
that entity

serious wrongdoing, in relation to an entity, includes any ser
ious wrongdoing of any of the following types
(a) an unlawful or a corrupt use of the funds or resources

of the entity; or
(b) an act, omission, or course of conduct that constitutes

a serious risk to the public interest in the orderly and
appropriate conduct of the affairs of the entity; or

7
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(c) an act, omission, or course of conduct that constitutes
an offence; or

(d) an act, omission, or course of conduct by a person that is
oppressive, improperly discriminatory, or grossly neg
ligent, or that constitutes gross mismanagement

single entity has the meaning set out in section 44.
(2) In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires, references

to a person performing functions and exercising powers, or
carrying out responsibilities, include carrying out duties.

(3) An example used in this Act has the following status:
(a) the example is only illustrative of the provision to which

it relates and does not limit the provision; and
(b) if the example and the provision to which it relates are

inconsistent, the provision prevails.

5 Meaning of charitable purpose and effect of ancillary
noncharitable purpose

(1) In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires, charitable
purpose includes every charitable purpose, whether it relates
to the relief of poverty, the advancement of education or reli
gion, or any other matter beneficial to the community.

(2) However,—
(a) the purpose of a trust, society, or institution is a charit

able purpose under this Act if the purpose would satisfy
the public benefit requirement apart from the fact that
the beneficiaries of the trust, or the members of the so
ciety or institution, are related by blood; and

(b) a marae has a charitable purpose if the physical struc
ture of themarae is situated on land that is aMaori reser
vation referred to in Te Ture Whenua Maori Act 1993
(Maori Land Act 1993) and the funds of the marae are
not used for a purpose other than—
(i) the administration and maintenance of the land

and of the physical structure of the marae:
(ii) a purpose that is a charitable purpose other than

under this paragraph.
(3) To avoid doubt, if the purposes of a trust, society, or an institu

tion include a noncharitable purpose (for example, advocacy)
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that is merely ancillary to a charitable purpose of the trust,
society, or institution, the presence of that noncharitable pur
pose does not prevent the trustees of the trust, the society, or
the institution from qualifying for registration as a charitable
entity.

(4) For the purposes of subsection (3), a noncharitable purpose is
ancillary to a charitable purpose of the trust, society, or insti
tution if the noncharitable purpose is—
(a) ancillary, secondary, subordinate, or incidental to a

charitable purpose of the trust, society, or institution;
and

(b) not an independent purpose of the trust, society, or in
stitution.

6 Registration of trustees of trusts
(1) If an entity is, or consists of, the trustees of a trust, the name

of that entity must, for the purposes of this Act, be treated as
being—
(a) the name under which the trustees are incorporated as

a Board under the Charitable Trusts Act 1957 if the
trustees are incorporated as a Board under that Act; or

(b) the name of the trust; or
(c) a name nominated by the trustees of the trust if the trust

does not otherwise have a name.
(2) The registration of the trustees of a trust as a charitable entity

is not affected by—
(a) 1 or more of the trustees ceasing to be a trustee of the

trust; or
(b) the appointment of new trustees of the trust.

(3) Subsections (1) and (2) do not limit sections 31 to 36, and 40.

7 Act binds the Crown
This Act binds the Crown.

Establishment of Commission
8 Commission established

This section establishes the Charities Commission.
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Nature of Commission
9 Commission is Crown entity
(1) The Commission is a Crown entity for the purposes of section

7 of the Crown Entities Act 2004.
(2) The Crown Entities Act 2004 applies to the Commission ex

cept to the extent that this Act expressly provides otherwise.

Commission’s functions
10 Commission’s functions
(1) The functions of the Commission are to—

(a) promote public trust and confidence in the charitable
sector; and

(b) encourage and promote the effective use of charitable
resources; and

(c) educate and assist charities in relation tomatters of good
governance and management, for example,—
(i) by issuing guidelines or recommendations on the

best practice to be observed by charities and by
persons concerned with the management or ad
ministration of charities:

(ii) by issuing model rules:
(iii) by providing information to charities about their

rights, duties, and obligations under this Act and
other enactments; and

(d) make appropriate information available to assist per
sons to make registration applications under this Act;
and

(e) receive, consider, and process applications for registra
tion as charitable entities; and

(f) ensure that the register of charitable entities is compiled
and maintained; and

(g) receive, consider, and process annual returns submitted
by charitable entities; and

(h) supply information and documents in appropriate cir
cumstances for the purposes of the Inland Revenue
Acts; and

(i) monitor charitable entities and their activities to ensure
that entities that are registered as charitable entities con
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tinue to be qualified for registration as charitable en
tities; and

(j) inquire into charitable entities and into persons who
have engaged in, or are engaging in, conduct that consti
tutes, or may constitute, a breach of this Act or serious
wrongdoing in connection with a charitable entity; and

(k) monitor and promote compliance with this Act, includ
ing by taking prosecutions for offences against this Act
in appropriate circumstances; and

(l) consider, and to report and make recommendations on,
any matter (for example, a proposed government pol
icy) relating to charities—
(i) that is referred to it by anyMinister of the Crown;

or
(ii) on its own motion; and

(m) stimulate and promote research into any matter relating
to charities, for example,—
(i) by collecting and disseminating information or

research about charities:
(ii) by advising on areas where further research or

information about charities should be undertaken
or collected:

(iii) by entering into contracts or arrangements for re
search or information about charities to be under
taken or collected; and

(n) carry out any other functions that the Minister may di
rect the Commission to perform in accordance with sec
tion 112 of the Crown Entities Act 2004.

(2) Without limiting subsection (1), the Commission may perform
its functions under subsection (1)(a) to (c), (l), and (m) in re
lation to any charity regardless of whether or not the charity is
registered as a charitable entity.

Membership of Commission
11 Membership of Commission
(1) The Commission consists of nomore than 7, and no fewer than

5, members.

11
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(2) Members of the Commission are the board for the purposes of
the Crown Entities Act 2004.

(3) Despite clause 1(1) of Schedule 5 of the Crown Entities Act
2004, the Minister must appoint 1 member to be the chairper
son of the board.

(4) The Minister may appoint members under the Crown Entities
Act 2004 on and after the commencement of this subsection.

Annual meeting
12 Commission must hold annual meeting
(1) The Commission must hold at least 1 annual meeting not later

than 30 November in each year with the representatives of
charitable entities who attend the meeting.

(2) However, the Commission does not have to hold an annual
meeting in the 12month period after its establishment.

(3) The Minister or representatives of the Minister, or both the
Minister and representatives of the Minister, must attend at
least 1 annual meeting in each year in which a meeting is held.

(4) The Commission may hold an annual meeting in 1 or more
areas or regions.

(5) The Commission must give not less than 30 days’ notice of
each annual meeting—
(a) in 1 or more daily newspapers circulating in each

of the cities of Auckland, Hamilton, Wellington,
Christchurch, and Dunedin; and

(b) on a website maintained by, or on behalf of, the Com
mission.

(6) At each annual meeting, the Commission must—
(a) report on the operation of the Commission during the

preceding financial year; and
(b) table the financial statements of the Commission for that

year; and
(c) report on any matters that the Commission has know

ledge of that may significantly affect the charitable sec
tor in the current financial year; and

(d) give a reasonable opportunity for persons who attend
the meeting to—
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(i) ask questions concerning the operation of the
Commission during the preceding financial year;
and

(ii) make submissions to the Commission concern
ing the operation of the Commission during the
preceding financial year; and

(iii) ask questions concerning the matters referred to
in paragraph (c) and to make submissions to the
Commission concerning those matters.

(7) Nothing in subsection (6) requires the Commission to disclose
any information if disclosure of that information would in
volve a breach of confidence, of trust, of contract, of any en
actment, or of any other rule of law.

Part 2
Charitable entities

Subpart 1—Register of charitable entities
Registration requirements

13 Essential requirements
(1) An entity qualifies for registration as a charitable entity if,—

(a) in the case of the trustees of a trust, the trust is of a kind
in relation to which an amount of income is derived by
the trustees in trust for charitable purposes; and

(b) in the case of a society or an institution, the society or
institution—
(i) is established and maintained exclusively for

charitable purposes; and
(ii) is not carried on for the private pecuniary profit

of any individual; and
(c) the entity has a name that complies with section 15; and
(d) all of the officers of the entity are qualified to be officers

of a charitable entity under section 16.
(2) The trustees of a trust must be treated as complying with sub

section (1)(a) if,—
(a) in accordance with a ruling made under Part 5A of the

Tax Administration Act 1994,—
(i) an amount of income derived by the trustees in

trust is treated as having been derived by the
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trustees in trust for charitable purposes for the
purposes of section CW34 of the Income TaxAct
2004; or

(ii) income is treated as having been derived directly
or indirectly from a business carried on by, or
for, or for the benefit of the trustees in trust for
charitable purposes for the purposes of section
CW 35 of the Income Tax Act 2004; or

(b) the income derived by the trustees is deemed to be in
come derived by trustees in trust for charitable purposes
under section 24B of the Maori Trust Boards Act 1955.

(3) A society or an institution must be treated as complying with
subsection (1)(b) if, in accordance with a ruling made under
Part 5A of the Tax Administration Act 1994, that society or
institution is treated as being a society or institution that is es
tablished and maintained exclusively for charitable purposes
and not carried on for the private pecuniary profit of any indi
vidual for the purposes of section CW 34 or section CW 35 of
the Income Tax Act 2004.

(4) Subsections (2) and (3) cease to apply in relation to an entity
if—
(a) the period for which the ruling applies has expired; or
(b) the ruling has ceased to apply because of section 91G of

the Tax Administration Act 1994; or
(c) the ruling has otherwise ceased to apply to the entity.

(5) Despite subsections (1) to (3), an entity does not qualify for
registration as a charitable entity if—
(a) the entity is a designated terrorist entity as defined in

section 4(1) of the Terrorism Suppression Act 2002; or
(b) the entity has been convicted of any offence under sec

tions 6A to 13E of the Terrorism Suppression Act 2002.
Section 13(5)(a): amended, on 20 November 2007, by section 46(2)(a) of the
Terrorism Suppression Amendment Act 2007 (2007 No 102).
Section 13(5)(a): amended, on 20 November 2007, by section 46(2)(b) of the
Terrorism Suppression Amendment Act 2007 (2007 No 102).
Section 13(5)(b): amended, on 20 November 2007, by section 46(3) of the Ter
rorism Suppression Amendment Act 2007 (2007 No 102).
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14 Commission may act on basis of reasonable assumptions
in relation to charitable trusts

(1) A trust is not prevented from being of a kind referred to in
section 13(1)(a) merely because the trustees of the trust have
not yet derived an amount of income in trust for charitable
purposes if, in the opinion of the Commission,—
(a) an amount of income will be derived by the trustees in

trust for charitable purposes; and
(b) it is fit and proper to register the trustees of the trust as

a charitable entity.
(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), the Commissionmay act on

the basis of any assumptions concerning the future derivation
of income for charitable purposes that, in the opinion of the
Commission, are reasonable in the circumstances of the case.

Example
A charitable trust has recently been created.
The trustees of that trust have not yet derived an amount of in
come in trust for charitable purposes. However, the Commission
is of the opinion, having regard to reasonable assumptions, that
the trustees will derive an amount of income in trust for charitable
purposes. The Commission is also of the opinion that it is fit and
proper to register the trustees. Accordingly, the Commission is
satisfied that the trust is of a kind referred to in section 13(1)(a).
The trust has a name that complies with section 15 and the
trustees of the charitable trust are qualified to be officers of a
charitable entity.
The trustees of the trust qualify for registration as a charitable
entity.

15 Name of entity
The name of an entity complies with this section if—
(a) the entity is incorporated under that name under the

Incorporated Societies Act 1908; or
(b) the entity is incorporated under that name under the

Charitable Trusts Act 1957; or
(c) the entity is incorporated under that name under the

Companies Act 1993; or
(d) the entity is established, or constituted, by an Act under

that name; or

15

http://www.legislation.govt.nz/pdfLink.aspx?id=DLM175774
http://www.legislation.govt.nz/pdfLink.aspx?id=DLM308795
http://www.legislation.govt.nz/pdfLink.aspx?id=DLM319569


Part 2 s 16 Charities Act 2005
Reprinted as at

20 November 2007

(e) in any other case, in the opinion of the Commission, the
name is not—
(i) offensive; or
(ii) liable to mislead the public.

16 Qualifications of officers of charitable entities
(1) A person who is not disqualified by this section is qualified to

be an officer of a charitable entity.
(2) The following persons are disqualified from being officers of

charitable entities:
(a) an individual who is an undischarged bankrupt:
(b) an individual who is under the age of 16 years:
(c) an individual who, or a body corporate that, has been

convicted of a crime involving dishonesty (within the
meaning of section 2(1) of the Crimes Act 1961) and
has been sentenced for that crime within the last 7 years:

(d) an individual who is prohibited from being a director
or promoter of, or being concerned or taking part in
the management of, an incorporated or unincorporated
body under the Companies Act 1993, the Securities Act
1978, the SecuritiesMarkets Act 1988, or the Takeovers
Act 1993:

(e) an individual who, or a body corporate that, is disquali
fied from being an officer of a charitable entity under
section 31(4):

(f) an individual who is subject to a property order made
under the Protection of Personal and Property Rights
Act 1988, or whose property is managed by a trustee
corporation under section 32 of that Act:

(g) a body corporate that is being wound up, is in li
quidation or receivership, or is subject to statutory
management under the Corporations (Investigation and
Management) Act 1989:

(h) in relation to any particular entity, an individual who, or
a body corporate that, does not comply with any quali
fications for officers contained in the rules of that entity.

(3) Subsection (2) does not apply to an officer of an entity if that
officer was appointed, under an Act, by the GovernorGeneral,
by the GovernorGeneral in Council, or by a Minister.
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(4) The Commission may, by written notice to an entity, waive
the application of any of the disqualifying factors set out in
subsection (2)(a) to (g), in relation to an officer of that entity.

(5) If the Commission waives the application of a disqualifying
factor set out in subsection (2)(a) to (g), the officer to whom the
waiver relates must not be treated as being disqualified from
being an officer of a charitable entity in relation to the entity
by reason of the application of that disqualifying factor.

(6) The waiver may be granted on any terms or conditions that the
Commission thinks fit.

(7) The Commission may vary a waiver in the same way as a
waiver may be granted under this section.

(8) The Commission may, by written notice to an entity, revoke a
waiver granted under this section.
Subsection (2)(d) was substituted, as from 25 October 2006, by section 25 Se
curities Amendment Act 2006 (2006 No 46).

Applications for registration
17 Application for registration
(1) An application for registration of an entity as a charitable en

tity must be sent or delivered to the Commission and must—
(a) be in the prescribed form; and
(b) be accompanied by a document in the prescribed form,

signed by, or on behalf of, every personwho is an officer
of the entity, that contains a certification that the person
is not disqualified from being an officer of a charitable
entity in relation to the entity under section 16; and

(c) be accompanied by a copy of the rules of the entity; and
(d) be accompanied by the prescribed fee for the application

(if any); and
(e) contain, or be accompanied by, any other prescribed

information or documentation.
(2) If a request for a waiver under section 16 has been made in

relation to an officer of an entity, the document referred to
in subsection (1)(b) is not required to contain a certification
referred to in that paragraph in relation to that officer.
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18 Commission to consider application
(1) The Commission must, as soon as practicable after receiving

a properly completed application for registration of an entity
as a charitable entity, consider whether the entity qualifies for
registration as a charitable entity.

(2) In considering the application, the Commission may request
that the applicant supply further information or documenta
tion.

(3) In considering an application, the Commission must—
(a) have regard to—

(i) the activities of the entity at the time at which the
application was made; and

(ii) the proposed activities of the entity; and
(iii) any other information that it considers is rele

vant; and
(b) observe the rules of natural justice; and
(c) give the applicant—

(i) notice of any matter that might result in its appli
cation being declined; and

(ii) a reasonable opportunity to make submissions to
the Commission on the matter.

(4) Despite subsection (1), the Commission is not required to con
sider an application that has been made in breach of section
31(4).

19 Commission to register entity or decline application
(1) If, after considering an application, the Commission is satis

fied that an entity is qualified to be registered as a charitable
entity, the Commission must—
(a) register the entity as a charitable entity; and
(b) allocate a registration number to the entity; and
(c) notify the entity of its registration and of its registration

number.
(2) If, after considering an application, the Commission is not sat

isfied that an entity is qualified to be registered as a charitable
entity, the Commission must notify the entity of its decision
and the reasons for it.
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20 Commission may backdate registration of entity as
charitable entity

(1) The Commission may, if it thinks fit, register a notice in the
register of charitable entities that specifies that an entity must
be treated as having become registered as a charitable entity at
a time (the effective registration time) that is before the time
at which the entity actually became registered as a charitable
entity.

(2) However, the effective registration time must not,—
(a) in the case of a trust, society, or an institution referred

to in section 73(1) of the Estate and Gift Duties Act
1968 created or established by a gift after the com
mencement of this section, be earlier than the time that
the gift was made; and

(b) in any other case, be earlier than the time that the Com
mission received a properly completed application for
registration of the entity as a charitable entity.

(3) Before the Commission exercises its powers under subsection
(1), the Commission must be satisfied that the entity was qual
ified for registration as a charitable entity at all times during
the period between the effective registration time and the time
at which the entity actually became registered as a charitable
entity.

(4) If the Commission exercises its powers under subsection (1) in
relation to an entity, the entity must be treated as having be
come registered as a charitable entity at the effective regis
tration time for the purposes of this Act, the Income Tax Act
2004, and the Estate and Gift Duties Act 1968.

Register of charitable entities established
21 Register of charitable entities
(1) A register called the register of charitable entities is estab

lished.
(2) The register may be—

(a) an electronic register; or
(b) kept in any other manner that the Commission thinks fit.

(3) The register must be operated at all times unless—
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(a) the Commission suspends the operation of the register,
in whole or in part, in accordance with subsection (4);
or

(b) otherwise provided in regulations.
(4) The Commissionmay refuse access to the register or otherwise

suspend the operation of the register, in whole or in part, if the
Commission considers that it is not practical to provide access
to the register.

22 Purpose of register
The purpose of the register is—
(a) to enable a member of the public to—

(i) determine whether an entity is registered as a
charitable entity under this Act; and

(ii) obtain information concerning the nature, activ
ities, and purposes of charitable entities; and

(iii) know how to contact a charitable entity; and
(b) to assist any person—

(i) in the exercise of the person’s powers under this
Act or any other enactment; or

(ii) in the performance of the person’s functions
under this Act or any other enactment.

23 Commission is registrar of register
(1) The Commission holds the office of registrar of the register.
(2) The Commission must ensure that the register is compiled and

maintained.

24 Contents of register
(1) The register must contain the following information and docu

ments for each charitable entity:
(a) the name of the entity; and
(b) the address for service of the entity; and
(c) the registration number of the entity; and
(d) the names of the officers of the entity and of all persons

who have been officers of the entity since the entity was
first registered as a charitable entity; and

(e) a copy of the rules of the entity; and
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(f) the application for registration of the entity as a charit
able entity (including all required accompanying infor
mation and documents); and

(g) each annual return sent or delivered to the Commission
by the entity; and

(h) each notice of change sent or delivered under section
40; and

(i) the terms and conditions of any exemption granted
under section 43 that is in force in relation to the entity.

(2) The register must contain any other prescribed information or
documents.

(3) This section is subject to section 25.

25 Commission may allow information and documents to be
omitted or removed from register and may restrict public
access to information and documents

(1) The Commission may remove or omit from the register any
information or documents that relate to a charitable entity if—
(a) the charitable entity is removed from the register; or
(b) the Commission considers, in the public interest, that

the information or documents should not form part of
the register.

(2) The Commissionmay, on a request from an entity or on its own
motion, prevent or restrict public access to any information or
documents that relate to the entity if the Commission consid
ers, in the public interest, that public access to that information
or those documents should be prevented or restricted.

(3) For the purposes of subsection (2), the Commission may pre
vent or restrict access subject to any terms and conditions that
it thinks fit.

(4) This section does not limit the Official Information Act 1982.

26 Amendments to register
The Commission may, at any time, make any amendments to
the register that are necessary—
(a) to reflect any changes in the information that relates to

a charitable entity; or
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(b) to correct a mistake caused by any error or omission on
the part of the Commission; or

(c) for the purposes of section 25; or
(d) to comply with any order made under section 60 or sec

tion 61.

Searches of register
27 Search of register
(1) A person may search the register in accordance with this Act

or regulations.
(2) The register may be searched only by reference to the follow

ing criteria:
(a) the name of the charitable entity:
(b) the registration number of the charitable entity:
(c) the name of an officer of the charitable entity:
(d) any other prescribed criteria.

28 Search purposes
A search of the register may be carried out only by the follow
ing persons for the following purposes:
(a) an individual, or a person with the consent of the in

dividual, for the purpose of searching for information
about that individual:

(b) a person for the purpose of determining whether an en
tity is registered as a charitable entity under this Act:

(c) a person for the purpose of obtaining information con
cerning the nature, activities, and purposes of a charit
able entity:

(d) a person for the purpose of knowing how to contact a
charitable entity:

(e) a person for the purpose of assisting the person in the
exercise of the person’s powers under this Act or any
other enactment:

(f) a person for the purpose of assisting the person in the
performance of the person’s functions under this Act or
any other enactment.
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29 When search constitutes interference with privacy of
individual
A search of the register for personal information that has not
been carried out in accordance with sections 27 and 28 con
stitutes an action that is an interference with the privacy of an
individual under section 66 of the Privacy Act 1993.

Supply of register information and documents
30 Commission may supply register information or

documents for purposes of Inland Revenue Acts
(1) The Commission may supply any register information or

documents to a person for the purpose of assisting the person
in the exercise of the person’s powers under any of the Inland
Revenue Acts or in the performance of the person’s functions
under any of the Inland Revenue Acts if, in the opinion of the
Commission, it is in all the circumstances appropriate to do
so.

(2) For the purposes of this section, register information or
documents means—
(a) information or documents that are contained in the

register:
(b) information or documents that would have been con

tained in the register but for the exercise of a power
under section 25 to omit or remove that information or
those documents from the register.

Example
A society has become registered as a charitable entity.
Members of the public donate money to the society and claim
rebates of income tax in respect of those gifts under section KC
5 of the Income Tax Act 2004.
In order to determine whether a rebate can properly he claimed,
the Inland Revenue Department needs to consider whether the
society is of a kind referred to in section KC 5 of the Income
Tax Act 2004. The information contained in the application for
registration of the society as a charitable entity could assist in
this process.
The Commission may supply a copy of the application for regis
tration of the society as a charitable entity to the Inland Revenue
Department.
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Deregistration of charitable entities
31 Deregistration of charitable entity from register
(1) An entity is deregistered as a charitable entity if it is removed

from the register.
(2) An entity is removed from the register if the Commission

registers a notice in the register that—
(a) states that the entity is removed from the register; and
(b) states the date on which the removal is effective.

(3) The entity ceases to be a charitable entity on the date referred
to in subsection (2)(b).

(4) The Commission may, if it has removed an entity from the
register, make either or both of the following orders:
(a) an order that an application for the reregistration of the

entity as a charitable entity must not be made before the
expiry of a specified period:

(b) an order disqualifying an officer of the entity from being
an officer of a charitable entity for a specified period that
does not exceed 5 years.

32 Grounds for removal from register
(1) The Commission may remove an entity from the register if—

(a) the entity is not, or is no longer, qualified for registration
as a charitable entity; or

(b) there has been a significant or persistent failure by the
entity to meet its obligations under this Act or any other
enactment; or

(c) there has been a significant or persistent failure by any
1 or more of the officers of the entity to meet their obli
gations under this Act; or

(d) there has been a significant or persistent failure by any
1 or more collectors who act on behalf of the entity to
meet their obligations under this Act; or

(e) the entity has engaged in seriouswrongdoing or any per
son has engaged in serious wrongdoing in connection
with the entity; or

(f) the entity has sent or delivered to the Commission a
request to be removed from the register.
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(2) For the purposes of subsection (1)(a), the trustees of a trust
must be treated as being no longer qualified for registration
as a charitable entity if, as a result of a change to the rules or
purposes of the entity, the trust is no longer of a kind in relation
to which an amount of income can be derived by the trustees
in trust for charitable purposes.

(3) Subsection (2) does not limit the circumstances in which an
entity may be considered to be no longer qualified for regis
tration as a charitable entity.

33 Notice of intention to remove from register
(1) The Commission must, before an entity is removed from the

register under section 32(1)(a) to (e), give notice of the matters
set out in subsection (2) to the entity.

(2) That notice must specify—
(a) the name of the entity; and
(b) the registration number of the entity; and
(c) the provision of this Act under which, and the grounds

on which, it is intended to remove the entity from the
register; and

(d) the date by which an objection to the removal from the
register must be received by the Commission, which
must be not less than 20 working days after the date of
the notice.

34 Objection to removal from register
The entity and any officer of the entity may send or deliver to
the Commission an objection to the entity’s removal from the
register on either or both of the following grounds:
(a) that the grounds on which it is intended to remove the

entity from the register have not been satisfied:
(b) that, for any other reason, it would not be in the public

interest to remove the entity from the register.

35 Duties of Commission if objection received
(1) If an objection to the removal of an entity from the register

under section 34 is received by the Commission on or before
the date referred to in section 33(2)(d), the Commission must
not proceed with the removal unless the Commission is satis
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fied that it is in the public interest to proceed with the removal
from the register and that—
(a) 1 or more of the grounds of removal from the register

have been satisfied; or
(b) the objection has been withdrawn; or
(c) any facts on which the objection is based are not, or are

no longer, correct; or
(d) the objection is frivolous or vexatious.

(2) If an objection to the removal of an entity from the register
under section 34 is received by the Commission on or before
the date referred to in section 33(2)(d) and the Commission
decides to proceed with the removal of the entity from the
register,—
(a) the Commissionmust give to the charitable entity notice

of—
(i) the Commission’s decision to proceed with the

removal of the entity from the register; and
(ii) the reasons for the Commission’s decision; and
(iii) the entity’s right to appeal the decision under sec

tion 59; and
(b) the Commission must not proceed to remove the entity

from the register earlier than 20 working days after the
date on which the notice referred to in paragraph (a) is
given to the charitable entity.

36 Commission to observe rules of natural justice
(1) In considering whether to remove an entity from the register

and whether to make an order under section 31(4), the Com
mission must—
(a) observe the rules of natural justice; and
(b) give the entity a reasonable opportunity to make sub

missions to the Commission on the matter.
(2) In considering whether to disqualify a person from being an

officer of a charitable entity under section 31(4), the Commis
sion must—
(a) observe the rules of natural justice; and
(b) give the person a reasonable opportunity to make sub

missions to the Commission on the matter.
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Subpart 2—Duties, inquiries, appeals, and
other miscellaneous matters relating to

charitable entities
Holding out offences

37 No holding out unless registered under this Act
(1) A person must not—

(a) use a style or title including the words “registered char
itable entity” ; or

(b) state or imply, or permit a statement or implication,
that—
(i) the person is registered as a charitable entity

under this Act; or
(ii) an entity that the person acts on behalf of is reg

istered as a charitable entity under this Act.
(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to—

(a) a charitable entity; or
(b) a person who acts on behalf of a charitable entity.

(3) A person must not state or imply, or permit a statement or
implication, that the person acts on behalf of a charitable entity
if the person does not act on behalf of that charitable entity.

38 Offence to contravene section 37
(1) Every person who acts in contravention of section 37(1) or

section 37(3) commits an offence and is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding $30,000.

(2) Proceedings for an offence against subsection (1) may be com
mencedwithin 2 years after thematter giving rise to the contra
vention was discovered or ought reasonably to have been dis
covered.

Duty of telephone and Internet collectors
39 Duty of telephone and Internet collectors to disclose

registration number on request
If a collector who acts on behalf of a charitable entity is re
questing funds, canvassing for subscriptions, selling raffle or
lottery tickets, or appealing for donations, bymeans of the tele
phone or the Internet, the collector must disclose the registra
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tion number of the entity if requested to do so by a member of
the public.

Duty to notify changes
40 Duty to notify changes to Commission
(1) Every charitable entity must ensure that it sends or delivers to

the Commission notice of any of the following changes:
(a) a change to the name of the charitable entity:
(b) a change to the address for service of the charitable en

tity:
(c) a change in the officers of the charitable entity, whether

as the result of an officer ceasing to hold office or the
appointment of a new officer, or both:

(d) a change in the balance date of the charitable entity:
(e) a change to the rules of the charitable entity:
(f) a change to the purposes of the charitable entity.

(2) A notice under subsection (1) must—
(a) be in the prescribed form (if any); and
(b) contain, or be accompanied by, any other prescribed

information or documentation; and
(c) specify the effective date of the change; and
(d) be sent or delivered to the Commission within 3 months

of the later of—
(i) the effective date of the change; or
(ii) the charitable entity first becoming aware of the

change.
(3) This section does not apply if the change has been notified in

an annual return sent or delivered under section 41 before the
change is required to be notified under subsection (2)(d).

Duty to prepare annual returns
41 Duty to prepare annual return
(1) Every charitable entity must ensure that, within 6 months after

each balance date of the entity, an annual return that complies
with subsection (2) is—
(a) completed in relation to the entity and that balance date;

and
(b) dated and signed on behalf of the entity; and
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(c) sent or delivered to the Commission.
(2) The annual returns of charitable entities must be in the form,

contain the particulars, and complywith the directions as to the
preparation of those returns that are prescribed under section
42.

(3) For the purposes of this Act,—
(a) an entity may nominate a balance date for the entity—

(i) in the application for registration of the entity as
a charitable entity; or

(ii) in the case of a single entity or an entity that
forms part of a single entity, in the application
for registration of the single entity as a charitable
entity; and

(b) a charitable entity must be treated as having a balance
date of 31 March in each calendar year if a balance date
for that charitable entity has not been nominated under
paragraph (a).

(4) Subject to subsections (5) and (6), an entity must have a bal
ance date in each calendar year.

(5) An entity may change its balance date for the purposes of this
Act either—
(a) without the approval of the Commission if—

(i) the period between any 2 balance dates does not
exceed 15 months; and

(ii) the entity continues to have a balance date in each
calendar year; or

(b) with the approval of the Commission before the change
is made.

(6) The Commission may approve a change of balance date with
or without conditions.

(7) Subsection (3)(b) is subject to subsections (5) and (6).

42 Regulations concerning content of annual returns
(1) The GovernorGeneral may, on the recommendation of the

Minister, by Order in Council, prescribe the following mat
ters in relation to the annual returns of charitable entities:
(a) the form of the returns:
(b) the particulars to be contained in the returns:
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(c) directions to be complied with in the preparation of the
returns.

(2) The order made under subsection (1) may prescribe different
requirements for different types or classes of entities.

Exemptions
43 Commission may grant exemptions
(1) The Commission may, by written notice to an entity, exempt

the entity from compliance with any provision or provisions
of—
(a) section 17; or
(b) this subpart; or
(c) any regulations made under this Act.

(2) The exemption may be granted on any terms and conditions
that the Commission thinks fit.

(3) The Commission may vary an exemption in the same way as
an exemption may be granted under this section.

(4) The Commission may, by written notice to an entity, revoke
an exemption granted under this section.

(5) An exemption under this section is not a regulation within the
meaning of the Regulations (Disallowance) Act 1989.

Commission may treat entity and affiliated or
closely related entities as single entity

44 Commission may treat entity and affiliated or closely
related entities as single entity

(1) The Commission may, on the request of an entity, treat the
entity (the parent entity) and 1 or more other entities as form
ing part of a single entity (the single entity) for the purposes
of any or all of the provisions of this Act if the Commission is
satisfied that—
(a) the other entity, or those other entities, are affiliated or

closely related to the parent entity; and
(b) each of the entities qualifies for registration as a charit

able entity; and
(c) it is fit and proper to treat the entities as forming part of

a single entity.
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(2) In considering whether to act under subsection (1), the Com
mission must have regard to the extent to which the entities
have similar charitable purposes.

(3) A request made under this section must be in the prescribed
form (if any).

45 Parent entity may request means of compliance with
duties

(1) A parent entity, on behalf of a single entity, may request,—
(a) in relation to section 40, that the duty under that section

be either—
(i) separately complied with by each entity that

forms part of the single entity; or
(ii) complied with by the parent entity in relation to

the single entity on behalf of the single entity
and all of the entities that form part of the single
entity:

(b) in relation to section 41, that the duty under that section
be either—
(i) separately complied with by each entity that

forms part of the single entity; or
(ii) complied with by the parent entity in relation to

the single entity on behalf of the single entity
and all of the entities that form part of the single
entity.

(2) A request made under this section must be in the prescribed
form (if any).

(3) The Commission must have regard to a request made under
this section when it is setting terms and conditions under sec
tion 46.

46 Commission may treat parent entity and 1 or more other
entities as forming part of single entity on certain terms
and conditions

(1) The Commission may treat the parent entity and 1 or more
other entities as forming part of the single entity on any terms
and conditions that the Commission thinks fit, including terms
and conditions relating to—
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(a) the manner in which the single entity may apply for
registration as a charitable entity; and

(b) the name that must be treated as being the name of the
single entity for the purposes of this Act; and

(c) who must be treated as being the officers of the single
entity for the purposes of this Act; and

(d) the rules that must be treated as being the rules of the
single entity for the purposes of this Act; and

(e) the manner in which the duties or obligations imposed
under this Act on charitable entities are to be complied
with on behalf of the single entity and the entities that
form part of that single entity; and

(f) the information and documents that must be included in
the register in relation to the single entity and the entities
that form part of that single entity; and

(g) the manner in which rights or powers conferred under
this Act on a charitable entity may be exercised by the
single entity.

(2) The Commission must give written notice of those terms and
conditions to the parent entity.

(3) The Commissionmay vary those terms and conditions bywrit
ten notice to the parent entity.

(4) If those terms and conditions provide that the duty under—
(a) section 40 must be complied with by the parent entity

in relation to the single entity on behalf of the single
entity and all of the entities that form part of the single
entity, the entities that form part of the single entity are
not required to separately comply with that section:

(b) section 41 must be complied with by the parent entity
in relation to the single entity on behalf of the single
entity and all of the entities that form part of the single
entity, the entities that form part of the single entity are
not required to separately comply with that section.

(5) For the purposes of this Act, the single entity must be treated
as—
(a) having the name, officers, and rules referred to in sub

section (1)(b) to (d); and
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(b) being qualified for registration as a charitable entity if
all of the entities that form part of the single entity are
qualified for registration as charitable entities.

(6) This section is subject to section 45.

47 Effect of registration of single entity as charitable entity
If a single entity is registered as a charitable entity, then, unless
the terms and conditions referred to in section 46 otherwise
provide,—
(a) each entity that forms part of the single entity under

section 44(1) must be treated as being registered under
this Act as a charitable entity for the purposes of—
(i) the provisions of this Act (including section 37);

and
(ii) the provisions of the Income Tax Act 2004; and
(iii) the provisions of the Estate and Gift Duties Act

1968; and
(b) the register—

(i) must contain the information and documents re
ferred to in section 24 in relation to the single en
tity; and

(ii) is not required to separately contain the informa
tion and documents referred to in that section in
relation to the entities that form part of the single
entity.

48 Commission may revoke entity’s status as forming part of
single entity

(1) The Commission may revoke an entity’s status as forming part
of a single entity if—
(a) the Commission is no longer satisfied that—

(i) the entity is affiliated or closely related to the
parent entity; or

(ii) the entity qualifies for registration as a charitable
entity; or

(iii) it is fit and proper to treat the entity as forming
part of the single entity; or
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(b) the Commission is satisfied that the entity has failed to
comply with a term or condition referred to in section
46; or

(c) the parent entity has sent or delivered to the Commis
sion a request for the Commission to revoke the entity’s
status as forming part of the single entity.

(2) An entity’s status as forming part of a single entity is revoked
if the Commission registers a notice in the register that—
(a) states that the entity’s status as forming part of the single

entity is revoked; and
(b) states the date on which the revocation is effective.

(3) On the date referred to in subsection (2)(b), the entity ceases
to be—
(a) part of the single entity; and
(b) treated as a charitable entity under section 47.

49 Commission to observe rules of natural justice
In considering whether to revoke an entity’s status as forming
part of a single entity, the Commission must—
(a) observe the rules of natural justice; and
(b) give the entity whose status is proposed to be revoked

and the parent entity a reasonable opportunity to make
submissions to the Commission on the matter.

Inquiries into charitable entities and other
persons

50 Inquiries into charitable entities and other persons
(1) The Commission may, if it considers it reasonably necessary

for the purposes of carrying out its functions and exercising its
powers under this Act, examine and inquire into—
(a) any charitable entity:
(b) any person who has engaged in, or is engaging in, con

duct that constitutes or may constitute—
(i) a breach of this Act; or
(ii) serious wrongdoing in connection with a charit

able entity.
(2) The Commission’s power to examine and inquire into any

charitable entity or person under subsection (1) includes the
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power to examine and inquire into the following matters in
connection with the charitable entity or person:
(a) the activities and proposed activities of the charitable

entity or person:
(b) the nature, objects, and purposes of the charitable entity:
(c) the management and administration of the charitable

entity:
(d) the results and outcomes achieved by the charitable en

tity or person:
(e) the value, condition, management, and application of

the property and income belonging to the charitable en
tity or person.

51 Duty to assist
(1) If the Commission considers it reasonably necessary for the

purposes of carrying out its functions and exercising its powers
under this Act, the Commission may, by notice in writing
served on any person, require that person—
(a) to supply to the Commission, in writing signed by that

person or, in the case of an entity, by an officer or com
petent employee or agent of the entity, within the time
and in the manner specified in the notice, any informa
tion or class of information specified in the notice; or

(b) to supply to the Commission, or to a person specified
in the notice acting on its behalf in accordance with the
notice, any document or class of documents specified in
the notice.

(2) The person has the same privileges in relation to supplying
information and documents to the Commission as witnesses
have in proceedings before a court.

52 Offences
(1) No person may,—

(a) without reasonable excuse, refuse or fail to comply with
a notice under section 51; or

(b) in purported compliance with a notice under section 51,
supply information, or supply a document, knowing it
to be false or misleading.
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(2) Any person who breaches subsection (1) commits an offence
and is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding
$10,000.

(3) Proceedings for an offence against subsection (2) may be
commenced within 6 months after the matter giving rise to
the contravention was discovered or ought reasonably to have
been discovered.

53 Commission may supply inquiry information or
documents

(1) The Commission may supply any information or documents
that the Commission obtains under sections 50 to 52 to any
person for either or both of the following purposes:
(a) assisting the person in the exercise of the person’s

powers under this Act or in the performance of the
person’s functions under this Act:

(b) detecting and prosecuting offences against any other
Act, but, in this case, that information and those docu
ments are not admissible in any criminal proceedings
against the person from whom the information or docu
ments were acquired or any person to whom the infor
mation or documents relate.

(2) Any person may use and disclose any information or docu
ments supplied to the person by the Commission under this
section for the purposes referred to in subsection (1).

(3) This section does not limit sections 27 to 30.

Warning notices and publication of details of
breach, serious wrongdoing, and other matters

54 Commission may give warning notices
(1) This section applies if the Commission considers that—

(a) a charitable entity, or a person in connectionwith a char
itable entity, has engaged in, or is engaging in, conduct
that constitutes, or may constitute, a breach of this Act
or serious wrongdoing; or

(b) a charitable entity is, or may be, no longer qualified to
be registered as a charitable entity; or

36



Reprinted as at
20 November 2007 Charities Act 2005 Part 2 s 55

(c) a person has engaged in, or is engaging in, conduct that
constitutes, or may constitute, a breach of section 37.

(2) The Commission may give a warning notice to—
(a) the charitable entity concerned in the case of subsection

(1)(a) or (b); or
(b) the person concerned in the case of subsection (1)(c).

(3) The warning notice must contain information or statements to
the following effect:
(a) the name of the charitable entity or person:
(b) a statement of the matters that caused the Commission

to give the notice:
(c) a statement of the action that the Commission has taken,

or is considering taking, in relation to the matters that
caused the Commission to give the notice:

(d) a statement of the action that the Commission considers
should be taken to remedy the matters that caused the
Commission to give the notice and the date by which
this action must be taken:

(e) a summary of the grounds for the Commission’s opin
ion:

(f) a statement of what might happen if the charitable entity
or person does not comply with the warning notice.

55 Commission may publish details of possible breach,
possible serious wrongdoing, and other matters

(1) This section applies if the Commission considers that the en
tity or person to whom the notice is given under section 54 has
failed to remedy 1 or more of the matters that caused the Com
mission to give a notice under section 54 by the date referred
to in section 54(3)(d).

(2) TheCommissionmay, in anymanner that it thinks fit, publish a
notice that contains information or statements to the following
effect:
(a) the name of the charitable entity or person:
(b) a statement to the effect that the Commission considers

that—
(i) the charitable entity, or a person in connection

with the charitable entity, has engaged in, or is
engaging in, conduct that constitutes, or may
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constitute, a breach of this Act or serious wrong
doing; or

(ii) the charitable entity is, or may be, no longer qual
ified to be registered as a charitable entity; or

(iii) the person has engaged in, or is engaging in, con
duct that constitutes, or may constitute, a breach
of section 37:

(c) a statement of the action that the Commission has taken,
or is considering taking, in relation to those matters:

(d) a summary of the grounds for the Commission’s opin
ion.

(3) However,—
(a) before the Commission exercises its powers under sub

section (2), the Commission must give to the charitable
entity or person notice of—
(i) the Commission’s decision to publish a notice

under this section; and.
(ii) the reasons for the Commission’s decision; and
(iii) the entity’s or person’s right to appeal the deci

sion under section 59; and
(b) the Commissionmust not exercise its powers under sub

section (2) earlier than 20 working days after the date on
which the notice referred to in paragraph (a) is given to
the charitable entity or person.

Provisions relating to how notices are given and
served for purposes of various sections

56 Notices
(1) Any notice given by the Commission under any of sections 33,

35, 51, 54, or 55 is sufficiently given if—
(a) it is in writing; and
(b) it is—

(i) under the seal of the Commission; or
(ii) signed by the chairperson of the board of the

Commission; or
(iii) signed by 1 or more of the members of the Com

mission; or
(iv) signed by any person purporting to act by direc

tion of the Commission; and
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(c) it is served or given in accordance with section 57 on or
to the person or persons primarily concerned or on or to
any person considered by the Commission to represent
the person or persons primarily concerned.

(2) In all courts and in all proceedings under this Act, notices
given under any of sections 33, 35, 51, 54, or 55 that pur
port to be signed by, or on behalf of, the Commission or to
be sealed with the seal of the Commission must be treated as
having been signed or sealed with due authority in accordance
with subsection (1)(b) unless the contrary is proved.

57 Service of notices
(1) Any notice that is authorised to be served on, or given to, any

person for the purposes of any of sections 33, 35, 51, 54, or
55 may be served or given by—
(a) delivering it to that person; or
(b) leaving it at—

(i) the person’s usual or last known place of resi
dence or business; or

(ii) the address specified by the person in any notice,
application, or other document made, given, or
tendered to the Commission under this Act; or

(c) posting it by letter addressed to the person at that place
of residence or business or at that address.

(2) If any notice is sent to any person by registered letter, then,—
(a) unless the contrary is proved, the notice must be treated

as having been delivered to the person when it would
have been delivered in the ordinary course of post; and

(b) in proving the delivery, it is sufficient to prove that the
letter was properly addressed and posted.

(3) If the notice is required to be served on, or given to, an en
tity,—
(a) the notice may be served on, or given to, an officer or

any other person holding a similar position in the entity;
and

(b) service on the entity must, unless otherwise directed by
the Commission, be treated as service on all persons
who are officers of the entity, or who are represented
on the entity by those officers.
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Administrative penalties
58 Commission may require payment of administrative

penalty
(1) The Commission may, by written notice to a charitable entity,

require the entity to pay to the Commission an amount pre
scribed by regulations by way of penalty for—
(a) a failure by the charitable entity to send or deliver to the

Commission a notice under section 40 within the time
prescribed by that section; or

(b) a failure by the charitable entity to send or deliver to the
Commission an annual return under section 41 within
the time prescribed by that section.

(2) The amounts payable under this section—
(a) must be paid to the Commission by the date for payment

specified in the notice; and
(b) are recoverable by the Commission in any court of com

petent jurisdiction as a debt due to the Commission.

Appeals against decisions of Commission
59 Right of appeal
(1) A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the Commission

under this Act may appeal to the High Court.
(2) An appeal under this section must be made by lodging a notice

of appeal with the Registrar of the High Court in Wellington
and with the Commission within—
(a) 20 working days after the date of the decision; or
(b) any further time that the High Court may allow on appli

cation made before or after the expiration of that period.
(3) Every notice of appeal must specify—

(a) the decision or the part of the decision appealed from;
and

(b) the grounds of appeal in sufficient detail to fully inform
the High Court and the Commission of the issues in the
appeal; and

(c) the relief sought.
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60 High Court may make interim order pending
determination of appeal

(1) At any time before the final determination of an appeal, the
High Court may make an interim order requiring an entity—
(a) to be registered in the register of charitable entities with

effect from a specified date; or
(b) to be restored to the register of charitable entities with

effect from a specified date; or
(c) to remain registered in the register of charitable entities.

(2) The specified date may be a date that is before or after the order
is made.

(3) At any time before the final determination of an appeal relating
to a decision under section 55, the High Court may make an
interim order preventing or restricting the exercise of a power
by the Commission under that section.

(4) An interim order may be subject to any terms or conditions
that the High Court thinks fit.

(5) If the High Court refuses to make an interim order, the person
or persons who applied for the order may, within 1 month after
the date of the refusal, appeal to the Court of Appeal against
the decision.

(6) If an interim order is made under subsection (1), the Commis
sion must,—
(a) amend the register of charitable entities in accordance

with the order as soon as is reasonably practicable after
receiving the order; and

(b) include a copy of the order in the register of charitable
entities, unless the Court orders otherwise.

(7) To enable the Commission to fulfil the duties imposed by this
section, the Registrar of the Court in which the interim order
is made must send a copy of the order to the Commission as
soon as practicable.

61 Determination of appeal
(1) In determining an appeal, the High Court may—

(a) confirm, modify, or reverse the decision of the Commis
sion or any part of it:
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(b) exercise any of the powers that could have been exer
cised by the Commission in relation to the matter to
which the appeal relates.

(2) Without limiting subsection (1), the High Court may make an
order requiring an entity—
(a) to be registered in the register of charitable entities with

effect from a specified date; or
(b) to be restored to the register of charitable entities with

effect from a specified date; or
(c) to be removed from the register of charitable entities

with effect from a specified date; or
(d) to remain registered in the register of charitable entities.

(3) The specified date may be a date that is before or after the order
is made.

(4) The High Court may make any other order that it thinks fit.
(5) An order may be subject to any terms or conditions that the

High Court thinks fit.
(6) Nothing in this section affects the right of any person to apply,

in accordance with law, for judicial review.

Part 3
Miscellaneous matters and amendments

to other Acts
Subpart 1—Miscellaneous matters relating

to Commission
Reporting obligations

62 Reporting obligations in respect of financial year
commencing on 1 July 2005

(1) The reporting requirements and provisions that would have ap
plied if the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance
Amendment Act 2004 had not been enacted apply to the Com
mission in respect of the financial year commencing on 1 July
2005, rather than the reporting requirements and provisions
enacted by the Crown Entities Act 2004.

(2) Therefore, for example, the Commission must comply, in re
spect of that financial year, with the requirements relating to
annual financial statements, annual reports, statements of in
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tent, and audits that were in the Public Finance Act 1989 im
mediately before the commencement of the Public Finance
Amendment Act 2004.

(3) For the purposes of this section, the Commission must be
treated as if it were named in Schedules 4, 5, and 6 of the
Public Finance Act 1989 as in force immediately before the
commencement of the Public Finance Amendment Act 2004.

(4) Despite subsections (1) and (2), section 152 of the Crown
Entities Act 2004 applies in respect of the financial year com
mencing on 1 July 2005.

Bank accounts
63 Crown Entities Act 2004 provisions concerning bank

accounts apply to Commission
Despite section 195 of the Crown Entities Act 2004, the fol
lowing apply to the Commission on and after the commence
ment of this section:
(a) section 158 of that Act; and
(b) every notice published in the Gazette for the purposes

of section 158 of that Act (unless under the terms of the
notice, the notice does not apply to the Commission);
and

(c) every regulationmade for the purposes of section 158 of
that Act (unless under the terms of the regulation, the
regulation does not apply to the Commission).

Subpart 2—Amendments to Income Tax Act
2004

64 Income Tax Act 2004 called principal Act in this subpart
In this subpart, the Income Tax Act 2004 is called “the princi
pal Act”.

65 Charities: nonbusiness income
Section CW 34 of the principal Act is amended by inserting,
after subsection (1), the following heading and subsection:
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“Exclusion: trustees, society, or institution not registered
“(1B) This section does not apply to an amount of income if, at

the time that the amount of income is derived, the trustee or
trustees of the trust, the society, or the institution is not, or are
not, registered as a charitable entity.”

66 Charities: business income
Section CW35(1) of the principal Act is amended by inserting,
after paragraph (a), the following paragraph:

“(ab) the trustee or trustees of the trust, the society, or the institution
is or are, at the time that the income is derived, registered as a
charitable entity; and.”.

67 Charitable bequests
Section CW 36 of the principal Act is amended by adding the
following heading and subsections:
“Registration as charitable entity not required until end of
income year that follows income year in which deceased died

“(4) An amount of income derived by a deceased’s executor or ad
ministrator that is derived during the period beginning on the
deceased’s date of death and ending at the end of the income
year that follows the income year in which the deceased died
is not prevented from being exempt income under this section
merely because the trustee or trustees of the trust, the society,
or the institution is not, or are not, registered as a charitable
entity.

“(5) For the purposes of subsection (4), until the end of the income
year that follows the income year in which the deceased died,
the requirements in sections CW 34 and CW 35 for the trustee
or trustees of the trust, the society, or the institution to be regis
tered as a charitable entity must be disregarded when applying
those sections for the purposes of this section.

“(6) This section does not apply to an amount of income derived
after the end of the income year that follows the income year
in which the deceased died if, at the time that the amount of in
come is derived, the trustee or trustees of the trust, the society,
or the institution is not, or are not, registered as a charitable
entity.”
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68 Definitions
Section OB 1 of the principal Act is amended by inserting, in
its appropriate alphabetical order, the following definition:

“registered as a charitable entity means registered as a charitable
entity under the Charities Act 2005.”.

Subpart 3—Amendments to Tax
Administration Act 1994

69 Tax Administration Act 1994 called principal Act in this
subpart
In this subpart, the Tax Administration Act 1994 is called “the
principal Act”.

70 Interpretation
Section 3(1) of the principal Act is amended by inserting, after
the definition of challenge, the following definition:

“Charities Commission means the Charities Commission estab
lished under Part 1 of the Charities Act 2005.”.

71 Officers to maintain secrecy
Section 81(4) of the principal Act is amended by inserting,
after paragraph (fa), the following paragraph:

“(fb) communicating to any person, being a member, an employee,
or an agent of the Charities Commission, any information, be
ing information—
“(i) that the person is authorised by the Charities Commis

sion to receive; and
“(ii) that the Commissioner considers is not undesirable to

disclose and is reasonably necessary to enable that per
son to carry out any duty lawfully conferred on that per
son relating to the exercise of the Charities Commis
sion’s powers or the performance of its functions and
duties:”.
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Subpart 4—Amendment to Estate and Gift
Duties Act 1968

72 Exemption for gifts to charities and certain bodies
Section 73(1) of the Estate and Gift Duties Act 1968 is
amended by adding the words.

“if, at the time that the gift is made, the society, institution, or trustees
of the trust is or are registered as a charitable entity under the Char
ities Act 2005”

Subpart 5—Miscellaneous provisions
73 Regulations
(1) The GovernorGeneral may, by Order in Council, make regu

lations for all or any of the following purposes:
(a) prescribing forms for the purposes of this Act, and pre

scribing—
(i) the inclusion in, or attachment to, forms of spe

cified information or documents:
(ii) forms to be signed by specified persons:

(b) prescribing requirements with which documents sent or
delivered for registration must comply:

(c) prescribing fees payable to the Commission in respect
of any matter under this Act or the manner in which fees
may be calculated:

(d) prescribing amounts payable to the Commission byway
of penalty for the purposes of section 58 or the manner
in which penalties may be calculated:

(e) prescribing procedures, requirements, and other matters
for the register of charitable entities, including matters
relating to—
(i) the operation of that register:
(ii) access to that register:
(iii) the location of, and hours of access to, that regis

ter:
(f) declaring any class or classes of persons to be, or not to

be, officers for the purposes of this Act:
(g) providing for any other matters contemplated by this

Act, necessary for its administration, or necessary for
giving it full effect.
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(2) Without limiting subsection (1)(a), forms prescribed under this
section may require the inclusion in, or attachment to, forms of
information or documents for the purpose of assisting any per
son in the exercise of the person’s powers in connection with
section KC 5 of the Income Tax Act 2004 or in the perform
ance of the person’s functions in connection with that section
(regardless of whether or not that information or documenta
tion is collected for the purposes of this Act).

(3) The Commission may refuse to perform a function or exercise
a power until the prescribed fee is paid.

(4) Any Order in Council made under subsection (1) may author
ise the Commission to refund or waive, in whole or in part and
on any conditions as may be prescribed, payment of any fee or
amount payable in relation to any person or class of persons.

(5) Any fee or amount payable to the Commission is recoverable
by the Commission in any court of competent jurisdiction as a
debt due to the Commission.

74 Prosecution of offences
(1) An information in respect of an offence against this Act must

be laid by the Commission or a person authorised by the Com
mission (the authorised person).

(2) Before an information in respect of an offence against this Act
is laid against a person, the Commission or the authorised per
son must lay the facts of the case, so far as the Commission or
the authorised person is acquainted with them, before a Crown
Solicitor.

(3) The Commission or the authorised person may lay an infor
mation against a person only if a Crown Solicitor certifies that
there are reasonable grounds for a prosecution.

(4) No action may be taken against the Commission or the author
ised person for malicious prosecution in relation to a prosecu
tion under this Act if a Crown Solicitor certified that there were
reasonable grounds for bringing the prosecution.
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75 No obligation on Commission or any other person to
supervise
This Act does not impose on the Commission or any other
person any duty or obligation—
(a) to supervise the affairs of any person; or
(b) to apply or operate any system of supervision of any

class of person or of charities generally; or
(c) to exercise any powers conferred by this Act in respect

of any particular person.

76 Amendments to other Acts
The enactments in the Schedule are amended in the manner
indicated in that schedule.

Schedule s 76

Amendments to other Acts
Crown Entities Act 2004 (2004 No 115)

Insert in Part 2 of Schedule 1, in its appropriate alphabetical order:

Charities Commission.

Incorporated Societies Act 1908 (1908 No 212)

Repeal section 23(4) and substitute:
“(4) Nothing in this section applies to a society that is—

“(a) an issuer within the meaning of section 4 of the Finan
cial Reporting Act 1993; or

“(b) a charitable entity within the meaning of section 4 of the
Charities Act 2005.”

Ombudsmen Act 1975 (1975 No 9)

Insert in Part 2 of Schedule 1, in its appropriate alphabetical order:

Charities Commission.
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2 About this eprint
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first)

Notes

1 General
This is an eprint of the Charities Act 2005. It incorporates
all the amendments to the Charities Act 2005 as at 20
November 2007. The list of amendments at the end of these
notes specifies all the amendments incorporated into this
eprint since 3 September 2007. Relevant provisions of any
amending enactments that contain transitional, savings, or
application provisions are also included, after the Principal
enactment, in chronological order.

2 About this eprint
This eprint has not been officialised. For more information
about officialisation, please see "Making online legislation
official" under "Status of legislation on this site" in the About
section of this website.

3 List of amendments incorporated in this eprint
(most recent first)
Terrorism Suppression Amendment Act 2007 (2007 No 102): section 46
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Charities (Fees, Forms, and Other Matters)
Regulations 2006

Anand Satyanand, Governor-General

Order in Council

At Wellington this 25th day of September 2006

Present:
His Excellency the Governor-General in Council

Pursuant to sections 42 and 73 of the Charities Act 2005, His
Excellency the Governor-General, acting on the advice and with the
consent of the Executive Council, makes the following regulations.

Contents

Page

1 2Title
2 2Commencement
3 2Interpretation

Fees

4 2Fee for filing annual return

Forms

5 2Forms
6 3Information or documents required by forms
7 4Forms that must be signed by officer

Other matters

8 4Search criteria for register of charitable entities
9 4Administrative penalties

1

FOR IN
FORMATIO

N O
NLY



Charities (Fees, Forms, and Other
Matters) Regulations 2006 2006/301r 1

Schedule 5
Forms

Regulations
1 Title

These regulations are the Charities (Fees, Forms, and Other
Matters) Regulations 2006.

2 Commencement
These regulations come into force on 1 November 2006.

3 Interpretation
(1) In these regulations, Act means the Charities Act 2005.

(2) Unless the context otherwise requires, terms and expressions
that are used but not defined in these regulations but that are
defined in the Act have the same meaning as in the Act.

Fees

4 Fee for filing annual return
(1) The fee payable by a charitable entity or by a charitable entity

that is a single entity with an annual gross income of $10,000
or more for filing an annual return is,—
(a) in the case of an electronic return, $50:
(b) in the case of a non-electronic return, $75.

(2) The fee must be paid to the Charities Commission.

(3) The fee includes goods and services tax.

Forms

5 Forms
The forms set out in the Schedule are prescribed for the
following purposes under the Act:
(a) form 1 for an application by an entity for registration as

a charitable entity:
(b) form 2 for certifying an officer of a charitable entity:
(c) form 3 for notifying changes to a charitable entity:
(d) form 4 for submitting an annual return on behalf of a

charitable entity:
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(e) form 5 for an application by a single entity for registra-
tion as a charitable entity:

(f) form 6 for notifying changes to a charitable entity that is
a single entity:

(g) form 7 for submitting an annual return on behalf of a
charitable entity that is a single entity.

6 Information or documents required by forms
(1) The following information or documents must accompany

form 3 (notification of changes to a charitable entity) as the
case may be:
(a) if the charitable entity’s rules have changed,—

(i) a copy of the amendment to the rules; and
(ii) a copy of the minute of the meeting or other

record specifying the change and the effective
date of the change:

(b) if a new officer has been added to the charitable entity,
an officer certification form (form 2) for the new officer.

(2) The following information or documents must accompany
form 4 (annual return on behalf of a charitable entity):
(a) a copy of the financial statements of the charitable

entity; and
(b) if the charitable entity’s rules have changed,—

(i) a copy of the amendment to the rules; and
(ii) a copy of the minute of the meeting or other

record specifying the change and the effective
date of the change; and

(c) if a new officer has been added to the charitable entity,
an officer certification form (form 2) for the new officer.

(3) The following information or documents must accompany
form 6 (notification of changes to a charitable entity that is a
single entity) as the case may be:
(a) if the charitable entity that is a single entity’s rules have

changed,—
(i) a copy of the amendment to the rules; and
(ii) a copy of the minute of the meeting or other

record specifying the change and the effective
date of the change:

(b) if a new officer has been added to the charitable entity
that is a single entity, an officer certification form (form
2) for the new officer.
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(4) A copy of the financial statements of the charitable entity must
accompany form 7 (annual return on behalf of a charitable
entity that is a single entity).

7 Forms that must be signed by officer
The following forms must be signed by an officer:
(a) form 1 (application by an entity for registration as a

charitable entity):
(b) form 5 (application by a single entity for registration as

a charitable entity).

Other matters

8 Search criteria for register of charitable entities
The register of charitable entities may be searched by refer-
ence to the following criteria:
(a) the sector in which the charitable entity operates:
(b) the activities that the charitable entity undertakes:
(c) the beneficiaries of the charitable entity:
(d) the area of operation of the charitable entity:
(e) any former name of the charitable entity:
(f) the address for service or any former address for service

of the charitable entity:
(g) the name of a former officer of the charitable entity (for

example, a surname, family name, first name, given
name, or body corporate name).

9 Administrative penalties
(1) The penalty for a failure by a charitable entity to send or

deliver to the Charities Commission a notice of change
required under section 40(1) of the Act within 3 months is
$100.

(2) The penalty for a failure by a charitable entity to send or
deliver to the Charities Commission an annual return under
section 41 of the Act within 6 months after each balance date
of the entity is $200.

4

FOR IN
FORMATIO

N O
NLY



Charities (Fees, Forms, and Other
Matters) Regulations 2006 Schedule2006/301

Schedule r 5

Forms

Form 1
Application by entity for registration as charitable entity

Section 17, Charities Act 2005

Entity details

1 Legal name of the entity. [ ]

2 If the entity is a registered charitable trust, an incor- [ ]
porated society, or a company, please provide the
Companies Office registration number.

3 Other names the entity is known by (if any). [ ]

4 The entity’s Inland Revenue Department (IRD) [ ]
number (if it has one). 

5 End of financial year / balance date for the entity. (day/month)

6 Address for service. Postal address:
Street address:

7 Other details (optional). Phone (day):
Fax:
Email:
Website:

Requirements for registration

8 What organisational type best Trustees of a Go to question 9
describes the entity? trust

Society or insti- Go to question 13
tution

5

FOR IN
FORMATIO

N O
NLY

Please do not use these forms - they will be published in a user-friendly format in 2007. 



Charities (Fees, Forms, and Other
Matters) Regulations 2006 2006/301Schedule

Form 1—continued

Trustees of a trust

9 Note that to be registered under the
[ ] • if a Maori TrustCharities Act 2005, a trust must be

Board, go toset up to receive an amount of
question 10income for a charitable purpose.

• if a marae on aSpecify the clause or rule
Maori reservation,number(s) in the trust deed that
go to question 11state that the trust is set up to

• if neither, go toreceive an amount of income for a
question 14charitable purpose.

Maori Trust Board

10 Has the declaration of trust
Yes It would assist thebeen approved by the Commis-

Charities Commissionsioner of Inland Revenue for
if you supplied a copycharitable purposes under section
of the approval by the24B(3) of the Maori Trust Boards
Commissioner of InlandAct 1955?
Revenue.

No • if a marae on a
Maori reservation,
go to question 11

• if not a marae on a
Maori reservation,
go to question 14

Marae on Maori reservation

11 Is the physical structure of the
Yes • It would assistmarae on land that is a Maori

the Charitiesreservation set apart under
Commission if yousection 338 of Te Ture Whenua
supplied a copy ofMaori Act 1993?
the Gazette notice
under section 338 of
Te Ture Whenua
Maori Act 1993 and

• Go to question 12

No Go to question 14
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Form 1—continued
12 Are the funds of the marae used for Yes Go to question 14

a purpose other than—
• administration and maintenance

No Go to question 14of the land and of the physical
structure of the marae; or

• another charitable purpose?

Society or institution

13 Note that to be registered under the [ ] Go to question 14
Charities Act 2005, a society or 
institution must be established and
maintained exclusively for charita-
ble purposes and not carried on for
the private profit of any individual.
Specify the clause number(s) in the
entity’s rules that state it is estab-
lished and maintained exclusively
for charitable purposes and not car-
ried on for the private profit of any
individual.

Charitable purpose

Sectors

14 Which of the following describe the sectors in which the entity operates?
Please select as many boxes as needed.

( accommodation / housing ( sport / recreation
( education / training / research ( care / protection of animals
( health ( international activities
( environment / conservation ( economic development
( marae on reservation land ( fund-raising
( community development ( disability
( emergency / disaster relief ( promotion of volunteering
( social services ( other (please state below)
( employment

[ ]
( religious activities
( arts / culture / heritage

15 Which one of the above is the main sector of [ ]
operation for the entity?
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Form 1—continued

Activities

16 Which of the following activities describe what the entity does? Please select as
many boxes as needed.

( makes grants / loans to ( provides advice / information /
individuals advocacy

( sponsors / undertakes research( makes grants to organisations
(including schools or other ( acts as an umbrella / resource
charities) body

( provides other finance (eg, ( provides religious services /
investment funds) activities

( provides human resources (eg, ( other (please state below)
staff / volunteers)

[ ]
( provides buildings / facilities /

open space

( provides services (eg, care /
counselling)

17 Which one of the above is the main activity of the [ ]
entity?

Beneficiaries

18 Who benefits from the entity’s activities? Please select as many boxes as needed.

( children / young people ( older people
( voluntary bodies other than ( people with disabilities

charities ( general public
( animals ( migrants / refugees
( people of a certain ethnic / racial ( other (please state below)

origin
[ ]( family / whanau

( religious groups
( other charities

19 Which one of the above is the main beneficiary of [ ]
the entity?
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Form 1—continued

Sources of funds

20 From which of the following sources does the entity get or intend to get funds?
Please select as many boxes as needed.

( government grants / contracts ( membership fees
( income from service provision ( bequests
( income from trading operations ( other sources (please state

below)( donations / koha
( New Zealand dividends [ ]
( other investment income
( any other grants and sponsorship

Areas of operation

21 Where does the entity operate or intend to operate? Please select as many boxes as
needed.

New Zealand

( Nationwide

Or less than nationwide

( Northland ( Wellington–Wairarapa
( Auckland ( Nelson–Marlborough–Tasman
( Waikato ( West Coast
( Bay of Plenty ( Canterbury
( Gisborne ( Otago
( Hawke’s Bay ( Southland
( Taranaki ( Chatham Islands
( Manawatu–Wanganui

Overseas

( Oceania ( Antarctica
( Asia ( South America
( Africa ( North America
( Europe

22 Identify the percentage of New Zealand-sourced [ ]
funds that were spent overseas in the last financial
year (or if the entity has not been operating for
a year, the percentage of New Zealand-sourced funds
that the entity intends to spend overseas in the
upcoming financial year).
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Form 1—continued

Officer details

23 Please provide details for each officer of the entity.
This is to ensure that the Charities Commission can match up your officer
certification forms with the officers you advise the Charities Commission of in this
form. Please note that each officer or someone on the officer’s behalf must
complete and sign an officer certification form.

Individual officer Given or first Surname or family
name(s): name:

Body corporate Name of body
corporate:

Rules

24 Please supply a copy of the entity’s rules including all amendments.

Privacy and information use

The information that you have provided in this form will be held and used by the
Charities Commission to determine your eligibility for registration and to carry out its
functions under the Charities Act 2005.
The Charities Act 2005 authorises the supply of information or documents held on the
register of charitable entities to the Inland Revenue Department to assist in the carrying
out of powers and functions under any of the Inland Revenue Acts.
The Statistics Act 1975 allows for the information, once collected, to be used for
statistical purposes by Statistics New Zealand. Information supplied to Statistics New
Zealand will be used for statistical purposes only and will be arranged to prevent
particulars published about any person from being identifiable (except by the person
who supplied the information), unless the person has agreed or publication identifying
the person is unavoidable.
The Privacy Act 1993 provides that you may access or correct personal information
about you held by the Charities Commission.  If you wish to access or correct your
personal information, please contact the Charities Commission, PO Box 8072,
Wellington.

Request for information on register to be restricted from public access

Please note:
• The Charities Commission may, under section 25 of the Charities Act 2005,

prevent or restrict public access to information or documents if it considers it to be
in the public interest to do so. Please note that this information or these documents
will still be subject to requests under the Official Information Act 1982 that will be
considered by the Charities Commission on a case-by-case basis.

• All requests to prevent or restrict public access to information or documents will
be evaluated and you will be advised of the Charities Commission’s decision.
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Form 1—continued

Certification

I certify that the information in this application form for registration as a charitable
entity is correct and that I am authorised to make this application.

Signature of officer [ ]

Full name of officer [ ]

Date (day/month/year)
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Form 2
Officer certification form

Section 16, Charities Act 2005

Entity details

1 Legal name of the entity. [ ]

2 Charitable entity registration number if the entity is [ ]
registered under the Charities Act 2005.

Officer details

3 Full name of officer.

Individual officer Given or first Surname or family
name(s): name:

Body corporate Name of body
corporate:

4 Position held in the entity. [ ]

5 Date of appointment to position. (day/month/year)

• For an officer of an entity in the process of being registered with the Charities
Commission either:
– use the date of appointment; or
– if you do not know or can not ascertain the date, leave blank and the Charities

Commission will use the date the entity is registered.
• For a new officer of an entity that is already registered, use the date of appointment

only.
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Form 2—continued

Privacy and information use

The information that you have provided in this form will be held and used by the
Charities Commission to determine your eligibility for registration and to carry out its
functions under the Charities Act 2005.
The Charities Act 2005 authorises the supply of information or documents held on the
register of charitable entities to the Inland Revenue Department to assist in the carrying
out of powers and functions under any of the Inland Revenue Acts.
The Statistics Act 1975 allows for the information, once collected, to be used for
statistical purposes by Statistics New Zealand. Information supplied to Statistics New
Zealand will be used for statistical purposes only and will be arranged to prevent
particulars published about any person from being identifiable (except by the person
who supplied the information), unless the person has agreed or publication identifying
the person is unavoidable.
The Privacy Act 1993 provides that you may access or correct personal information
about you held by the Charities Commission. If you wish to access or correct your
personal information, please contact the Charities Commission, PO Box 8072,
Wellington.

Request for information on register to be restricted from public access

Please note:
• The Charities Commission may, under section 25 of the Charities Act 2005,

prevent or restrict public access to information or documents if it considers it to be
in the public interest to do so. Please note that this information or these documents
will still be subject to requests under the Official Information Act 1982 that will be
considered by the Charities Commission on a case-by-case basis.

• All requests to prevent or restrict public access to information or documents will
be evaluated and you will be advised of the Charities Commission’s decision.

Certification

I certify that the named officer (please tick one or both as applicable):
( is not disqualified from being an officer of a charitable entity in terms of section

16(2) of the Charities Act 2005:
( has been appointed as an officer under an Act, by the Governor-General, by the

Governor-General in Council, or by a Minister.

Signature of officer or person completing this form on [ ]
the officer’s behalf 

Full name of officer or person completing this form on [ ]
the officer’s behalf 

Date (day/month/year)
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Form 3
Notification of changes to charitable entity

Section 40, Charities Act 2005

Charitable entity details

1 Legal name of the charitable entity. [ ]

2 Charitable entity registration number. [ ]

Changes to charitable entity’s details

3 New legal name of charitable entity.
[ ]

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

4 New other name of the charitable entity. [ ]

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

5 New address for service. Postal address:
Street address:

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

6 New end of financial year / balance date for the (day/month)
charitable entity. 

Effective date of change (day/month/year)
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Form 3—continued

7 Changes to other details (optional). Phone (day):
Fax:
Email:
Website:

Changes to charitable purpose

Sectors

8 If your sectors of operation have changed, please indicate what you do now. Please
select as many boxes as needed.

( accommodation / housing ( sport / recreation
( education / training / research ( care / protection of animals
( health ( international activities
( environment / conservation ( economic development
( marae on reservation land ( fund-raising
( community development ( disability
( emergency / disaster relief ( promotion of volunteering
( social services ( other (please state below)
( employment

[ ]
( religious activities
( arts / culture / heritage

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

9 If your main sector of operation has changed, please [ ]
indicate what it is now. 

Effective date of change (day/month/year)
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Form 3—continued

Activities

10 If your activities have changed, please indicate what you do now. Please select as
many boxes as needed.

( makes grants / loans to ( provides advice / information /
individuals advocacy

( sponsors / undertakes research( makes grants / loans
organisations (including schools ( acts as an umbrella / resource
or other charities) body

( provides other finance (eg, ( provides religious services /
investment funds) activities

( provides human resources (eg, ( other (please state below)
staff / volunteers)

[ ]
( provides buildings / facilities /

open space

( provides services (eg, care /
counselling)

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

11 If your main activity has changed, please indicate [ ]
what it is now. 

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

Beneficiaries

12 If your beneficiaries have changed, please indicate who they are now. Please select
as many boxes as needed.

( children / young people ( older people
( voluntary bodies other than ( people with disabilities

charities ( general public
( animals ( migrants / refugees
( people of a certain ethnic / racial ( other (please state below)

origin
[ ]( family / whanau

( religious groups
( other charities

Effective date of change (day/month/year)
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Matters) Regulations 2006 Schedule2006/301

Form 3—continued

13 If your main beneficiary has changed, please indicate [ ]
who it is now. 

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

Areas of operation

14 If your areas of operation have changed, please indicate what they are now. Please
select as many boxes as needed.

New Zealand

( Nationwide

Or less than nationwide

( Northland ( Wellington–Wairarapa
( Auckland ( Nelson–Marlborough–Tasman
( Waikato ( West Coast
( Bay of Plenty ( Canterbury
( Gisborne ( Otago
( Hawke’s Bay ( Southland
( Taranaki ( Chatham Islands
( Manawatu–Wanganui

Overseas

( Oceania ( Antarctica
( Asia ( South America
( Africa ( North America
( Europe

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

15 Identify the percentage of New Zealand-sourced [ ]
funds that were spent overseas in the last financial
year (or if the charitable entity has not been
operating for a year, the percentage of New Zealand-
sourced funds that the charitable entity intends to
spend overseas in the upcoming financial year).

17

FOR IN
FORMATIO

N O
NLY

Please do not use these forms - they will be published in a user-friendly format in 2007. 



Charities (Fees, Forms, and Other
Matters) Regulations 2006 2006/301Schedule

Form 3—continued

Change to officers

16 Do you need to add any new Yes Please complete an
officers of the charitable entity to officer certification
the register? form

17 Please provide details for each new officer of the charitable entity.
This is to ensure that the Charities Commission can match up your officer
certification forms with the officers you advise the Charities Commission of in this
form. Please note that each new officer or someone on the officer’s behalf must
complete and sign an officer certification form.

New individual officer Given or first Surname or family
name(s): name:

New body corporate Name of body
corporate:

18 Do any officers of the charitable entity need to be removed from the register?
Please specify each individual or body corporate that is no longer an officer.

Last date as an officer
Full name of officer (day/month/year)

Rules

19 Have the charitable entity’s rules changed since you last Yes
notified the Charities Commission? 

No

If the charitable entity’s rules have changed, please supply—
• a copy of the amendment(s) to the charitable entity’s rules; and
• a copy of the minute of the meeting or other record specifying the decision

and the effective date of the change.
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Form 3—continued

Privacy and information use

The information that you have provided in this form will be held and used by the
Charities Commission to determine your eligibility for ongoing registration and to carry
out its functions under the Charities Act 2005.
The Charities Act 2005 authorises the supply of information or documents held on the
register of charitable entities to the Inland Revenue Department to assist in the carrying
out of powers and functions under any of the Inland Revenue Acts.
The Statistics Act 1975 allows for the information, once collected, to be used for
statistical purposes by Statistics New Zealand. Information supplied to Statistics New
Zealand will be used for statistical purposes only and will be arranged to prevent
particulars published about any person from being identifiable (except by the person
who supplied the information), unless the person has agreed or publication identifying
the person is unavoidable.
The Privacy Act 1993 provides that you may access or correct personal information
about you held by the Charities Commission.  If you wish to access or correct your
personal information, please contact the Charities Commission, PO Box 8072,
Wellington.

Request for information on register to be restricted from public access

Please note:
• The Charities Commission may, under section 25 of the Charities Act 2005,

prevent or restrict public access to information or documents if it considers it to be
in the public interest to do so. Please note that this information or these documents
will still be subject to requests under the Official Information Act 1982 that will be
considered by the Charities Commission on a case-by-case basis.

• All requests to prevent or restrict public access to information or documents will
be evaluated and you will be advised of the Charities Commission’s decision.

Certification

I certify that the information in this form is correct, that I am authorised to give this
notice, and where applicable I have completed the effective date of change sections of
the form.

Signature of person completing this form [ ]

Full name of person completing this form [ ]

Date (day/month/year)
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Form 4
Annual return for charitable entity

Section 41, Charities Act 2005

Charitable entity details

1 Legal name of the charitable entity (if this is a [ ]
change, file this form within 3 months of the
effective date of this change and complete the 
effective date of change box).

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

2 Charitable entity registration number. [ ]

3 Former legal name of the charitable entity if the [ ]
charitable entity’s name has changed. 

4 Other name of the charitable entity (if this is a [ ]
change, file this form within 3 months of the
effective date of this change and complete the 
effective date of change box).

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

5 Address for service for the charitable entity (if this Postal address:
is a change, file this form within 3 months of 

Street address:the effective date of this change and complete the
effective date of change box).

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

6 End of financial year / balance date for the charitable (day/month)
entity (if this is a change, file this form within
3 months of the effective date of this change and
complete the effective date of change box).

Effective date of change (day/month/year)
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Matters) Regulations 2006 Schedule2006/301

Form 4—continued

7 Other details (optional). Phone (day):
Fax:
Email:
Website:

Charitable purpose

Sectors

(If this is a change, file this form within 3 months of the effective date of this change
and complete the effective date of change boxes.)

8 Please indicate the sectors in which the charitable entity operates by marking the
current operations of the charitable entity in the boxes below. Please select as
many boxes as needed.

( accommodation / housing ( sport / recreation
( education / training / research ( care / protection of animals
( health ( international activities
( environment / conservation ( economic development
( marae on reservation land ( fund-raising
( community development ( disability
( emergency / disaster relief ( promotion of volunteering
( social services ( other
( employment

[ ]
( religious activities
( arts / culture / heritage

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

9 Please indicate the main sector of operation for the [ ]
charitable entity. 

Effective date of change (day/month/year)
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Form 4—continued

Activities

(If this is a change, file this form within 3 months of the effective date of this change
and complete the effective date of change boxes.)

10 Please indicate what the charitable entity does by marking the current activities of
the charitable entity in the boxes below. Please select as many boxes as needed.

( makes grants / loans to ( provides advice / information /
individuals advocacy

( sponsors / undertakes research( makes grants / loans to
organisations (including schools ( acts as an umbrella / resource
or other charities) body

( provides other finance (eg, ( provides religious services /
investment funds) activities

( provides human resources (eg, ( other (please state below)
staff / volunteers)

[ ]
( provides buildings / facilities /

open space

( provides services (eg, care /
counselling)

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

11 Please indicate the main activity of the charitable [ ]
entity.

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

Beneficiaries

(If this is a change, file this form within 3 months of the effective date of this change
and complete the effective date of change boxes.)

12 Please indicate who benefits from the charitable entity’s activities by marking the
current beneficiaries of the charitable entity in the boxes below. Please select as
many boxes as needed.

( children / young people ( older people
( voluntary bodies other than ( people with disabilities

charities ( general public
( animals ( migrants / refugees
( people of a certain ethnic / racial ( other (please state below)

origin
[ ]( family / whanau

( religious groups
( other charities
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Form 4—continued
13 Please indicate who benefits most from the charitable [ ]

entity.

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

Areas of operation

14 Please indicate where the charitable entity operates by marking the current areas
of operation of the charitable entity in the boxes below. Please select as many
boxes as needed.

New Zealand

( Nationwide

Or less than nationwide

( Northland ( Wellington–Wairarapa
( Auckland ( Nelson–Marlborough–Tasman
( Waikato ( West Coast
( Bay of Plenty ( Canterbury
( Gisborne ( Otago
( Hawke’s Bay ( Southland
( Taranaki ( Chatham Islands
( Manawatu–Wanganui

Overseas

( Oceania ( Antarctica
( Asia ( South America
( Africa ( North America
( Europe

15 Identify the percentage of New Zealand-sourced [ ]
funds that were spent overseas in the last financial
year (or if the charitable entity has not been
operating for a year, the percentage of New Zealand-
sourced funds that the charitable entity intends to
spend overseas in the upcoming financial year).
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Form 4—continued

Change to officers

16 Do you need to add any new Yes Please complete an
officers of the charitable entity to officer certification
the register? form

17 Please provide details for each new officer of the charitable entity.
This is to ensure that the Charities Commission can match up your officer
certification forms with the officers you advise the Charities Commission of in this
form. Please note that each new officer or someone on the officer’s behalf must
complete and sign an officer certification form.

Individual officer Given or first Surname or family
name(s): name:

Body corporate Name of body
corporate:

18 Do any officers of the charitable entity need to be removed from the register?
Please specify each individual or body corporate that is no longer an officer.

Last date as an officer
Full name of officer (day/month/year)

Rules

19 Have the charitable entity’s rules changed since you last Yes
notified the Charities Commission? 

No

If the charitable entity’s rules have changed—
• file this form within 3 months of the effective date of this change; and
• please supply—

• a copy of the amendment(s) to the charitable entity’s rules; and
• a copy of the minute of the meeting or other record specifying the

decision and the effective date of the change.
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Form 4—continued

Your people
Please provide approximate numbers if you do not know the exact numbers.

20 In an average week, how many people does the charitable entity employ?

Paid full time [ ]

Paid part time [ ]

21 In an average week, how many paid hours of work [ ]
are worked in total by all employees? 

22 In an average week, how many people work as [ ]
volunteers for the charitable entity? 

23 In an average week, how many volunteer hours are [ ]
worked in total by all volunteers? 
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Form 4—continued

Financial information

Please attach a copy of the charitable entity’s financial accounts. If you have audited
financial accounts, please attach those, if not, please attach what you do have.

24 What accounting method does the charitable entity use? Cash

Accrual

25 Please fill in the financial information below. Enter ‘‘nil’’ if applicable.
Note: Please insert figures rounded to the closest thousand dollars.

Part 1: Statement of financial performance for the year ended
[day/month/year]

Gross income
Government grants / contracts 

All other grants and sponsorship 

Income from service provision / trading 
operations

Membership fees 

Donations / koha 

Bequests 

New Zealand dividends 

Other investment income 

All other income 

Total gross income

Expenditure
Grants paid—within New Zealand 

Grants paid—outside New Zealand 

Salaries and wages 

Depreciation 

Interest paid 

Cost of service provision (excluding 
salaries and wages)

Cost of trading operations (excluding 
salaries and wages)

All other expenditure 

Total expenditure

Net surplus / deficit for the year
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Form 4—continued
Part 2: Statement of financial performance as at [day/month/year]

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 

Inventory 

All other short-term assets 

All current assets

Non-current assets
Land 

Buildings 

Computers and office equipment 

All other fixed assets 

Investments 

All non-current assets

Total assets

Liabilities
All current liabilities 

All non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities

Equity
Endowment funds 

Restricted purpose funds 

General accumulated funds 

Total equity

Total liabilities
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Form 4—continued

Privacy and information use

The information that you have provided in this form will be held and used by the
Charities Commission to determine your ongoing eligibility for registration and to carry
out its functions under the Charities Act 2005.
The Charities Act 2005 authorises the supply of information or documents held on the
register of charitable entities to the Inland Revenue Department to assist in the carrying
out of powers and functions under any of the Inland Revenue Acts.
The Statistics Act 1975 allows for the information, once collected, to be used for
statistical purposes by Statistics New Zealand. Information supplied to Statistics New
Zealand will be used for statistical purposes only and will be arranged to prevent
particulars published about any person from being identifiable (except by the person
who supplied the information), unless the person has agreed or publication identifying
the person is unavoidable.
The Privacy Act 1993 provides that you may access or correct personal information
about you held by the Charities Commission.  If you wish to access or correct your
personal information, please contact the Charities Commission, PO Box 8072,
Wellington.

Request for information on register to be restricted from public access

Please note:
• The Charities Commission may, under section 25 of the Charities Act 2005,

prevent or restrict public access to information or documents if it considers it to be
in the public interest to do so. Please note that this information or these documents
will still be subject to requests under the Official Information Act 1982 that will be
considered by the Charities Commission on a case-by-case basis.

• All requests to prevent or restrict public access to information or documents will
be evaluated and you will be advised of the Charities Commission’s decision.

Certification

I certify that the information in this annual return is correct and that I am authorised to
complete this return and where applicable I have completed the effective date of change
sections of the form.

Signature of person completing annual return [ ]

Full name of person completing annual return [ ]

Date (day/month/year)
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Form 5
Application by single entity for registration as

charitable entity
Section 46, Charities Act 2005

Single entity details

1 Legal name of the single entity. [ ]

2 Legal name of the parent entity.
[ ]

3 Other names the single entity is known by (if any). [ ]

4 Address for service of the single entity. Postal address:
Street address:

5 Other details (optional). Phone (day):
Fax:
Email:
Website:

6 End of financial year / balance date for the single (day/month)
entity. 

7 Please list the names of all of the entities that form part of the single entity and
their Inland Revenue Department (IRD) number (if applicable) and, if the entity is
a registered charitable trust, an incorporated society, or a company, its Companies
Office registration number.

Name of Entity Companies Office
entity IRD number registration number
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Form 5—continued

8 Do any of the entities covered by this application have Yes
charitable entity registration numbers? 

No

Please list the name of the entity and its charitable entity registration number.

Name of entity Charitable entity registration number

Charitable purpose

Sectors

9 Which of the following describe the sectors in which the single entity operates?
Please select as many boxes as needed.

( accommodation / housing ( care / protection of animals
( education / training / research ( international activities
( health ( economic development
( environment / conservation ( fund-raising
( marae on reservation land ( disability
( community development ( promotion of volunteering
( emergency / disaster relief ( other
( social services

[ ]
( employment
( religious activities
( arts / culture / heritage
( sport / recreation

10 Which one of the above is the main sector of [ ]
operation for the single entity?
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Form 5—continued

Activities

11 Which of the following activities describe what the single entity does?
Please select as many boxes as needed.

( makes grants / loans to ( provides advice / information /
individuals advocacy

( sponsors / undertakes research( makes grants / loans to
organisations (including schools ( acts as an umbrella / resource
or other charities) body

( provides other finance (eg, ( provides religious services /
investment funds) activities

( provides human resources (eg, ( other (please state below)
staff / volunteers)

[ ]
( provides buildings / facilities /

open space

( provides services (eg, care /
counselling)

12 Which one of the above is the main activity of the [ ]
single entity?

Beneficiaries

13 Who benefits from the single entity’s activities? Please select as many boxes as
needed.

( children / young people ( older people
( voluntary bodies other than ( people with disabilities

charities ( general public
( animals ( migrants / refugees
( people of a certain ethnic / racial ( other (please state below)

origin
[ ]( family / whanau

( religious groups
( other charities

14 Which one of the above is the main beneficiary of [ ]
the single entity? 
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Form 5—continued

Sources of funds

15 From which of the following sources does the single entity get or intend to get
funds? Please select as many boxes as needed.

( government grants / contracts ( bequests
( income from service provision ( other investment income
( income from trading operations ( other sources (please state

below)( donations / koha
( New Zealand dividends [ ]
( any other grants and sponsorship
( membership fees

Areas of operation

16 Where does the single entity operate or intend to operate? Please select as many
boxes as needed.

New Zealand

( Nationwide

Or less than nationwide

( Northland ( Wellington–Wairarapa
( Auckland ( Nelson–Marlborough–Tasman
( Waikato ( West Coast
( Bay of Plenty ( Canterbury
( Gisborne ( Otago
( Hawke’s Bay ( Southland
( Taranaki ( Chatham Islands
( Manawatu–Wanganui

Overseas

( Oceania ( Antarctica
( Asia ( South America
( Africa ( North America
( Europe

17 Identify the percentage of New Zealand-sourced [ ]
funds that were spent overseas in the last financial
year (or if the single entity has not been operating
for a year, the percentage of New Zealand-sourced
funds that the single entity intends to spend overseas
in the upcoming financial year).
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Form 5—continued

Rules

18 Please supply a copy of the single entity’s rules including all amendments.

Privacy and information use

The information that you have provided in this form will be held and used by the
Charities Commission to determine your eligibility for registration and to carry out its
functions under the Charities Act 2005.
The Charities Act 2005 authorises the supply of information or documents held on the
register of charitable entities to the Inland Revenue Department to assist in the carrying
out of powers and functions under any of the Inland Revenue Acts.
The Statistics Act 1975 allows for the information, once collected, to be used for
statistical purposes by Statistics New Zealand. Information supplied to Statistics New
Zealand will be used for statistical purposes only and will be arranged to prevent
particulars published about any person from being identifiable (except by the person
who supplied the information), unless the person has agreed or publication identifying
the person is unavoidable.
The Privacy Act 1993 provides that you may access or correct personal information
about you held by the Charities Commission.  If you wish to access or correct your
personal information, please contact the Charities Commission, PO Box 8072,
Wellington.

Request for information on register to be restricted from public access

Please note:
• The Charities Commission may, under section 25 of the Charities Act 2005,

prevent or restrict public access to information or documents if it considers it to be
in the public interest to do so. Please note that this information or these documents
will still be subject to requests under the Official Information Act 1982 that will be
considered by the Charities Commission on a case-by-case basis.

• All requests to prevent or restrict public access to information or documents will
be evaluated and you will be advised of the Charities Commission’s decision.

Certification

I certify that the information in this application form for registration as a single entity is
correct and that I am authorised to make this application.

Signature of officer [ ]

Full name of officer [ ]

Date (day/month/year)
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Form 6
Notification of changes to charitable entity that is

single entity
Section 40, Charities Act 2005

Single entity details

1 Legal name of the single entity. [ ]

2 Legal name of the parent entity. [ ]

3 Single entity registration number. [ ]

Changes to single entity’s details

4 New legal name of the single entity.
[ ]

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

5 New other name of the single entity. [ ]

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

6 New name of the parent entity. [ ]

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

7 New address for service for the single entity. Postal address:
Street address:

Effective date of change (day/month/year)
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Form 6—continued

8 New end of financial year / balance date for the (day/month)
single entity. 

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

9 Changes to other details (optional). Phone (day):
Fax:
Email:
Website:

Changes to charitable purpose

Sectors

10 If your sectors of operation have changed, please indicate what you do now. Please
select as many boxes as needed.

( accommodation / housing ( sport / recreation
( education / training / research ( care / protection of animals
( health ( international activities
( environment / conservation ( economic development
( marae on reservation land ( fund-raising
( community development ( disability
( emergency / disaster relief ( promotion of volunteering
( social services ( other (please state below)
( employment

[ ]
( religious activities
( arts / culture / heritage

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

11 If your main sector of operation has changed, please [ ]
indicate what it is now. 

Effective date of change (day/month/year)
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Form 6—continued

Activities

12 If your activities have changed, please indicate what you do now. Please select as
many boxes as needed.

( makes grants / loans to ( provides advice / information /
individuals advocacy

( sponsors / undertakes research( makes grants / loans to
organisations (including schools ( acts as an umbrella / resource
or other charities) body

( provides other finance (eg, ( provides religious services /
investment funds) activities

( provides human resources (eg, ( other (please state below)
staff / volunteers)

[ ]
( provides buildings / facilities /

open space

( provides services (eg, care /
counselling)

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

13 If your main activity has changed, please indicate [ ]
what it is now. 

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

Beneficiaries

14 If your beneficiaries have changed, please indicate who they are now. Please select
as many boxes as needed.

( children / young people ( older people
( voluntary bodies other than ( people with disabilities

charities ( general public
( animals ( migrants / refugees
( people of a certain ethnic / racial ( other (please state below)

origin
[ ]( family / whanau

( religious groups
( other charities

Effective date of change (day/month/year)
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Form 6—continued
15 If your main beneficiary has changed, please indicate [ ]

who it is now. 

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

Areas of operation

16 If your areas of operation have changed, please indicate what they are now. Please
select as many boxes as needed.

New Zealand

( Nationwide

Or less than nationwide

( Northland ( Wellington–Wairarapa
( Auckland ( Nelson–Marlborough–Tasman
( Waikato ( West Coast
( Bay of Plenty ( Canterbury
( Gisborne ( Otago
( Hawke’s Bay ( Southland
( Taranaki ( Chatham Islands
( Manawatu–Wanganui

Overseas

( Oceania ( Antarctica
( Asia ( South America
( Africa ( North America
( Europe

Effective date of change (day/month/year)

17 Identify the percentage of New Zealand-sourced [ ]
funds that were spent overseas in the last financial
year (or if the single entity has not been
operating for a year, the percentage of New Zealand-
sourced funds that the single entity intends to spend
overseas in the upcoming financial year).
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Form 6—continued

Change to officers

18 Do you need to add any new Yes Please complete an
officers of the single entity to officer certification
the register? form

19 Please provide details for each officer of the single entity.
This is to ensure that the Charities Commission can match up your officer
certification forms with the officers you advise in this form. Please note that each
officer or someone on the officer’s behalf must complete and sign an officer
certification form.

Individual officer Given or first Surname or family
name: name:

Body corporate Name of body
corporate:

20 Do any officers of the single entity need to be removed from the register? Please
specify each individual or body corporate that is no longer an officer.

Last date as an officer
Full name of officer (day/month/year)

Rules

21 Have the single entity’s rules changed since you last notified Yes
the Charities Commission? 

No

If the single entity’s rules have changed, please supply—
• a copy of the amendment(s) to the single entity’s rules; and
• a copy of the minute of the meeting or other record specifying the decision

and the effective date of the change.
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Form 6—continued

Privacy and information use

The information that you have provided in this form will be held and used by the
Charities Commission to determine your ongoing eligibility for registration and to carry
out its functions under the Charities Act 2005.
The Charities Act 2005 authorises the supply of information or documents held on the
register of charitable entities to the Inland Revenue Department to assist in the carrying
out of powers and functions under any of the Inland Revenue Acts.
The Statistics Act 1975 allows for the information, once collected, to be used for
statistical purposes by Statistics New Zealand. Information supplied to Statistics New
Zealand will be used for statistical purposes only and will be arranged to prevent
particulars published about any person from being identifiable (except by the person
who supplied the information), unless the person has agreed or publication identifying
the person is unavoidable.
The Privacy Act 1993 provides that you may access or correct personal information
about you held by the Charities Commission. If you wish to access or correct your
personal information, please contact the Charities Commission, PO Box 8072,
Wellington.

Request for information on register to be restricted from public access

Please note:
• The Charities Commission may, under section 25 of the Charities Act 2005,

prevent or restrict public access to information or documents if it considers it to be
in the public interest to do so. Please note that this information or these documents
will still be subject to requests under the Official Information Act 1982 that will be
considered by the Charities Commission on a case-by-case basis.

• All requests to prevent or restrict public access to information or documents will
be evaluated and you will be advised of the Charities Commission’s decision.

Certification

I certify that the information in this form is correct, that I am authorised to give this
notice, and that I have completed the effective date of change sections of this form.

Signature of person completing this form 
[ ]

Full name of person completing this form 
[ ]

Date (day/month/year)
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Charities (Fees, Forms, and Other
Matters) Regulations 2006 2006/301Schedule

Form 7
Annual return for charitable entity that is single entity and

for charitable entities forming part of single entity
Section 41, Charities Act 2005

Part A—Single entity

Single entity details

1 Legal name of the single entity. [ ]

2 Single entity registration number. [ ]

3 Legal name of the parent entity. [ ]

4 Parent entity registration number. [ ]

Charitable purpose

Sectors
5 Please indicate the sectors in which the single entity operates by marking the

current operations of the single entity in the boxes below. Please select as many
boxes as needed.

( accommodation / housing ( sport / recreation
( education / training / research ( care / protection of animals
( health ( international activities
( environment / conservation ( economic development
( marae on reservation land ( fund-raising
( community development ( disability
( emergency / disaster relief ( promotion of volunteering
( social services ( other (please state below)
( employment

[ ]
( religious activities
( arts / culture / heritage

6 Please indicate the main sector of operation for the [ ]
single entity?
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Form 7—continued

Activities

7 Please indicate what the single entity does by marking the current activities of the
single entity in the boxes below. Please select as many boxes as needed.

( makes grants / loans to ( provides advice / information /
individuals advocacy

( sponsors / undertakes research( makes grants / loans to
organisations (including schools ( acts as an umbrella / resource
or other charities) body

( provides other finance (eg, ( provides religious services /
investment funds) activities

( provides human resources (eg, ( other (please state below)
staff / volunteers)

[ ]
( provides buildings / facilities /

open space

( provides services (eg, care /
counselling)

8 Please indicate the main activity of the single entity? [ ]

Beneficiaries

9 Please indicate who benefits from the activities of the single entity by marking the
current beneficiaries of the single entity in the boxes below. Please select as many
boxes as needed.

( children / young people ( older people
( voluntary bodies other than ( people with disabilities

charities ( general public
( animals ( migrants / refugees
( people of a certain ethnic or ( other (please state below)

racial origin
[ ]( family / whanau

( religious groups
( other charities

10 Please indicate who benefits most from the single [ ]
entity?
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Form 7—continued

Areas of operation

11 Please indicate where the single entity operates by marking the current areas of
operation of the single entity in the boxes below. Please select as many boxes as
needed.

New Zealand

( Nationwide

Or less than nationwide

( Northland ( Wellington–Wairarapa
( Auckland ( Nelson–Marlborough–Tasman
( Waikato ( West Coast
( Bay of Plenty ( Canterbury
( Gisborne ( Otago
( Hawke’s Bay ( Southland
( Taranaki ( Chatham Islands
( Manawatu–Wanganui

Overseas

( Oceania ( Antarctica
( Asia ( South America
( Africa ( North America
( Europe

12 Identify the percentage of New Zealand-sourced [ ]
funds that were spent overseas in the last financial
year (or if the single entity has not been
operating for a year, the percentage of New Zealand-
sourced funds that the single entity intends to spend
overseas in the upcoming financial year).

end of Part A

Part B—Charitable entity forming part of single entity

13 Legal name of the charitable entity. [ ]

14 Charitable entity registration number. [ ]

end of Part B
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Charities (Fees, Forms, and Other
Matters) Regulations 2006 Schedule2006/301

Form 7—continued

Part C—Financial information

Your people
Please provide approximate numbers if you do not know the exact numbers.

15 In an average week, how many people does the charitable entity employ?

Paid full time [ ]

Paid part time [ ]

16 In an average week, how many paid hours of work [ ]
are worked in total by all employees? 

17 In an average week, how many people work as [ ]
volunteers for the charitable entity? 

18 In an average week, how many volunteer hours are [ ]
worked in total by all volunteers? 
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Form 7—continued

Financial information

Please attach a copy of the charitable entity’s financial accounts. If you have audited
financial accounts, please attach those, if not, please attach what you do have.

19 What accounting method does the charitable entity use? Cash

Accrual

20 Please fill in the financial information below. Enter ‘‘nil’’ if applicable.
Note: Please insert figures rounded to the closest thousand dollars.

Part 1: Statement of financial performance for the year ended
[day/month/year]

Gross income
Government grants / contracts 

All other grants and sponsorship 

Income from service provision / trading 
operations

Membership fees 

Donations / koha 

Bequests 

New Zealand dividends 

Other investment income 

All other income 

Total gross income

Expenditure
Grants paid—within New Zealand 

Grants paid—outside New Zealand 

Salaries and wages 

Depreciation 

Interest paid 

Cost of service provision (excluding 
salaries and wages)

Cost of trading operations (excluding 
salaries and wages)

All other expenditure 

Total expenditure

Net surplus / deficit for the year
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Form 7—continued
Part 2: Statement of financial performance as at [day/month/year]

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 

Inventory 

All other short-term assets 

All current assets

Non-current assets
Land 

Buildings 

Computers and office equipment 

All other fixed assets 

Investments 

All non-current assets

Total assets

Liabilities
All current liabilities 

All non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities

Equity
Endowment funds 

Restricted purpose funds 

General accumulated funds 

Total equity

Total liabilities
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Form 7—continued

Privacy and information use

The information that you have provided in this form will be held and used by the
Charities Commission to determine your ongoing eligibility for registration and to carry
out its functions under the Charities Act 2005.
The Charities Act 2005 authorises the supply of information or documents held on the
register of charitable entities to the Inland Revenue Department to assist in the carrying
out of powers and functions under any of the Inland Revenue Acts.
The Statistics Act 1975 allows for the information, once collected, to be used for
statistical purposes by Statistics New Zealand. Information supplied to Statistics New
Zealand will be used for statistical purposes only and will be arranged to prevent
particulars published about any person from being identifiable (except by the person
who supplied the information), unless the person has agreed or publication identifying
the person is unavoidable.
The Privacy Act 1993 provides that you may access or correct personal information
about you held by the Charities Commission. If you wish to access or correct your
personal information, please contact the Charities Commission, PO Box 8072,
Wellington.

Request for information on register to be restricted from public access

Please note:
• The Charities Commission may, under section 25 of the Charities Act 2005,

restrict public access to information or documents if it considers it to be in the
public interest to do so. Please note that this information or these documents will
still be subject to requests under the Official Information Act 1982 that will be
considered by the Charities Commission on a case-by-case basis.

• All requests to prevent or restrict public access to information or documents will
be evaluated and you will be advised of the Charities Commission’s decision.

Certification

I certify that the information in this annual return is correct and that I am authorised to
complete this return.

Signature of person completing annual return [ ]

Full name of person completing annual return [ ]

Date (day/month/year)

Martin Bell,
for Clerk of the Executive Council.
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Explanatory note

This note is not part of the regulations, but is intended to indicate
their general effect.

These regulations, which come into force on 1 November 2006, set
out the forms to be used, and the fees to be paid, by a charitable
entity or a charitable entity that is a single entity under the Charities
Act 2005. They also set out—

• additional search criteria for searching the register of
charitable entities; and

• the administrative penalties to be paid by a charitable entity
that fails to send or deliver a notice or annual return within the
relevant time frames prescribed by the Act.

Issued under the authority of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989.
Date of notification in Gazette: 28 September 2006.
These regulations are administered by the Department of Internal Affairs.

Wellington, New Zealand: Published under the authority of the
New Zealand Government—2006
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